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N 1987 the SS Poullairge, last working steam ship in Ireland sailed out of 
Waterford harbour on her final voyage. As Sonny Condon points out in the cur- 
rent issue of Decies, the Porllnirge could have becn an ideal museum, serving 

as a fitting symbol of Waterford's proud maritime history. This did not happen, and 
the ship now lies rotting on the Wexford coast. 

Hopefully, we are learning from the mistakes of our recent past as plans are 
being drawn up to refurbish Watcrford city's historic quarter in order to create a 
world-class heritagc site. This proposcd development, part of Watcrford City 
Council's Project 2014 showcasing 1,000 years of the city's history, is a brave ini- 
tiative and deserves the support of our society. 

The ongoing success of heritagc sites in VIIjterford county such as the Copper 
Coast Geopark is testimony to the importance of preserving our past and making it 
accessible. 

Another positive development in the field of local studies is the establishment 
of the South Kilkenny Historical Society, with Eddie Synnott, committee member 
of the Waterford Archaeological and Historical Society elected as its first 
Chairman. Congratulations are due to all involved in this ncw exciting venture, 
which will do much to highlight the rich history and traditions of south Kilkenny. 

Heritage and conservation issues remain however, with concern over the grave- 
yard of the Abbey Church at Kilcullaheen in particular. 

Ba bhre6 liom mo bhuiochas a ghabhail le gach &me a chabhraigh lion1 iris na 
bliana seo a fhoilsi6 - coiste an chumainn, an coiste eagarthciireachta agus go 
hairithe ddair na n-alt. Eddie Synnott who typeset the journal and scanned the 
images once again deserves the gratitude of the society. 

I would like to point out to intending contributors that the final deadline for the 
submission of articles for Decies 64 (2008) is 1 May 2008. Articles received after 
that date will be held over for publication in the following year's journal. 
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~ i n e  Richardson and Penny Johnston, with specialist contrib~~tions by 
Anna Bvindley acid Penny Johnston. 

Introduction 
The prehistoric archaeology of County Waterford is rich and varied. From the 
times of the earliest known human settlement in Ireland (thc Early Mesolithic) 
there are traces of human occupation in the county, with lithic (flint) scatters found 
along the southern stretch of the River Barrow; Late Mesolithic and Neolithic 
lithics werc also recovered (Zvelebil et al. 1996). Moving further forward in time, 
the evidence for human occupation of the landscape becomes more tangible with 
megalithic tombs, reflecting Neolithic (and later) ceremonial and burial practices 
at Harristown (passage tomb) and at Gaulstown, Knockeen and Ballinadud (portal 
tombs) (Moore 1999). Later sites that continue the megalithic tradition include 
standing stones, an example is found at Gibbethill (RMP WA009:015), 3km north- 
west of the site at Knockhouse Lowcr. Burnt mounds (li~krclztaififi'a), the ubiquitous 
monuments of the Irish Bronze Age are found throughout the county, with one 
located just to the north of the site at Knockhouse Lower. Combined with this is 
the cvidence from settlcment sites that have been discovered in the county over 
recent years: there are Neolithic, Beaker and Bronze Age settlement sites at 
Ahanaglogh (Tierney 2005; Tierney et al. 2002), c.18kln to the southwest of 
Knockhousc Lower. Closer by, there is cvidence for more Neolithic, Beaker and 
Bronze Age settlement in the adjoining townland of Carrickpherish as well as in 
Knockhouse Lower itself (McQuade 2006). When the land in this area, owned by 
the Industrial Development Authority Ireland, was zoned for industrial develop- 
ment it provided an opportunity to excavate a site that emerged as a relatively rare 
example of an enclosed Middle Bronze Age settlement. 

The Site 
The site was low-lying and situated on undulating ground approximately 3 km 
west of Waterford City (Figure I). It was c.10.5km north of the sea and was situat- 
ed within a bend in the River Suir, located roughly 1.25km to the northwest. The 
river defined the surrounding landscape and may have formed a tessitorial bound- 
ary during the prehistoric period. The site compriscd a sub-circular enclosure (with 
an approximate diameter of 36m) which surrounded a post and stake-built round 
house (Figure 2). The radiocarbon and pottery dates from the site indicate a period 
of relatively short-lived occupation in the Middle Bronze Age (1500-1000 BC), 





with radiocarbon dates that cover the period 1400-1 133 BC. The results of excava- 
tions can be broken down into context complexes, starting at the centre of the site 
and working outwards: the house, other internal features, the enclosure and exter- 
nal features. 

The House 
Towards the centre of the enclosure there was a scries of stakeholes and postholes 
arranged around a central area of fire reddened clay (Figure 3). This structure mea- 
surcd c.9 m in length (northeast-southwest) and 811-1 in width (northwest-southeast) 
and it was roughly sub-circular, with the southeastcrn wall of the structure com- 
posed of four large stakeholes/driven posts running in a straight line. The rest of 
the house was round, and was defined by eight postholes (with postpipes) and a 
scries of pits. Thc probable entrance to the house was located in the stakcbuilt part 
of the wall, facing southeast. Radiocarbon dates from a burnt structural post 
returned a Middle Bronze Age radiocarbon date of cal BC 1450- 1303 (UB-6936). 

Many of the postholes with postpipes were well prcservcd, probably duc to par- 
tial destruction by fire, and one burnt post was preserved in situ. Oak was identi- 
fied as a building material from the charcoal taken from this post. As one of the 
hardcst and most common wood types available in prchistoric Ireland this has sev- 
eral parallels and oak was also identified as structural material from a Bronze Age 
structure (Structure 12) at Chancellorsland, Co. Tippera~y (Doody 2000). 

The outline of this structure has bccn plottcd incorporating most of thc post- 
holes and pits (Figure 3). As well as the postholes, five pits that lined the arc of the 
structure may originally have had a structural function; they were all roughly the 
samc size as the postholes that formed the house, but they were not burnt in s i t ~ l  
and it is possible that they represented earlier structural posts that were removed or 
dismantled during repair or remodelling. Several cut features do not fit into the arc 
and these may represent support features, such as piecemeal repair for walls and 
roofs or a row of external posts for roof support that was not possible to trace for 
the entire circumference of the building. 

An in situ burnt post and three postpipes from the house were rectangular in 
plan and it was evident that these structural posts had been squared-off. Thcsc 
were all situated to the south, southwest and west of the arc of posts. In contrast, 
the northwcstcrn, northern and eastern posts of the arc (represented by three post- 
pipes) were all oval or sub-circular in plan. Both the sub-circular and the squared- 
off posts were of similar dimensions, (approximately 0.3m x 0 .2~1) .  These were 
relatively substantial posts and their size, combined with the identification of oak 
as a building material, suggests a sizeable building, one with a superstructure stur- 
dy enough to support a heavy roof such as a thatch. However, there was no evi- 
dence for internal supports or for subdivision of the internal space, a relatively 
common occurrence in excavated examples (Doody 2000). 

The absence of posts at the southeastern part of the structure indicates that the 
wall was less substantial there, possibly of wattlc screcns, and thc cntrance to the 
structure may also have been placed at this part of the building. There are two 
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stakeholes on either side of the likely entrance, which was approximately 2m wide. 
This may have been covered by hide or textile, with several small stakeholes 
immediately outside the building perhaps representing temporary pegging of the 
doorway when it was kept open. 

There are several parallels for houselsettlement sites that date to the Middle 
Bronze Age; Doody (2000) lists eighteen excavated houses, of which thirteen were 
circular, and notes a large range in the structural dimensions of the excavated 
examples. Since the publication of Doody's work several more house sites with 
Middle Bronze Age dates have been excavated; e.g. Kilmurry North, Co. Wicklow 
(0 NCill 2003), Cultragh, Co. Sligo (MacDonagh 2005), Knockdomny Co. 
Westmeath (Hull, in preparation) and Mitchelstown 1 (Cotter 2006) in Co. Cork. 
The K~iockhouse Lower house site, measuring 9m by 8m, is roughly an average 
dimension for circular Middle Bronze Age houses. Houses built to approximately 
the same scale as this include Knockdomny, Co. Westmeath, which had an internal 
diameter of 8.51n (Hull 2007), Mitchelstown 1 Structure A, Co. Cork, 9.7m x 8.5m 
(Cottcr 2006) and Kiloran 8 Structure A, Co. Tipperary, which was 9m diameter 
(Cross May et al. 2005). There are much smaller examples of houses known; the 
nearest contemporary house site was located c.100m to the southeast of the 
Knockhouse Lower enclosure (McQuadc 2006) and it was classified as a hut due 
to its small size, just 3.2m in diameter, and the absence of an internal hearth. 

The Hearth 
The structure at Knockhouse Lower contained a central hearth, which consisted of 
intensely burned subsoil covering an area that measured 0.32m in diameter, sur- 
rounded by eleven small stakeholes. They were not arranged in any pattern and 
probably represent haphazard insertion of stakes, as they were required, around a 
central hearth. 

Other Activity Within the Enclosure 
Aside from the house and the features associated with it, there were other indica- 
tions of activity within the enclosurc, where pits, slot trenchcs postholes and stake- 
holes were clustercd together, but in many cases these did not form a coherent pat- 
tern. The most notable was a small group of features approximately 4 metres to the 
west of thc round house, where an 'L'-shapcd group of stake, post and an upright 
plank possibly indicated the partial remains of a rectilinear timber structure. These 
were cut into and surrounded the perimeter of a spread of light grey clay, perhaps 
represcnting an occupation surface. A post and an upright plank were burnt in sitzl. 
They were found in close proximity to a small pit, which contained a deposit of 
cereal grains, in particular naked barley and glume wheats (such as emmer). This 
may suggest that thc archaeological remains represent an ancillary structurc, 
enclosing an arca where various domesticlagricultural activities including crop 
storage were carried out. 





The Enclosure 
The house and ancillary activity was surrounded by a sub-circular enclosure with a 
diameter of approximately 36m and a total circumference of roughly 120m (Plate 
I ) .  Three sides of the enclosure were formed by two ditches (the 'east ditch' and 
the 'west ditch'). The fourth side was characterised by large pits/postholes and slot 
trenches, which probably continued the line of the cnclosure, despite the absence 
of a ditch. There were two possible entrances to the enclosure, one to the north and 
one to the south. 

The East Ditch 
The east ditch was curvilinear and extended for a total length of 40m. It was on 
average 1.4m wide, with an average depth of O.6m. It curved at the northeast and 
extended towards the west to form a small part of the northern side of the enclo- 
sure. It also curved slightly at the southeast before terminating. The fills included 
episodes of natural silting, deliberate dumping, re-deposited subsoil and collapsed 
bank material. The east ditch was partially recut at least once by a shallow ditch 
(ranging in depth from 0.39m to 0.55m) and charcoal from one of the recut ditch 
fills returned a Middle Bronze Age radiocarbon date of cal BC 1400-1 133 (UB 
6935), a date that corresponds closely to the radiocarbon date returned from the 
round house. 

The West Ditch 
The second 'west' ditch formed the majority of the northern side of the enclosure, 
and all of the western side. The fills included episodes of natural silting as well as 
slump and backfill. Like the eastern ditch, the west ditch was recut, with clear evi- 
dence for two phases of recutting which extended for nearly the entire circumfer- 
ence of the ditch. The basal fill of the first recut contained frequent large stones, 
possibly part of a stone revetment from a dismantled bank. This was apparent 
along the inside (eastern edge) of the ditch for most of its length. However, therc 
was no evidence of bank material at the northern part of the enclosure (orientated 
east-west), perhaps because it was destroyed by the later (second) recutting of the 
ditch which was in evidence for part of the west ditch. Close to the northern termi- 
nal of the ditch a hollow-based arrowhead was recovered from the fill of this late 
recut. 

Remaining enclosing elements 
Close to the southeastern terminus of the eastern ditch there were several postholes 
that continued the line of the ditch, partially filling the gap between the southern 
terminals of the east and west ditches. These probably extended the enclosure in 
the absence of a ditch and they were supplemented by a series of linear features 
and postholes that suggested a second, internal, arc of posts and stakes to reinforce 
the enclosure. 

Postholes and pits were also found close to the southern terminal of the west 
ditch and as these continued the line of the ditch it is likely that they acted as 



additional enclosing elements, although they did not extend much more than 5m 
beyond the limit of the ditch terminal. The area between these extensions to the 
east and west ditches had few additional signs of structural remains, perhaps 
because the bedrock was high at this point and prevented a more substantial struc- 
ture from being built; it may also be that this area was left open and acted as an 
entranceway into the enclosure. 

The bank 
Along the inside edges of both the east and west ditches there were substantial lay- 
ers of re-deposited subsoil that were interpreted as the remains of a low internal 
bank that collapsed into the ditch. These layers contained many large stones which 
may have been used as a revetment to help keep the bank in place. 

Possible entrances to the enclosure 
There were two possible entrances to the enclosure; one to the northeast and the 
other to the southwest. The possible entrance at the northeast was marked by an 
absence of archaeological features in the gap between the terminals of the east and 
west ditches; this gap was c.2.7m wide. There was also a gap in the enclosuse to 
the southwest; it was considerably larger than the northeastern entrance, being 
7.lm wide. The bedrock was very high at the southern part of the site and this may 
partially explain why no archaeological features were found in the area. That there 
was an entranceway at this point, as well as at the north, is also a possibility. The 
collection of features around the southern part of the enclosure, both internal and 
external, indicates general activity in the area, perhaps the kind to be expected in 
the area of an entrance. By contrast there is no suggestion of this type of activity 
near the northeastern entrance. 

Two entrances at Bronze Age enclosure sites is an ~lnusual occurrence, but it is 
a known feature at some sites: a recently excavated example occurred at Enclosure 
1, Ballybrowney 1, Co. Cork, where there was an entrance at the northeast and 
another at the southeast, both were c.  1 m wide (Cotter 2005). 

External features 
The area outside the enclosure was also characterised by intermittent traces of 
archaeological activity. The most intensive traces were excavated at the southern 
end of the enclosure and they included pits and stakeholes that did not conform to 
any coherent structural pattern. Their existence nonetheless indicates that the area 
outside the enclosure was occupied on an ad hoc basis. 

Artefacts and Ecofacts 
Artefacts from the site were only retrieved Cram the fills within the ditch, both 
from the primary and the recut ditches. A small hollow-based arrowhead (Plate 3) 
was recovered from a deposit within the recut ditch, near its northern terminal. 
This find-spot is in a typical location for 'odd' deposits (often interpreted as ritual) 
from Middle Bronze Age settlement, at the entranceway through a boundary (see 
Briick 1999). 

8 



A large assemblage of pottery was retrieved from the fills of the ditch, hundreds 
of sherds that could be reassembled to produce eighteen vessels, some of which 
were almost complete (Brindley 2005). All of the pottery was identified as 
Domestic Cordoned Urn. Cordoned Urns are usually found in burial contexts and 
are rare from domestic contexts: most noted examples are from the north of the 
country, with records from sandhi11 sites in counties Antrim, Derry and Down, and 
at Ballyrenan, Downpatrick, and Sheepland, all in Co. Down and at Moynagh 
Lough in Co. Meath (Waddell 1998). There are more recently excavated examples 
from secondary contexts at settlement sites in Rathmullan Site 10, Co. Meath 
(Bolger 2003) and Kilbride, Co. Wicklow (Breen 1998). The closet parallel to 
Knockhouse Lower is perhaps at Colp West, Co. Meath, a D-shaped enclosure 
where cordoned urn fragments were found; although there was no structure within 
the enclosure, there was a Middle Bronze Age structure located outside it (Clarke 
& Murphy 2003). Despite the northerly distribution pattern for this pottery type 
there are scattered clusters identified in Counties Galway, Limerick and Waterford 
(Waddell 1998) and the Knockhouse Lower examples fall into the Waterford clus- 
ter. 

The pottery assemblage represented a range of vessel-shapes: open straight- 
sided pots, barrel-shaped vessels, a tall waisted vessel, bowls, scoops and drinking 
vessels or beakers (Brindley 2005). Several of these were vessels for cooking and 
storage. Analysis of charred plant material from deposits associated with thc house 
suggest that some of the food that was being stored in these vessels were perhaps 
grains of naked barley and glume wheats (emmer). The vessels may also have been 
used to cook porridges or gruels made from these grains. No animal bone was 
recovered during the excavation as preservation conditions were unsuitable, and 
there is therefore no other evidence of the diet at the site. Some pottery sherds had 
charred deposits which occussed on either the inner or the outer surface and very 
occasionally on the broken edges, indicating that the pottery had been in contact 
with fire after breakage, while still retaining traces of the original contents. 
Brindlcy (2005) suggests that this indicates a calamitous event such as the burning 
down of a house. This interpretation agrees wit11 the evidence of bumt postholes 
found during excavation of the house. 

The sherds from most of the vessels were found within discrete spatial areas. 
Although now broken into many sherds the fact that they have a limited distribu- 
tion suggests that the pots may have originally been complete, or almost complete, 
when originally deposited. In many cases the ceramic sherds from individual ves- 
sels were found within both the original ditch fills and within the recut fills. This 
suggests that they were originally deposited in the early ditch and were disturbed 
by recutting, perhaps cast up against the bank, and gradually re-deposited within 
the fills of the recut ditch, slumping into the ditch again with bank material. 
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Discussion 
The condition of the pottery and the archaeology of the house indicate a calami- 
tous event, such as the structure burning down. The retrieval of pottery from some 
original ditch fills suggests that the ceramics were initially deposited in the early 
ditch and were disturbed by later recutting of the ditch. The fact that both ditches 
were recut, perhaps several times, indicates maintenance of the enclosure during 
occupation of the site. 

It is possible that the enclosure of the settlement at Knockhouse Lower set its 
occupants apart and may, in part, have reflected social status. The rich assemblage 
of pottery from this site (c.1000 ceramic sherds) also suggests a certain amount of 
surplus wealth (see Cleary 2000). In addition, the widespread retrieval of naked 
barley from Knockhouse Lower is somewhat unusual; barley is often the most 
common cereal type from Bronze Age settlement sites, but it is frequently hulled 
varieties rather than naked grains that are retrieved. Therefore these results may 
again suggcst a 'special' aspect to the diet or the economy at the site. 

However, several archaeological features were also excavated outside the 
enclosure, indicating that occupation went beyond the enclosure and included the 
area immediately outsidc the ditches. Combined with the evidence for Middle 
Bronze Age settlement at other sites nearby (McQuade 2006), this suggests that 
the settlement site was not necessarily socially isolated, even though it was set 
slightly apart. Similarly, at Ballybrowney Co. Cork the enclosures were associated 
with four unenclosed houses that were near contemporary (Cotter 2005), indicating 
that enclosed settlements did not merely operate as isolated units. 

Summary 
The site at Knockhousc Lower, Co. Waterford comprised a sub-circular enclosure 
with a diameter of approximately 36m; three sides of the cnclosurc were formed 
by two ditches (the 'east ditch' and the 'west ditch'). There was no evidence for a 
ditch at the south of the site, but there were indications that an enclosing structure 
continued beyond the line of the ditch; slot trenches, postholes and stakeholes were 
excavated. Within the enclosure a Middle Bronze Age structure was excavated; it 
was stake and post- built and these were arranged in a subcircular pattern around a 
central hearth. Other features excavated within the enclosure included pits, stalte- 
holes and slot trenches, but these did not follow any discernible pattern and were 
therefore interpreted as being related to the gencral occupation of the site rather 
than being strirctural in nature. 

The enclosure of the settlement site, the rich artefact assemblage and the unusu- 
al nature of the plant remains assemblage combine to suggest a site where the 
occupants were set apart, perhaps due to social status. However, there is also evi- 
dence for roughly contemporary settlement in the immediate area of the site, indi- 
cating that the settlement was not necessarily isolated. 
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Prehistoric pottery from Knockhouse Lower, Co. Waterford (0331033) 

A .L. Brindley, M.A. 

The pottery from Knockhouse Lower belonged to the Cordoned Urn Tradition, 
identified on the basis of the presence of cordons, large bucket- and barrel- shaped 
vessels, and the general characteristics of manufacture and fabric. It was discov- 
ered in the fills of a Middle Bronze Age enclosure ditch which had evidence for at 
least two phases of use in the ditch, an original cut and a recut. Pottery was 
retrieved from the fills of both ditches. Eighteen vessels were identified on the 
basis of multiple rim sherds or large portions of the rims and many of the sherds of 
individual vessels were isolated within the ditch fills and were not mixed with 
other vessels. Although the individual pots were not necessarily complete at the 
time of being discarded many of the vessels were almost complete and the pottery 
has good potential for reconstruction. In this sense, the assemblage was unusually 
well-preserved and has few parallels: it was difficult to point to a comparable 
domestic assemblage from an Irish prehistoric site, and the better preserved funeral 
pottery of the period generally consists of individual vessels made for a single, 
limited function (burial) rather than suites of vessels that were used together. 

The vessels were coil-built with simple, un-enlarged and un-augmented rims. 
Some of the pots had cordons, which consisted of a fillet of clay applied to the sur- 
face of the pot and pressed against it, then pinchcd into shape: in several instances, 
fingernail impressions were visible on the lower side of the cordon. The pastes 
were ternpcred with frequent deliberately crushed pieces of stone, some of which 
occurred as very large pieces. The original surface is missing from both inside and 
outside faces of many sherds and because of this the temper is exposed and the 
pottery has a very coarse appearance. This is a condition of preservatioli and is not 
an original characteristic. In fact. traces of a thin layer of fine clay are preserved 011 

a small number of sherds from this assemblage and indicate that the surface of the 
pottery would originally have had a slip-like finish: there was evidence of wet fin- 
ishing (wiping the vessel with a wet hand, wet rag or with water and a piece or soft 
leather) which resulted in a thin, fragile layer of fine clay, often not thicker than a 
layer of paint, being deposited on the surface of the pottery. It was also clear that 
several of the vessel walls were carefully smoothed, probably by scraping, result- 
ing in smooth walls of regular width. 

The salient characteristics of the assemblage were straight-sided bucket and 
slightly curved barrel shapes, simple flat and rounded rim tops which are not 
expanded in any way, applied cordons, incipient shoulder features, flat bases and 
an absence of decoration. Several of these features, notably the large size and pro- 
portions of some of the vessels and the presence of cordons, indicate a connection 
with the Cordoned Urn Tradition. The complete absence of decoration and the 
occurrence of the incipient shoulders are features which do not occur on the classi- 
cal cordoned urns series as represented by the fi~nerary pottery of the period, which 
probably dated to shortly before 1700 BC to around 1500 BC (Brindley 2007) and 



the domestic settlements as represented by the pottery from Downpatrick, Co. 
Down (Pollock & Waterman 1964) and Lough Gur, Co. Limerick, Site C (0 
Riordiiin 1954). This is therefore probably a late variant of the Cordoned Urn 
Tradition. The shapes of vessels represented were open straight-sided pots, barrel- 
shaped vessels, a tall waisted vessel, bowls, scoops and drinking vessels or 
beakers. These pottery vessels, used in domestic contexts, would have becn 
required to fulfil functions such as storage, cooking and food preparation and serv- 
ing food. 

Almost all, if not all, the pottery had been in contact with fire: some sherds 
included a charred deposit, which occurred on either the inner or the outer surface 
and very occasionally on the broken edges, indicating that the pottery had been in 
contact with fire alter breakage and while still retaining traces of the original con- 
tents. This suggests that a calamitous event had occurred, such as the burning 
down of a house with its contents. Later the debris from this event was pushed into 
the ditch. 

Summary and Conclusions 
Eighteen pots, of various types, can be identified and largely reconstructed. These 
vessels represent the domestic assemblage of a Middle Bronze Age domestic site, 
and can be identified as storage, cooking and serving vessels. The vessels were 
hand-made and coil-built, with a wet finish. Several vessels were scraped to give 
them smooth and regular surface before wet finishing. The rims of all the pots are 
simple and unaccentuated in any way. Incipient shoulders and small applied cor- 
dons occur on several vessels. The profiles and sizes of the vessels can also be 
reconstructed; the main forms are tall barrel shapes with slightly closed mouth, 
straight-sided open mouthed bowls and shorter bowls. The pottery is probably a 
very late variant of the cordoned urn and can probably be placed at the end of the 
Cordoned Urn Tradition, which coincides with the Middle Bronze Age radiocar- 
bon dates that were obtained from the site. This pottery can be considcred as an 
assemblage of single date and cultural identity on the basis of the context (the fills 
of the ditch of an enclosure) in which it was found, and the range of pastes, meth- 
ods of construction and finishing of the pots and the shapes of the pots themselves. 



Charred seeds from Knockhouse Lower, Co. Waterford (0331033) 

Penny Juhnstun 

Charred seeds were recovered from twelve of the nineteen samples examined from 
the enclosure site at Knockhouse Lower. Cereals (including barley and primitive 
glume wheats) were abundant in three of the deposits, and this material was inter- 
preted as cache deposits of grain that were burnt in storage. The three rich samples 
were taken from a posthole and a stakehole of the round house and from a pit asso- 
ciated with the ancillary structure. In all the samples the predominant cereal type 
was identified as naked barley. The plant assemblage was richer than many 
obtained from other Bronze Age settlement sites because the buildings at the site 
probably burnt down. While fire may have destroyed the settlement, it preserved 
many plant remains, converting them from organic material to inert carbon. 

The richest sample was taken from a posthole of the round house found near 
the centre of the enclosure, with a burnt in sitzl post still in place (Middle Bronze 
Age radiocarbon date of cal BC 1450-1303). The deposit was rich in charred plant 
remains, in particular grains of naked barley, more than one thousand seven hun- 
dred were found. There were comparatively few weed seeds; this part of the 
assemblage consisted mainly of members of the Knotgrass (Dock) and Grass fami- 
lies, common plants found growing amongst grain crops. 

Another feature from thc house that contained large quantities of charred seeds 
was taken from the main fill of a stakehole that lined the entrance to the house. 
Once again, charred grains were predominantly from barley and where identifiable 
these were naked barley. There were also a few grains of wheat in this deposit, in 
particular emmer wheat, and these were very few weed seeds present. 

The final rich sample was taken from the fill of a pit associated with the ancil- 
lary building and located approximately 6m to the east of the round house. The 
plant remains assemblage consisted primarily of grains of naked barley, but there 
were also several wheat grains in this samplc (where identifiable most of these 
were classified as emmer wheat). 

Wheat was present in the Knockhouse Lower plant remains assemblage in 
small quantities. This repeats a trend noted in many Bronze Age plant remains 
assemblages where barley is often the most common cereal type found, but where 
wheat is present in much smaller amounts, for example at Curaghatoor (Monk 
1987), Lough Gus (Tierney and Hannon 2003) and Charlesland (Johnston 2004). 
The fact that barley is often numerically predominant mcans that it is often einpha- 
sised over consideration of the wheat crop, but as both crop types are found consis- 
tently, both evidently played a role in crop husbandry practices in the Irish Bronze 
Age. At Knockhouse Lower the cereal grains were in good condition and it was 
frequently possible to identify the wheat type as emmcr, a primitive glume wheat. 
Middle Bronze Age sites where emmer wheat grains have been identified in signif- 
icant quantitics inclr~dc an occupation site at Ballycullcn, Co. Limerick (Johnston 
2007) and a round house at Killydonoghoe, Co. Cork (Johnston 2003). 



Barley was the main crop type recovered in all of the samples at Knockhouse 
Lower. This is a common feature of many Irish Bronze Age sites, e.g. at Lough 
Gur, Co. Limerick (Tierney & Hannon 2003) and at Charlesland, Co. Wicklow 
(Johnston 2004). The evidence from Knockhouse Lower is unusual because, in 
general, hulled barley rather than naked barley tends to be the norm. The remains 
from Ihockhouse Lower bear closer parallels to the evidence from pottery imprint 
studies, where, of thirty-four grain imprints ii-om twenty sherds of Bronze Age 
pottery, all but three of the imprints as naked barley (Jessen & Helbaek 1944). The 
association of naked barley with pottery artefacts that were primarily recovered 
from funerary contexts may indicate that it had 'special' connotations, particularly 
as it is quite rare in Bronze Age deposits. Therefore, the evidence from plant 
remains studies combines with other aspects of the archaeological record (the 
enclosure of the settlement, the recovery of especially large quantities of pottery 
astefzicts) to suggest that Knockhouse Lower was an unusual settlement site. 

Summary 
The samplcs from Knockhouse Lower contained both barley and wheat grains, 
with naked barley thc most common crop type. In this respect, the plant assem- 
blage from Knockhouse Lower is very unusual in terms of Iris1 Middle and Late 
Bronze Age settlement sites. However, the results correlate well to the evidence 
that we have from pottery imprint studies dating to the this period. 
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which has slightly changed the sun's position at the solstices but left the equinoxes 
unaltered. It is unlikely that the HI-HI 1 -Carrigaruppera alignments are coinciden- 
tal, as they indicate the most important points of the year. The sequence of erection 
would appear to be H I  predating H I  I ,  with H l  first put up to align with 
Carrigaruppera, then H l l  erected to align with H1. These findings, along with the 
adjacent drainage diversion, (Chapman et crl. 2005) suggest a settlement of far 
greater importance in Coumaraglin than previously thought. 

Iron 
The geology of Coumaraglin is dominated by the presence of sandstones and con- 
glomerates in roughly equal measure. As a result of natural erosion and glacial 
activity, these rocks can be found scattered randomly across the valley, although 
both outcrop in different locations. There is little or no mineralisation within the 
sandstone, although the conglomerates have both quartz and iron concentrations. 
Some of the quartz clasts within the conglomerates have diameters in excess of 
15cm, and consist of river washed cobbles of rose quartz, (these distinctive pink or 
red cobbles occur frequently throughout the Comeraghs, and are referred to later.) 

Other conglomerates have high concentrations of iron, which has in some 
cases caused the rocks to rust a distinctive orange colour. Such rocks are easily 
identifiable, and contain unusually high levels of iron. 

In autumn 2001, heavy rains washed debris off ancient trackways in the area, 
revealing in one location small lumps of iron. Following analysis in Trinity 
College, Dublin, this was found to be the product of a smelting process. The lumps 
had been washed downhill by the heavy rain, with the source being found some 
30m away. Here raw pig iron, slag, and semi molten material were found on the 
surface, the semi molten material being the high iron content conglomerate found 
locally. As no written or oral records exist of iron smelting in the area, it would 
suggest that the site is of considerable antiquity. 

If the smelting site is of Iron Age origin, then it would extend the known occu- 
pation span of Coumaraglin considerably. The site was previously thought to have 
been deserted in the Late Bronze Age, although this no longer seems likely. 

Clay 
In the Upper Araglin Valley there are several areas where the soil is now gone. All 
are next to watercourses, and on close inspection, this does not appear to be the 
result of natural erosion. In some cases there is evidence for the diversion of exist- 
ing watercourses to assist in the erosion of these areas. 

During spring of 2003, flash flooding revealed a I m thick band of red marl in 
the Upper Araglin Valley, which extended into one of the unnaturally eroded areas. 
A sample of this clay was refined, and then fired at Youghal Pottery, where it was 
described as good pottery clay with a high iron content. 

The amount of material missing from the areas adjacent to these marl deposits 
is considerable, and represents the removal of many tons of clay. As this distinc- 
tive red clay can be found embedded within samples of iron from the smelting site 
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2km away, it is possible that it was used to make moulds into which the molten 
iron was poured. 

Chemical analysis of both the iron and clay from Coumaraglin could prove 
revealing. If they were to match hoards and artefacts discovered elsewhere in 
Ireland, then a source for these will have been identified. 

Stone Formations 
On the mountain slopes surrounding Coumaraglin, patches of stones are exposed. 
Some of these cover large areas, although most are smaller than a few squarc 
metres. Detailed examination over the last five years has revealed the deliberate 
alteration and structuring of the stones in many of the patches. Small bowl-shaped 
depressions have been created in which stones are stood on end, or where quartz 
has been placed. 

Sometimes featured within these bowls are pink or mauve cobbles of rose 
quartz. These distinctive stones werc first formed as rough lumps of quartz, which 
were then washed along an ancient riverbed. Smoothed by the process, they were 
then fused into the conglomerate that exists today, which in turn is now breaking 
down, releasing the pebbles once more. They range in colour from light pink to 
dark mauve, and are found in small formations throughout the Comeraghs, 
although they can be difficult to recognise. Time has coated many of them with 
grey lichen, which makes them indistinguishable from the more common Old Red 
Sandstone. There are several examples of these quartz cobbles having been placed 
in natural crevices, whilst others have been deliberately encased within larger 
stones, being visible but irretrievable. 

The use of quartz was common in many ancient monuments, most notably in 
the abutment wall of Newgrange. This quartz was often transported long distances, 
so it would be interesting to see if Comeragh quartz occurs elsewhere in Ireland. 

The stone formations described here, whatever their function, have also been 
found recently in the Knockmealdown, Galty, and to a lesser extent, Slieve Felim 
Mountains. The highest concentration however, appears to be in the Comeraghs. 

Much now rests on other researchers to determine if this enigmatic practice was 
confined to the South East of the country, or can be found elsewhere. 
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'% A sequel to 'Eugenius, Bishop of Ardmore and Suffragan at Lichfield (1 184-5)', 
in Decies 60 (2O04), pp. 7 1 -90. 

1. Ardmore's Brief Splendour 1153-1210 
Ardmore's brief pcriod of splendour came in the second half of thc twelfth century, 
in which its magnificent round tower was built, and also its cathedral, which was 
completed by the year 1203 according to Arznals c?('Iizi.Cfidlen, which records the 
death of Mae1 Etiiin Ua Duib-Ratha in 1203 after he had completed thc building of 
the church of Ardmore. 

The cathedral was constructed in three phases: the earliest phase in the 
ninthltenth century (Phase I) was a small single-cell church. In the second half of 
the twelfth century a nave was added to the Phase I church extending it westwards. 
The second church (Phase TI) was a building of considerable distinction, in which 
the Romanesque door, now in the north wall, was in the west wall. Another notable 
feature was the elegant pointed bowtell moulding still surviving on the windows. 

A further extension of the nave westwards by 7 metres, but of inferior work- 
manship, was later added (Phase III), thus resulting in the church whose ruins still 
stand today. Some scholars have identified this Phase 111 church with that recorded 
in the Annals in 1203.' 

S.L. McNab, however, regards the 1203 date as referring to the Phasc I1 church, 
which has the pointed bowtell mouldings mentioned above, a feature which is not 
found in Ireland before the 1 186- 1200 period: 

The pointed bowtell reached Ireland in the choir and transepts of 
Christ Church Cathedral, Dublin, circa 1186-1200. It cannot be far 
therefore before 1203 that the Phase I1 nave of Ardmore was 
completed,2 

Therefore, the entry in the Anlzals of Irzisfullen for 1203 may refer not to the 
Phase 111 church whose ruins still survive, but to the Phase I1 church whosc nave 
was just short of the present north door. 

If McNab is correct the Phase I1 church is that whose construction Bishop 
Eugene of Ardmore oversaw in thc 11 80s, a period in which he enjoyed thc favour 

1 J.T. Smith, 'Ardmorc Cathedral', in Jo~wizal of the Royd Society qf Alztiqwries in 
Irelntzd 102 (1972), pp. 1-13, at p. 12, (henceforth abbreviated as JRSAI); P.  
Harbison, 'Architectural Scu lp t~~re  from Twelfth-Century Ardmore', in Irish Arts 
Review I 1  (1995),pp. 96-102, at p. 100-1. 

2 S.L. McNab, 'The Rornanesque Sculpture of Ardmore Cathedral, Co. Waterford', in 
JRSAI 117 (1987),pp.50-68,atp.SS. 



of the Norman administration at the highest level during his official visit to 
England in 11 84/85 (see below). 

Apart altogether from MacNab's thesis, and purely on aesthetic grounds, it is 
almost unthinkable that a man of Bishop Eugene's distinction and his community, 
whose high standards are reflected in the splendid round tower, would contemplate 
the destruction of the west wall of the recently constructed Phase I1 church,? and 
the rcmoval of its central Romanesque doorway;' in order to add an extension of 
comparatively inferior workmanship. 

The Phase 111 addition most likely belongs to the period after 1203, which saw 
the decline of the O'Faolain leadership in the DCise, and the loss of diocesan status 
for Ardmore. The O'Faolain had ruled the Dkise for half a century, beginning in 
1153 after the execution of Gerr na gCuinne6g O'Bric - king of the Dkise - by 
Diarmait McCarthy in 1153. The O'Faolain enjoyed a better relationship with 
Diarmait McCarthy, King of Desmod (1151-87) than the O'Bric, who had been 
rulers of the DCise when Ardmore's request for diocesan status was not accepted at 
the Synod of Kells in 1152. The hostility of King Diarmait towards Gerr, whom he 
was then holding in prison prior to execution, would have been sufficient to block 
Ardmore's request. Finally, this period also saw Ardmore achieve diocesan status 
as first evident in the mention of an unnamed Bishop of Ardmorc in the list of 
Gaelic dignitaries who pledged fealty to Henry I1 in 1172. 

The O'Faolain kingship of the Dkise in the second half of the twelfth century 
had two very differcnt phases. The first bcgan in 1153 after the death of the last 
O'Bric royals - the great rivals of the O'Faolain. This lasted almost twenty years 
and saw Ardmore achieve the high point of its splendour with its gaining diocesan 
status and getting its bishop. 

But from 1172 until the death of Dona1 O'Faolain in 1206, the decline of the 
DCise kings was swift and terminal, as the Normans extended their control of the 
DCise. After Donal's death his heirs inhcrited only one of the three cantreds that 
formerly were his. And after 1210 we hear no more of a diocese or bishop of 
Ardmore. It seems reasonable to assume that the O'Faolain as kings of the DCise, 
gave their patronage to the church of St. Declan, patron of the DCise, whose shrine 
was venerated at Ardmore. Ardmore, rather than Lismore, was the spiritual centre 
of the DCise, and the people of the DCise saw Lismore as the preserve of the 
Munster royals, the McCarthys and their rivals, the O'Briens, with many of its 
abbots coming from west Kerry.' 

3 P. Harbison, 'Architectural Sculpture from Twelfth-Century Ardmore', in Irish Arts 
Review 1 1 ( 1  995), p. 10 I ,  considers 1 17 1/79 as the likely date for the construction of 
the Phase I1 church. 

4 C. Manning, 'A Note on the Building History of Ardmore Cathedral', in Helen Roche 
(ed.), Fronz Megalitlzs to Metal: Essays in Ho~zozir ofGeoi,ge Eogan, (Oxford, 2004), 
p. 32, 'the one thing we can be certain about is that the original west fa~ade of the 
present nave stood immediately east of the north and south doorways and had a cen- 
tral doorway'. 

5 F.J. Byrne, 'The Trembling Sod: Ireland in 1169', in Art Cosgrave (ed.), A New 
Histovy of Irekz~zcl, Vol. 2 ,  (Oxford, 1987), p. 32. 



Another likely example of O'Faolain patronage was the Cistercian monastery of 
Inis Lounacht on the north bank of the river Suir a mile west of Clonmel, which 
was part of the Dkise and was close to the ancient fortress of the O'Faolain (Dun 
U i  Fhaoliiin) according to Geoffrey Keating! The monastery, founded in 1148 
from Mellifont, received an endowment from the O'Faolain around 11 59 according 
to Father Colmcille 0 Conbh~~idhe.~ Fortunately, there is preserved inside Marfield 
Church one surviving doorway from Inis Lo~~nacht  abbey, which according to 
Tadhg OtKeeffe,8 is of the same basic tradition as the Ardmore doorway mentioned 
above. Inis Lounacht was fortunate in receiving a large endowment in 1187 from 
Ddnal M6r 0 Brian, King of Thomond, who was generous to several Cistercian 
foundations. But Ardmore did not benefit from his kindness, and the fortunes of 
the 0 Faolain were in decline since Henry I1 granted the whole of the present 
County Waterford, as far as Lismore, to Robert le Poer. And so also the fragile dio- 
cese of Ardmore, now without political patronage, soon faded out of existence 
shortly after 12 10. 

2. Eugene of Ardmore in the McCarthy Charter 
Apart from the unnamed bishop of Ardmore (I 172) already mentioned, we have 
notice of a Eugenc of Ardmore in a charter of Diarmait McCarthy, King of 
Desmond, issued between 1172 and 1179. This is the only document of Irish 
provenance which mentions Eugene of Ardmore. Diarmait McCarthy decided 'for 
the health of our soul, and the souls of our parents' to re-edify and enlarge the 
church of St. John the Apostle and Evangelist in Cork which his father King 
Cormac had built. The witnesses to the charter were Christian, bishop of Lismore 
and legate of the Apostolic See, followed by Donat archbishop of Cashel, thc bish- 
ops of Cork, Limerick, Ross, Cloyne, the abbots of Maig and Cong, and finally 
'Eugenius Ardmorensis episcopus'. The abbots were Donat of Maig and Gregory of 
Cong, neither of whom was a bishop. 

Diarmait's father, Cormac McCarthy, after whom Cormac's Chapel in Cashel is 
named, had built the Cork church for the use of Archbishop Maurice O'Duffy of 
Tuam - and for the pilgrims out of Connaught for whom the tomb of St. Finbarr in 
Cork was a place of pilgrimage because that saint had been born near Galway. 

Two transcripts of the charter survive: one in the hand of Sir James Ware 
(1594-1 666) now in the British Library,' the other from Archbishop William King's 
(1 650- 1729) Collectanen de Rebus Hibemicis,  transcribed by Walter Harris (1686- 
1761).1° The list of witnesses given by Wase is as follows: 

6 Geoffrey Keating, Foras Feusa nr k i r im ,  P.  Dineen (ed.), (London. 1914), p. 3 16. 
Archaeologists have so far failed Lo locate the fortress. 

7 C. 0 Conbhuidhc, The Cistercian Abbeys qf'Tipperary, (Dublin, 1999), p. 106. 
8 T. O'Keeffe, Ro~~zaizesqcre Irelaizd, (Dublin, 2003), p. 219. 
9 British Library, Add. MS 4793, Folio 70. 
10 National Library of Ircland, MS 13,337, (hcnccforth abbrcviatcd as NLI); Bolton 

Library, Cashel Co. Tipperary, MSS 25 & 26,1030. 
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Christianus, Lismorensis Episcopus et Apostolicae Sedis legatus; 
Donatus, Archiepiscopus Casselensis; 
Gregorius, Episcopus Corkensis; 
Bricius, Episcopus Limericensis; 
Benedictus, Episcopus Rossensis; 
Matheus, Episcopus Cluonensis; 
Donatus, Abbas de Magio; 
Gregorius, Abbas de Conga; 
Eugenius Ardmorensis Episcopus. 

Christian, Bishop of Lismore and legate of the Apostolic See; 
Donat, Archbishop of Cashel; 
Gregory, Bishop of Cork; 
Bricius, Bishop of Limerick; 
Benedict, Bishop of Ross; 
Matthew, Bishop of Cloyne; 
Donat, Abbot of Maig; 
Gregory, Abbot of Cong; 
Eugene, Bishop of Ardmore. 

There is something unusual about Eugene's signatme. Bishop Eugene is listed 
not with the other bishops but after the two abbots. 1 am presuming, of course, that 
Ware's order of signatories corresponds to the original charter. 

This abnormality was not to be expected in a document so solemnly drafted so 
as to include some of the most prominent royal families of twelfth-century Ireland: 
the O'Connors of Connaught and the McCarthys of Desmond, as well as the papal 
legate, the archbishop of Cashel and the O'Duffys, hereditary ecclesiastical prelates 
in Tuam. The cultural sophistication of these families still survivcs in two of the 
most outstanding achievements of twelfth-century Ireland: Cormac's Chapel in 
Cashel and the Cross of Cong. 

There is one peculiar feature of Eugene's signature: apart from the legate's 
lengthy signature which reflected his double dignity, all the other bishops wrote 
the word epts for episcopus (bishop), immediately after their names, this being 
followed by the name of the diocese. But in Eugene's case we find the reverse of 
this: his diocese comes before epus, 'Eugenius Ardmorensis epus'. 

In a charter of such exalted pretensions as McCarthy's the likelihood is that if 
Eugene were a bishop at the time of the charter, his signature would probably have 
observed the same word-order as the other episcopal dignitaries, viz. 'Eugenius 
epus Ardmorensis' and would have been entered with those of the other bishops 
prior to the signatures of the two abbots. 

There is another entry, however, concerning the McCarthy Charter: Archdall's 
Monaslicon Hibemicum which differs from Ware's transcript. Archdall's list of 
witnesses omits the legate, the archbishop, and the bishops of Cork, Limerick, 
Ross and Cloyne. It gives only the abbots of Maig and of Cong, and finally Eugene 
of Ardmore: 
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This document entitled 'Libellus de Ortu Sti Cuthberti' (A Little Book on the 
Birth of St. Cuthbert), written by a Northumbrim hagiographer, claimed that St. 
Cuthbert, famous bishop of Lindisfarne (died 687), was born in Ireland, and that 
Bishop Eugene of Ardmore, whom the author had met, agreed with this. A fine 
compliment is paid to Eugene as 'a man of sanctity in thought and conduct', and 
well informed on ccclesiastical history." 

The occasion for Eugene's visit to England was the death of Gerard Pucelle, 
bishop of Coventry, in January 1184. He had been consecrated bishop only four 
months previously, in succession to Richard Peche who occupied the sce from 
1160 to 1 182. Both Peche and Pucelle style themselves bishops of Coventry, but 
the links with Chester and with Lichfield in Staffordshire were maintained. The 
diocese was tri-cephalous. 

This is the first example of a bishop of an Irish diocese serving as a caretaker 
(or suffragan) bishop in an English diocese in the Norman period. In all, seventy- 
seven Irish bishops served as suffragans in England and Wales from the beginning 
of the Norman period until the Ref0rmatiol-1,~~ b~l t  Eugene is the first and only one 
in the twelfth century, thus opening a new phase in the history of the Irish Church. 

4. Giraldus Carnbrensis in Waterford 1183-4 
How Eugene came to be appointed in Lichfield is not known. But one person who 
was uniquely placed to know was Giraldus Cambrensis (Gerald of Wales), and it is 
even possible that he played a part in the appointment. His first visit to Ireland 
took place in 1183 and lasted almost a year in which he got to know 'only the 
neighbourhood of Cork and Wjterf~rd' .~ '  As a shrewd observer of church affairs - 
he was an archdeacon himself- he wo~dd have had occasion to make contact with 
the clergy of Lismore and Ardmore, where he could have met E~igene, and of 
course Waterford where hc was based for the duration of his stay, and where he 
had a great host of kinsmen, sprung from the first conquerors of that na t i~n ,~Trom 
whom he gathered much information on the Dkise. For example, after writing 
about the defeat of thc Irish by the Normans in his famous Exp~tgnatio he remarks 
on the leader of the O'Faolain, Maelsechlain O'Faolain who had submitted to King 
Henry 11 in 1172, and on Domhnall of Osraige who, 

York Minster Library, MS XVI 1 12, 'Libellus de Ortu Sancti Cuthberti', in James 
Rainc (cd.), Libellus de nativatae Sti C~~tliberti de Historiis Hyber~wmiu~i  exceptus 
et translatus, in Surtees Society, 8 (1838), pp. 63-87. This MS, dated by J.F. Kenny to 
the twelfth or thirteenth centuries, consists of fourteen folios written in Latin on both 
sidcs. All quotations from thc Likellus arc takcn from Rainc's cdition. Scc, my articlc, 
'Eugenius, Bishop of Ardmore and Suffragan at Lichfield ( 1  184-5)', in Decies 60 
(2004), pp. 7 1-90, at 79-8 1 . 
Powicke and Fryde (eds.), IlnrdDooIi o/'Brifislz Chro~iology, 2nd edition, (London), 
pp. 269-7 1 . 
John O'Meara, Gerard of Wales: Tlie History urzd Topography of Ireland, (London, 
1982), p. 14. 
H.E. Butler (ed. and trans.), Tlze A~~tobiograpl~y of Gira1du.s Ca17z17ren.si.s (De Rebus n 
se Gesris), (London, 1937), p. 86. 



though not of such great importance as Diarmaid McCarthy, King of 
Desmond, and Domhnall O'Brien, King of Thomond. were however 
great men with authority among their own people (magnis et autenti- 
cis tamen in gente suo), and each of them returned with honour to his 
own territory, taking with them the presents given to them by the 
king.'j 

But in spite of this seemingly happy conclusion to hostilities, Giraldus has to 
report that after only one year, Raymond Le Gros plundered the territory of 
O'Faolain (Oplzelanos), and also took huge booty from Li~more.~" 

When Giraldus' friend, Gerard Pucelle of Coventry died in January 1184, the 
see of Coventry (with which Lichfield and Chester were joined) was not filled 
until mid-1 185, when the king's friend, Hugh de Nonant, was nominated bishop- 
elect. It was during this interval of eighteen months that Bishop Eugene of 
Ardmore was invited to serve as caretaker bishop in Lichfield, his period of service 
being from September 1 184 to March 11 85. Eugene's appointment was by royal 
approval, as were his terms of remuneration. 

Giraldus Cambrensis, in 1184, just back in England from his year in Ireland, 
was highly regarded by the king, and his expertise on Irish affairs was so appreci- 
ated by Henry that the king entrusted him to accompany his young son, Prince 
John, on the latter's visit to Ireland. Giraldus, never shy about his own importance, 
tells the story: 'the King dispatched John with a great array into Ireland, sending 
with him Master Giraldus because he has a great host of kinsmen there and 
because he has shown himself an honest and prudent man'.'" 

Thus Giraldus Cambrensis during his first visit to Ireland became familiar with 
the religious and political condition of the DCise. And he also was familiar with the 
British scene. Hc had a great ambition to be appointed to the sce of St. David in 
Wales and in this context he was helped by Gerard Pucelle, who was a distin- 
guished canonist, and had been present at the Lateran Council (1 179). As Giraldus 
Cambrensis tells it: 'when Master Gerard, surnamed la Pucelle returned to Paris 
from the council, to which he had been sent by Richard, Archbishop of Canterbury, 
he reported to Master Giraldus how Bishop Peter of Mynyw, who was present, 
failed to press for the metropolitan rights of that church'. This was information 
which strengthened Cambreessis' hostility towards that bishop who had been pre- 
ferred before him for that bishopric in 1 176.'" 

25 A.B. Scott and F.X. Martin (eds.), Exp~rgrzutio Hiberniccr: The Coriq~rest o f l t~elar~l  I,): 
Gil-czlclus Camlmn,sis, (Dublin, 1978), pp. 94, 95. 

26 F.X. Martin, 'Overlord Bccomcs Fcudal Lord', in Art Cosgrovc (ed.), New Nistoiy of 
Irelar~cl, Vol. TI (Dublin, 1987), p. 102. See footnote 2, in  which Professor Martin 
corrects his earlier interpretation in his edition of the Expurg&o, where he had iden- 
tified Giraldus' Ophelauos as the Ui Faoliiin of East Kildare. 

27 H.E. Butler (ed. and trans.), The Autobiogmphy cf Girdd~ts  C~ri lbrer~si~ (De Reb~rs (1 

se Gestis), (London, 1937), p. 86. 
28 lbid., pp. 62,63. 



Decies 63 e 
The bishop died in January 1 1  84 and Bishop Eugene's appointment was effec- 

tivc from September the same year. The fact that a bishop from the Ddise was cho- 
sen for this assignment may well have been due to influence of Giraldus 
Canbrensis who had just completed his first visit to Waterford, and returned to 
England to find himself in the employ of King Henry and set for this second visit 
to Ireland with Prince John in 1 185. 

The date of Eugene's death is not known, as Fr. Aubrey Gwynn says in his 
informative notes in his history of Ardmore: 'the Annals of Inisfallen, which are 
our main source for the history of Munster of that period, are defective owing to a 
gap in the text from 1 1  80-9. If Bishop Eugene died in one of these years the obit. 
rccording of his death would be lost owing to this gap'?' 

But we can narrow the gap further by taking into account Eugene's period in 
Lichficld (a period not mentioned in Gwynn's notcs) and which ended in March 
1 185. So the years between 1 185 and 1 189 may well be when Eugene's death took 
place. 

a) In the 1 180s Eugene was bishop of Ardmore, at least during 1 184-5, according 
to the British sources quoted above. 

b) In the 1170s the McCarthy Charter lists the narne of Eugene among the nine 
witnessing signatories of the charter. 111 the two surviving transcripts of the charter 
his name comes last in the list of signatories. In one transcript (King - Harris) he is 
given no title, he is simply 'Eugenius Adinorensis' (Eugene of Ardmore); in the 
other (Ware) he is 'Eugenius Ardmorensis cpus' (Eugene bishop of Ardmore) - 
thus according him the title 'bishop'. But the fact that in both transcripts his narne 
is not included with the other bishops but after the abbots, may indicate that the 
word (bishop) was not in the original charter but was added later on. 

c) Using the King transcript Archdall states that the Euegene of the charter was 
abbot of Ardmore, but he does not support this with any evidence. Indeed there are 
no documentary records of Ardmore ever having an abbot, or having a monastic 
cornmunity between the tenth and the thirteenth century. Prior to the tenth century 
there is only one surviving record of a religious community or monastery (nzuiizdi- 
tiri) at Ardmore. It was under the direction of the ascetic Siadal Mac Testa, who 
was associated with the CLili DL spiritulity."' Ardmore, after 1210, when it no 
longer had diocesan status, is listed as a simple church with no reference to a 
monastic site, in the taxation of Irish dioceses 1302-06, nor do the surviving 
records of the dissolution of the monasteries under Henry VIII mention Ardmore." 

29 A. Gwynn, 'Some Notes on the History of Ardmore', in Arhzore .Iourrzcrl (1993), pp. 
13-16, at p. 13. 

30 E. J .  Gwyiin and W. J.  Purton, 'The Monastery of Tallagh, in P~.oceedings of'tlze 
Royal Irish Acuderny 29 C ( 1  9 1 l ) ,  142f. 

31 A. Gwynn, 'Somc Notes on the History of Ardnioi-e', i n  Al.drizol-c Jo~wrznl(I993), pp. 
13-16,at p. 13. 



Ardmore's chief claim to importance was that it was the church of St. Declan, 
patron of the Dkise, and the guardian of his tomb, which was a great place of pil- 
grimage. The maintenance and supervising of the patronal cl~urch did not require a 
bishop nor an abbot. We have the name and title of the leading priest, the 
Uasalslzngnrt, who completed the cathedral of Ardmore, viz. Mael EtAin Ua 
Duibh-Rathe whose obit. is recorded in the Annals of lizi,sfdleiz at 1203. The 
Eugene who signed the charter may have been one of the leading priests of 
Ardmore in the 1170s, and referred to simply as Eugene of Ardmore. 

d) If the unnamed bishop of Ardmore who swore allegiance to Henry 11 in 1172 
died in the early 1180s, his obit. would not have been recorded in the Annals of 
I~lisjii~llerz because of the gap already mentioned. Perhaps our Eugene succeeded 
him as bishop in Ardmore. 

Eugene remains somewhat of an enigma right to the end 





Niull J .  Byrrze 

Introduction 
In Waterford city on 16 October 1588, approximately one month after twenty-four 
ships of the Spanish Armada had becn pounded to destruction on the craggy west- 
ern seaboard of Ireland by extended and consecutive gales,' Anastasia Wadding, 
nCe Lombard, gave birth to her eleventh child. Anastasia, and her husband Walter, 
named this child Luke, unaware at that time that his name would eventually rever- 
berate throughout the great basilicas of Christendom, and would echo and re-echo 
with increasing resonance in the acclaimed centres of learning of continental 
Europe, particularly in the famed theological universities and seminaries of the 
Roman Catholic Church. Thus, in Waterford, was born the child who would 
mature into the greatest ecclesiastical scholar that Ireland has ever produced. Since 
a child's character is moulded both by nature and by nurture, it is of considerable 
interest to briefly describe some details of the family and of the environment 
which influenced this child during his formative years. 

Luke Wadding was born into a successful, highly respected and relatively afflu- 
ent Waterford family. His ancestors had originally come to Ireland as English 
colonists, who settled in Waterford and Wexford. In the medieval and early mod- 
ern eras, the walled city of Waterford was governed by a mayor, two bailiffs, and a 
corporation of aldermen and councillors, each of these officials being elected to 
office annually. The city owed its recognition as Ireland's second most important 
port and city to the industry of its merchants, who traded continuously with 
England, France, Spain and Portugal. The most influential of its merchants were 
those who had been admitted to the prestigious coterie of the freemen of 
Waterford, these privileged traders enjoying preferential tax and customs conces- 
sions. The earliest extant record of a member of the Wadding family in Waterford 
is the listing of a Maurice Wadding as a corporation tenant of Waterford in St. 
Olave's Parish in 1407.' The Wadding family provided three mayors of Waterford, 
four bailiffs, and ten freemen. However, it should be noted that all three Wadding 
mayors served their terms of office after Luke Wadding's birth, Thomas serving in 
1596-7, Richard in 161 1-12, and Paul in 1646-7, which indicates that the paternal 
side of his family were very active in local politics during Luke's lifetime. Luke's 
father, the merchant Walter Wadding, was admitted as a freeman of Waterford in 
1566,' and his elder brother Matthew achieved the same status in I601 .' It has been 
claimed that Luke's father, and his uncle, Thomas, had originally livcd in Wcxford, 
prior to coming to Waterford to join members of their extended family already res- 
ident in the city. 

1 Niall Fallon, 777e Anncrckl in Irel~znd, (London, Stanford Maritime, 1978), p. 212. 
2 Niall J .  Byrnc (cd.), 7'1ze Great Parchment Book of' Wciterjord, (Irish Manuscripts 

Commission, 2007), p. 159. 
3 Ilid., p. 148. 
4 Ibid.,p.216. 
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Thomas Wadding was a barrister by profession, who initially married Mary 
Walshe and, on her death, married Anastasia Devereux. He was highly successful 
in his profession, being known to have been grantcd a lease of about 150 acres of 
land at Ballycally alias Knockanispick, now situated on Myles Halley's farm in 
Castletown, by Patrick Walshe, Catholic Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, on 20 
January 1578, for a term of eighty-one years, at an annual rent of 8d. Irish, in 
return for his professional c ~ u n s e l . ~  He is also known to have been the impropria- 
tor of the full rectories of Kilbairy and of Killotteran. His son, Richard, followed 
in his father's footsteps, and was equally successful and distinguished in his chosen 
field, representing Waterford city as its member of parliament in the assembly held 
at Dublin in 161 3." Paul Wadding served as mayor of Waterford in 1646-7. 
Thomas Wadding was also the father of four other very notable sons, the Jesuits 
Ambrose, Michael, Luke and Peter. Ambrose Wadding is recorded as studying at 
the Irish College in Salamanca in 1602; Michael Wadding studied there in 1607; 
Luke attended in 1609, while a Thomas Wadding is recorded as a pupil there in 
1609 also.7 All later established considerable reputations for themselves in ecclesi- 
astical circles. 

Walter Wadding married Anastasia Lombard, their union producing a family of 
fourteen children, ten sons and four daughters, Luke Wadding being the eleventh 
child of this fdmily. The first Lombards had come to Waterford in the late thir- 
teenth century, as representatives of Italian merchant bankers who had been grant- 
ed the custom on wool as repayment of a loan given to the king. Having settled in 
Waterford, these Italians were named Lombard in deferencc to the Lombardy 
region whence they came. The first of the family recorded in Waterford is William 
Lombard, who was pardoned in 1350 for slaying Thomas Wodelok in self- 
defence." This William Lombard served as mayor of Waterford on five occasions 
in the period from 1371 to 1385. In total, the Lombard family provided a mayor of 
Waterford city on thirteen occasions, a bailiff of the city on twenty occasions, and 
twenty Lombards are registered as freemen of the city. The last of the family to 
scrve as mayor was Robert Lombard, who held office in 1639-40, a full 269 years 
after William Lombard first attained this honour. 

On 15 July 1598 John Lombard, then sheriff of the city, (a title previous 
referred to as bailiff), died in office, his untimely death not only necessitating the 
election of a replacement, but also causing the event to be recorded in the official 
records of the Corporation of Waterford. John Lombard's eulogy referred to 'his 
funeral ending to the greate sorrowing and lamentation of all the inhabitants for the 

5 W.H. Rcnnisson (cd.), 'Joshua Boylc's Acco~np t  of the Tcmporalitics of the 
Bishopricks of Waterford', in Jo~irnal of the Cork Historical and Archaeological 
Society, Vol. xxxii (1 927), (henceforth abbreviated as JCHAS). 

6 Tlw Journals o j  tlze Irish H o ~ ~ s e s  of' con in ion^ Of' the Kirzgdon~ of Ireland, (Dublin, 
Grierson, 1796), Vol. i, p, 10. 

7 Patrick Power, Waterford and Lis~nore: A Conzperzdious History c,f tlie United 
Diocese, (Cork University Prcss, 1937), p. 353. Scc Appcndix A. 

8 Eamonn McEneaney, A History of Waterford and its Mayors, ,from the 12th to tlie 
20th Century, (Waterford Corporation, 1993 ,  p. 63. 



losse of an officer of so greate care and discrete assistance to the government of 
this citie.I9 The Lombard family livcd in the centre of the walled city, the 
Corporation Rentaile showing that Dominick Lombard had built a new house near 
Colepeck's Gate in 1596,"' that Christopher Lombard lived in St Olav's parish in 
1599,'' while Patrick Lombard 'had of late dwelled in b~atestreete,"~ the latter 
being the commercial heart of the city at that time, corresponding to the present 
High Street. The Wadding family lived in the same central area, Thomas 
Wadding's widow, Anne Devereux, being recorded as living 'in the house of her 
son Nicholas, in boatestreete,' in 1599." 

Consequently, it can be seen that both the paternal and maternal sides of Luke 
Wadding's family were held in very high esteem in Waterford, where the distaff 
side provided civic officials for in excess of a quarter of a millennium. The 
Waddings were equally highly regarded in ecclesiastical circles, since members of 
both sides of the family were prominent in religious life, particularly in the very 
prestigious and highly educated Society of Jesus, which Jesuit Order had been 
founded by Ignatius of Loyola as recently as 1534 for the express purpose of 
defending the papacy and Catholicism against the Protestant Reformation, and to 
undertake missionary work amongst the heathen. 

Luke Wadding was born and raised in an era during which the citizens of 
Waterford were experiencing the greatest social upheaval to have occurred since 
the Norman invasion of Ireland, over four centuries previously. In 1533 King 
Henry VIII had proclaimed himself to be Supreme Head of the Church." Three 
years later, the 1536 Act of Absentees caused the entire estates of Waterford's 
Priory of St John the Evangelist to be forfeited to the crown, Sir William Wyse, a 
member of the local gentry, then being granted these vast lands." On 2 April 1539, 
the Waterford Franciscan Friary of the Holy Ghost, in Greyfriars, was suppressed 
although, being a mendicant order, its land holdings were negligible. The Lord 
Deputy of Ireland, Lord Leonard Grey, was given a twenty-one-year lease of the 
Franciscan possessions. 'Wn 6 October 1539, the very large, extra-mural, 
Augustinian foundation of St Catherine's Abbey was dissolved, its very consider- 
able estates in Counties Waterford, Kilkenny, Tipperary and Cork being forfeited 
to the crown, and then being granted to the local Sherlock family.17 I11 early May 

Niall J. Byrne (ed.), Tlze Grecrr Parchment Book of Water:fbrcl, p. 255. 
Ihid., p. 246. 
Ihid., p 263. 
Ibid. 
Ihid., p. 266. 
Euan Camcron, The European Rejiw~izafiorz, (Oxford, Clarcndon Prcss, 199 I), p. 282. 
Patrick Power, Waterlford and Lisnzore: A Compendious History of' the United 
Diocese, p. 308. 
Patrick Powcr, 'Thc Holy Ghost Friary', in Journal oftlze Waterford and Soutlz-East 
of Ireland A/-clzneological Society Vol. i ,  p. 202, (henceforth abbreviated as 
JWSEIAS) . 
Ncwport B .  Whitc (cd.), The Extents ofthe Iri.slz Mo~zastic Possessions, 1540-1, (Irish 
Manuscripts Commission, 1943), pp. 341 -6. 
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1540, the Bill for the Dissolution of the Order of St John of Jeritsalem was enact- 
ed, which resulted in Sir William Wyse gaining possession of the three Knights 
Hospitaller preceptories of Kilbarry, Killure and Crooke. Excluding Crooke, the 
lands of Kilbarry and Killure extended in a vast arc from the southern boundary of 
Waterford city southwards to the present-day Tramore, and then turned westwards 
to extend as far as the now defunct boundary between the old Diocese of 
Waierford and the old Diocese of Lismore.'Wn 2 April 1541, the possessions and 
estates of the Dominican Order of Preachers, based at Blackfriars, were forfeited to 
the crown, the mayor of Waterford, James White, later gaining possession of these 
properties for Waterford Corporation.'Thus, within the space of five years, the 
feudal system of land tenure, which had pertained in Waterford and elsewhere for 
over four centuries, had been fractured. Since most of these lands were rented on 
long leases from the various religious orders by local farmers, the produce of 
which was traded through Waterford, the consequences of this irreversible change 
would be felt for generations to come. 

Only one protester is recorded as objecting in Waterford to these changes, a 
Franciscan named Friar Sall being arrested for publicly criticising Henry VIII's 
announcement that he was Supreme Head of the Church. Sall was taken to Dublin 
and was imprisoned there. Later, when Archbishop Browne of Dublin proclaimed 
the Reformation in Waterford, a friar, thought to be Friar Sall, arrayed in his 
Franciscan habit and bound with chains, was publicly hanged in the city, his body 
remaining dangling from the gibbet 'as a mirror to all other his brethren to live 
t r~ l i e . '~"  

The Protestant Rcformation, which had struggIed to survive in Ireland through- 
out the reigns of King Edward VI and of Queen Mary, began to assert itself in the 
rcign of Queen Elizabeth I. The Act of Supremacy and the Act of Uniformity, 
enacted at the Dublin parliament of 1560, proclaimed Queen Elizabeth I as 
Supreme Governor of the Church in Ireland, and ordered that only that liturgy pre- 
scribed in the 1552 second Book of Conzmon Prayer could be performed, that 
attendance at Divine Service was mandatory, and that non-attendance was subject 
to an extortionate fine of 12d. Despite its general unpopularity, serious efforts were 
made to enforce this legislation, which is confirmed by Luke Wadding's first 
cousin, the Jesuit Michael Wadding, who later wrote in his Theologica Mysfica, 'I 
well remember, in my boyhood, seeing a band of soldiers going around the streets 
[of Waterford] trying with gleaming pikes to force the Catholics to Protestant wor- 
ship ."I 

The Council of Trent (1545-63), which had originally been convened to coun- 
teract Protestant gains and successes, responded to the religious crisis by ordering 

18 Niall J. Byrne, The Irislz Cmsacle, (forthcoming, 2007), pp. 82-3. 
19 Newport B . White (ed .), The Exte~zts of the Irislz Monastic Possessions, 1.540- 1, pp. 

35 1-2. 
20 Letters & Papers, Herzry VIII, Vol. i i ,  Part 1 , p. 562. 
21 Patrick Power, Waterford Saints and Sclzolars, 17th Century, (Waterford, 1920), p. 

37. 
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that all new candidates for the priesthood should undergo an unprecedentedly com- 
prehensive educational regime prior to ordination, and introduced a completely 
revised liturgical celcbration of the Mass, known as the Tridentine Rite. With the 
excommunication of Queen Elizabeth I in 1570, and the gradual arrival of highly 
trained, newly ordained Catholic clergy, who began to introduce the innovative 
and totally unfamiliar Tridentinc Mass to the citizens of Waterford, a new era of 
confrontation between opposing ideologies began. Utterly antagonistic to the 
implementation of the government's religious reforms, the Anglo-Irish Catholics of 
Ireland nonetheless proclaimed their total loyalty to the English crown, identifying 
themselves as 'Her Majesty's old faithful English subjects in Ireland,' a title which 
was soon abbreviated simply to 'Old English.' The opposing ideologists, those 
recently arrived from England, all of whom were Protcstant, became identified as 
the 'New English.' This latter group aspired to social, political and financial 
advancement in Ireland which meant that, since the economy of the country was 
pastoral, the Protestant New English sought to gain control of the massive tracts of 
land which had recently been dislodged from the ownership of the religious orders, 
and which were currently in the possession of the Old English gentry. Opposed to 
both factions was the indigenous population of Ireland, categorised as the 'Gaelic 
Irish,' who were not only Catholic by persuasion, but who also wanted to re-pos- 
sess the lands recently forfeited by the religious orders which, they claimed, had 
been taken from their ancestors during the Norman Conquest. It is therefore appar- 
ent that religious persuasion and control of land were the two principal elements in 
the confrontation between opposing ideologies in Ireland, and that the Wadding 
family in Waterford was intimately involved in, and deeply concerncd with, both 
issues. 

Throughout the decadc of the 1580s, the successive Fitzgerald, Desmond, 
Baltinglass and Nugent rebellions, all of which claimed a religious motivation, 
were brutally suppressed by crown forces. 111 1580, the newly appointed Church of 
Ireland Bishop of Waterford, Marmaduke Middleton, enforced the 1560 Act of 
Uniformity by forbidding the public celebration of Mass, which lead to the closure 
of all the Catholic churches in the city. Thereafter, the new Tridentine Mass was 
celebrated in private houses, the Catholic clergy quickly exploiting the prohibition 
of the public celebration of Mass by manipulating the response to ensure that it 
became a signal honour for Catholic householders to have the liturgy celebrated in 
their homes. Richard Wadding, Anastasia Devereux (widow of Thomas Wadding), 
Dominic Lombard, Beale Lombard, and the apothecary James Lombard are 
amongst thirty such housesl1olders,2~ who are named by the Protestant authorities 
as facilitating the private celebration of the liturgy in Watcrford. It is obvious that 
the Catholic clergy were highly organised in their confrontation of the New 
English authorities, even though there was no bishop of the Diocese of Waterford 
and Lismore, the previous bishop, Patrick Walshe, having died in 1578. Nor was a 
new episcopal appointment likely since, on 20 June 1584, the Catholic Archbishop 
of Cashel, Derinot 0' Hurley, recently arrived from Rome, was hanged at Hoggin 

22 Scc Appcndix B. 
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Green (near the present St Stephen's Green), outside the walls of Dublin, by the 
order of the Protestant a~thorities.~' 

Despite its best efforts, the government could not enforce religious reform, the 
refusal of Irish Catholics to take the Oath of Supremacy leading to a new name, 
that of Recusants,zj being applied to intransigent Catholics. Being difficult to con- 
trol on account of its distance from Dublin and London, Waterford became the 
centre of the Irish Recusancy struggle, to sucli an extent that Lord Justice Pelham 
described the citizens as 'the most arrogant papists that live within this state.' 
Although manifestly loyal to the crown, the Wadding family played a leading role 
in the efforts to frustrate the government's attempts to enforce the Act of 
Uniformity, Luke's uncle, the barrister Thomas Wadding being singled out by 
name in official rcports. On 6 July 1596, the Protestant Bishop Lyon of Cork com- 
plained in a letter to Lord Hudson that 'the Mayor of Waterford, who is a great 
lawyer, one Wadding [Thomas Wadding, mayor 1596-71, carries the sword and rod 
for her majesty, but neither he nor his Sheriffs [John Lombard, sheriff 1595-6, 
1597-81, ever come to church since he was Mayor, nor ever since her majesty's 
reign, nor any of the citizens, men or women, nor in any other town or city 
throughout Munster, which is lamentable to hear, but most lamentable to see."' 

During the Ulster rebellion, which became known as the Nine Years War, its 
leader, Hugh O'Neill, Earl of Tyrone, nominated Luke Wadding's maternal uncle, 
Peter Lombard, a long-time resident in Rome, as his personal envoy to Pope 
Clement VIII. Born in Waterford city in 1554, and educated there until he was 
eighteen years of age, Peter Lombard entered the University of Lo~~vain  where, 
following a distinguished academic career, he earned his doctorate in 1578. In 
1594 he was appointed Provost of Cambrai, being sent to Rome in 1598 by the 
University of Lowain to represent his alrna mater in the controversy between the 
Jesuits and the Dominicans which was active at that time. He remained in Rome 
for the remainder of his life.?Tlie unprecedented action by the Gaelic Irish leader, 
in selecting a member of the Old English to represent him in Rome, was com- 
pounded a year later when, on 9 July 1600, largely influenced by O'Neill, Peter 
Lombard was appointed Catholic Archbishop of Armagh and Primate of Ireland. 

Despite his exalted status, or perhaps because of it, Peter Lombard never after- 
wards returned to Ireland, but his elevation to high ecclesiastical rank meant that 
Luke Wadding now had scrious family influence in the Roman Curia. 

In 1602, plague once again made its deadly appearance in Waterford and 
bccame so virulent that the corporation records list the number of citizens who 
died from the infection in one year at 2,256." One of the early victims of this pesti- 
lence was Luke Wadding's mother, Anastasia Lombard who, in common with all 
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plague victims, was buried outside the city walls, in the graveyard of the then 
abandoned St Catherine's Abbey. Luke's Wadding's father, Walter, also died about 
this time, but not from the plague, since his body is interred in the family burial 
plot in the Franciscan Friary of the Holy Ghost at Greyfriars. Matthew Wadding, 
Luke's elder brother, who had been admitted as a freeman of Waterford on 1601, 
then took over the running of the family business. 

When Queen Elizabeth 1 died on 24 March 1603, and was succeeded by her 
cousin, James Stuart, who was thought to have Catholic sympathies, the citizens of 
Waterford joyfully reclaimed and re-opened the long neglected Catholic churches, 
and once again publicly celebrated Mass. This initiative provoked an armed 
response from the Dublin Protestant authorities, Lord Deputy Mountjoy marching 
with a large army to besiege Waterford. Forced to capitulate in order to prevent thc 
threatened destruction of the city, both the civic and religious officials of 
Waterford were ordered to personally submit to the Lord Deputy in his camp out- 
side St Patrick's Gatc. Both the Catholic Vicar Apostolic of Waterford, the 
Dominican Fr James White, accompanied by his kinsman, Fr Lombard of the 
Order of St Bernard, were humiliated in Mountjoy's camp, and were thereafter 
forced to abandon the recently re-possessed Catholic churches, and to return to the 
private celebration of Catholic liturgies in selected citizen's homes.'h 

A year later, the Treaty of London was signed in August 1604, ending the war 
with Spain, which had been on going since before Luke Wadding's birth. Trade and 
commerce with Spain recommenced, allowing the Waterford merchant, Matthew 
Wadding, to travel to the Iberian Peninsula where, having married a Spanish lady, 
he remained for his lifetime. Matthew brought his sixteen-year old, scholarly 
brother Luke with him to Portugal. Luke Wadding was destined never to see 
Ireland again. 

As Wadding emigrated to Portugal one of his schoolmates, Patrick Comerford, 
began a similar journey, first to Bordeaux and eventually to Lisbon where the two 
former school friends would renew their friendship. In 1629 this Patrick 
Comerford would be consecrated Catholic Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, the 
first Catholic Bishop of the diocese for fifty-one years."" 

28 Report of' Dr Janzes White to the Pope, (writtcn 1604 in Romc, published in 
Hiberniarz Mnguzirze, 1848, republished in P.M. Egan, A Waterford G~licle, 
(Kilkenny, 1894), pp. 1 14-42. 
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The academic and literary career of Luke Wadding 
On his an-ival in Portugal, Luke Wadding entered the Irish College in Lisbon, this 
seminary being under Jesuit control at that time. Shortly thereafter he was received 
into the Franciscan Province of Portugal at Matozinhos, near the city of Oporto in 
northwestern Portugal, a friary which was dedicated to the Immaculate 
Con~eption. '~ The transfer of his allegiance to the Franciscan Order of the Friars 
Minor, and the dedication of his alnm mater to the Immaculate Conception were to 
have major consequences for the young seminarian. Wadding had absolutely no 
difficrrlty with the educational standard required for admission to a continental 
seminary because of the exceptional teaching skills of his Waterford schoolmaster, 
John Flahy. This schoolmaster enjoyed a very considerable local reputation, not 
simply for his teaching expertise, but particularly for his dedication to Catholicism. 
Instructing his general students in the basic subjects, he also taught the Latin and 
Greek classics to his most promising pupils. The consequent proficiency of these 
students in classical languages ensured a ready admission to continental seminar- 
ies. It is a remarkable fact that of the twenty-one students from the Diocesc of 
Waterford and Lismore attending the Irish College at Salamanca between 1595 and 
16 19, almost all acknowledged Flahy's guidance and involvement in their educa- 
tion. The Jesuit Michael Wadding, better known on the continent as Miguel 
Godinez, who achieved literary fame by writing his then world-renowned 
Tlzeologica Mystica, and who spent his life on the Mexican mission, recorded 'op- 
eram dedi humanioribus litteris 4 annis sub praeceptoribus Johanne Flacco."' 

Although it is no surprise that Luke Wadding became a Catholic priest, the fact 
that he became a Franciscan priest is indicative of the increasing significance and 
of the exalted reputation for academic erudition which the Order of Friars Minor 
was c~trrently achieving in Ireland, particularly among the Old English population 
of the towns. While the cultural orientation of the Franciscan Order was projected 
principally towards the Ecclesia inter Hibernicos of the Gaelic Irish, it was not 
exclusively so, the Grey Friars having maintained the monastery of the Holy Ghost 
House in Waterford since 1240. Nonetheless, although his enrolment as a 
Franciscan would previously have been considered atypical, it would have major 
beneficial consequences for Waterford. A friend of Wadding's, who found it diffi- 
cult to appreciate how such a scholastically gifted young man had entered a reli- 
gious order which he believed was not renowned for its scholars, expressed these 
sentiments to his friend by letter. Extremely annoyed, Wadding devoted his subse- 
quent literary labours to discrediting this obviously inaccurate prejudice.'" 

In 1607 Luke Wadding moved to Lciria, in central Portugal, to study philoso- 
phy for two years. In that year, an Irish Franciscan, Florence Conroy, founded the 
Irish College at Louvain, dedicating this college to St Anthony of Padua. On 4 
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Following a short period at Vizeu in north-central Portugal, where he was 
ordained a Franciscan priest in 1613, Luke Wadding retmned to Leiria." Others 
might have regarded ordination as the close of the st~~dying phase of life, but for 
Wadding it was only the beginning. He regarded his present scholarly accomplish- 
ments simply as the e1ztrCe to further study, the introduction to a literary world 
beyond the normal aspiration of an Irish cleric, the admission to a realm of erudi- 
tion in which he would excel, in which he would gain world-wide acclaim for him- 
self, for his religious order, and for Waterford. His entry into the domain of litera- 
ture was modest in the extreme. His first publication consisted of two volumes of 
quotations from Scripture and from Patrology, which were intended to be of bene- 
fit to preachers. His first real impact was made when he spoke at a Provincial 
Chapter of the Portuguese Franciscans, where his extensive scholarship so 
impressed the Vicar-General, Antonio de Trejo, that he sent Wadding to the 
University of Salamanca in western Spain, for further study. Wadding studied at 
Salamanca and at Alma de Tromes for a further five years, honing his skills as a 
co~nmunicator in the best of all didactic disciplines, by lecturing both at Salamanca 
and at Leon. Here, in Spain, he considered himself a member of the Franciscan 
Observant Province of Santiago de Compostella, the oldest Franciscan Province in 
Spain, and of almost unquantifiable significance for a Waterford born recusant, 
where the tradition of the Pilgrimage to St James had been of paramount prestige 
for centuries. It was in Spain that he met members of the entourage of the exiled 
Irish Earls," his fraternising with them increasing his perception of Gaelic Irish 
Catholics as being simply his brothers in religious persuasion. The seeds of nation- 
alism were germinating in his psyche.I5 

While at Salamanca, Wadding became immersed in the st~tdy of Scotism, the 
doctrincs of the renowned Franciscan theologian, John Duns Scotus (? 1265- l308), 
who had opposed some of the Thomist theology of St Thomas Aquinas. Duns 
Scotus had elaborated on the teaching on the Immaculate Conception which had 
originally been propounded by St Augustine of Hippo (AD 354-430), those views 
expressed by Duns Scotus stimulating Wadding's interest in this topic which was 
still an actively burning issue in Spain. Antonio de Trejo, who had sent Wadding to 
Salamanca, was appointed Bishop of Cartagena in southeastern Spain and, on 
attending his consecration, Wadding met the Donegal Franciscan, Florence 
Conroy, who had founded the Irish College in Louvain in 1607. Conroy shared 
Wadding's interest in the doctrine of the Im~naculate Conception, both Franciscans 
then debating the issue, each collaborating with the other in developing their theo- 
logical views on this subject. Shortly afterwards, King Philip I11 of Spain appoint- 
ed Bishop de Trejo as royal envoy to Pope Paul V, his mission being to petition the 
Pope to define the abstruse dogma of the Immaculate Conception. Thirty years old 
Luke Wadding was chosen as Bisliop de Trejo's principal theologian on this com- 
mission, which arrived in Rome in December 161 8. 
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During his early time in Rome Wadding usually lived at the Franciscan house 
of San Pietro in Montorio, where the Earl of Tyrone, Hugh O'Neill, had been 
buried in 1616, altho~tgh he occasionally stayed at Ara Coeli, the general curia of 
the Franciscan Order. Immersed in his duties, Wadding wrote twelve memorials on 
the Immaculate Conception, all of which were presented to Pope Paul V. In 1622 
Pope Paul issued a decree imposing silence on those who opposed the doctrine, but 
malting no further decision. Thereafter the matter remained in abeyance for 232 
years, until 1854, when Pope Pius IX affirmed the dogma. Four years later, in 
1858, a peasant girl named Bernadette Soubirous had a vision of a beautiful lady in 
a grotto at Massabiele in Lourdes. When Bernadette asked her identity, the lady 
replied, Je  suis l ' I~nr~~acul& Conception.'" 

When the members of the Spanish comnlission returned to Spain, Wadding 
remained in Rome, his erudition and theological brilliance having been recognised 
by his confreres as being indispensable to the members of the Franciscan curia. 
When a Roman Franciscan, Marius Callasius, who was working on a book on 
Hebrew, died before his project was completed, Wadding undertook to finish the 
specialised task, editing and expanding the manuscript to bring it to publication 
standard. Inserting a prefix entitled 'De Hebraicae L ing~~ae  Origine, Praestantia et 
Utilitate,' in 1621 Wadding had the book published in four volumes by the 
Minorite Press of Ara Coeli, which possessed a rare font of Hebrew type." 

In the spring of 161 9 Luke Wadding visited Assisi, thc extraordinary bcauty of 
the hill-top town and the tranquil ambience of both basilicas, where the bodies of 
St Francis and St Clare are publicly displayed under the main altars, stimulating 
his already active intercst in the story of the Franciscans to such an extent as to 
cause him to consider writing the history of the order. Two years later, this inspira- 
tion from Assisi resulted in his publication at Antwerp 01 the first printed edition 
of the works of St Francis. The Franciscan Minister-General, Benignus of Genoa, 
was so impressed by this work that he ordered every Franciscan provincial to gath- 
er all available manuscripts and records of the order from their local sources, and 
to forward them to Wadding. These complemented the results of Wadding's per- 
sonal research in the papal and Assisi archives, resulting in the first volume of the 
A1zr7nles Minorurn being printed at Lyons in 1625, with the second vol~mie being 
published in 1628, both of which recorded the activities of the order in the first 
century of its life. This became his ~7uynztnz opus, a further six volumes, all pub- 
lished by 1654, bringing his liistory of the order up to the events of the 
Reformation in 1540. Over the course of his career, wadding's literary output was 
as prodigious as the subject matters were diverse, his personal bibliography listing 
twenty-eight major Iitcrary works, many of these being multi-volume publications. 
When the numerous papers and articles attributed to him are included, it is appar- 
ent that it would be tedious to continue to list all his writings in detail. 
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Equally as significant as his literary career was Wadding's involvement in the pro- 
vision of educational facilities for Irish seminarians. In 1621 a group of Spanish 
Discalced Friars had commenced the building of a friary in Rome, which they ded- 
icated to St Isidore. Born in Seville circa AD 560 to a noble Hispanic-Roman fam- 
ily from Catagena, Isidore became Archbishop of Seville circa AD 600. During 
the following thirty-six years of his archicpiscopacy, his efforts to convert the 
Asian Visigoths to orthodox Christianity earned him the title of 'Schooln~aster of 
the Middle Ages.' Isidore died in AD 636, but was not canonised until as late as 
1598, by Pope Clement VIII. When the Discalced Friars werc forced by lack of 
funding and support to abandon their construction, the then Definator-General and 
later Archbishop of Armagh, Hugh McCaughwell, influenced the Franciscan 
Minister-General to hand the unfinished project to Luke Wadding. Aware that he 
could successfully approach wealthy and influential friends for financial aid to 
clcar the debt and to finish the construction, Wadding accepted the project. 
Engaging architects, buildcrs and artistic decorators, and financed by his friends 
and acquaintances, Wadding finished the construction, retaining the name of the 
original patron. Acting as its first guardian and drawing up a series of articles 
under which the college was to be run, Wadding took up residence at St Isidore's 
on 12 October 1625 . ' 9he  office of guardian was elective every five years, 
Wadding enjoying it five t imes. 'The papal bull of foundation, issued on 20 
October 1625 by Pope Urban VIII, specified that only Irish friars could form thc 
community. In the late nineteenth century, when the lrish friars were undergoing 
reform by members of thc Province of Saxony based at St Isidore's, some non- 
reform friars in Ireland became concerned that the German friars were attempting a 
take-over of the college. Waterford Corporation supported the lrish friars by issu- 
ing a stern reminder that Wadding had founded St Isidore's for Irish friars and that 
it must remain in Irish control. The early professors at St Isidore's were all Irish, 
Anthony Hickey (the author of the Nitela), Patrick Fleming, John Ponce and 
Martin Walsh all teaching in the new seminary. 

In addition to completing the construction, engaging the tutors, devising thc 
curriculilm and enrolling the first students at St Isidore's, Luke Wadding equipped 
the library of the college, procuring 5,000 select worlcs and a collection of manu- 
scripts bound in 800 volumes. This aspect of Wadding's competencc, in assimilat- 
ing and preserving valuable manuscript records, eventually provided an cxtraordi- 
nary legacy for the historiography of Ireland and its Catholic Church, with a par- 
ticular benefit accruing to the ecclesiastical history of the Diocese of Waterford 
and Lismore. Many manuscripts from St Isidore's, some of which originally came 
from Louvain, were returned to Ireland in 1872, and were eventitally retained in 
the archives of the Franciscan House of Studies, at D6n Mhuire, Killiney, Co 
Dublin, where latterly they have been in the exemplary and utterly dedicated stew- 
ardship of the Tramore-born and Waterford-reared Franciscan, Fr Ignatius 
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appointed because of the clearly expressed opposition of the Protestant aittborities 
to such an appointment. The execution of the Bishop of Mayo, Patrick O'Healy, 
who was hanged at KiImallock in August 1579: coupled with the execution of the 
Archbishop of Cashel, Dermot O'Hurley, who was hanged at Dublin in 1584:" 
clearly confirmed the official opposition to the renewal of a Catholic hierarchy at 
this time. However, the Protestant Church of Ireland availed of the vacancy caused 
by Bishop Patrick Walshe's death, to appoint Marmaduke Middleton as the first 
Protestant Bishop of Waterford and Lismore on 31 January 1579. On account of 
the total animosity of most of the citizens of Waterford to Bishop Middleton, the 
prelate sought and received a translation to the See of St David in Wales. On 7 
January 1583, the vacant See of Waterford and Lismore was granted to the notori- 
ous Protestant Archbishop of Cashel, Miler Magrath. 

A native of Co Fermanagh and reputedly the son of an Irish chieftain, Miler 
Magrath was born a Catholic in 1522. He became a Franciscan priest and, in 
October 1565, he was appointed Catholic Bishop of Down and Connor." Having 
embraced Protestantism, he was deposed from thc papal See of Down and Connor 
but was installed as Protestant Bishop of Clogher by Queen Elizabeth I in 1570, 
and became Protestant Archbishop of Cashel in 1571. In 1586, when Sir Walter 
Raleigh began to reap the benefits of his services to Queen Elizabeth I by acquir- 
ing massive land grants from the confiscated estates of the Earl of Desmond, 
Bishop Miler Magrath added to Raleigh's good fortune by granting him the manor 
and see-lands of Listnore, and the castle of Lismore, for the nominal annual rent of 
f 13. 6s. 8d., thus alienating forever this most valuable church possession.-'"hree 
years later, Queen Elizabeth sought Magrath's resignation to allow the appoint- 
ment, on 20 July 1589, of Thomas Weatherhcad as Bishop of Waterford and 
Lismore. On 15 January 1591, Bishop Weatherhead leased the manor of Ardmore, 
with the town lands of Balinatnona and Crobally, to Sir Walter Raleigh for 101 
years, at the derisory annual rent of £6 Irish." When Bishop Weatherhead died in 
1592 after a brief episcopate of three years, Queen Elizabeth re-appointed Miler 
Magrath to the bishopric. Magrath remained as Bishop of Waterford and Lisrnore 
until his enforced resignation of the see in 1607, whereupon he was appointed to 
the See of Killala and Achonry. He died in December 1622 in the hundredth year 
of his age, and was buried in the wall of his church at Cashel. 

Consequently, Miler Magrath was Protestant Bishop of Waterford and Lismore 
at the time of the death of Queen Elizabeth I on 26 March 1603. In the inter-reg- 
num before the coronation of King James I, because of their hope and belief that 
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King James would grant them religious toleration, the Catholic citizens of 
Waterford seized possession of the long-confiscated churches in the city. Having 
cleaned and refurbished the churches, the Catholic clergy, led by the vicar apos- 
tolic Dr James White, publicly celebrated Mass in Christ Church Cathedral. Within 
days their action and leadership caused the citizens of the neighbouring towns to 
similarly flout the law of the land in a reaction to years of religious oppression 
which has been termed the Recusancy Revolt. In retaliation, the Lord Deputy of 
Ireland, Lord Mountjoy, assembled a large army, marched to Waterford, besieged 
the city, threatened to dcstroy it and 'to sow salt upon the soil of their destroyed 
city."& Forced to capitulate, the citizens surrendered the city, which was placed and 
maintained under the military control of a large garrison which was billeted at St 
Patrick's Gate. 

When King James VI of Scotland was on his way to London to be crowned 
King James I of England, the English Puritan faction presented him with a docu- 
ment now known as the Millenary Petition, which sought religious toleration for 
their beliefs and litiirgical practices. Also seeking freedom of conscience, Irish and 
English Catholics presented a similar petition to the monarch. The Hampton Court 
Confercncc, promised by the king in response to these petitions, opened on 14 
January 1604 when, following three days of discussion, the king announced his 
religious policy. He totally rejected the Puritan petition for permission to practice 
their concept of pure religion. Seriously influenced by his experiences in Scotland, 
the monarch denied any possibility of the Presbyterian form of church government 
by an oligarchy of presbyters, voicing his catch phrase 'No Bishop, No King.' He 
objected to Presbyterianism, claiming that if bishops were forced from church 
authority and were replaced by presbyters, 'I know not what will become of my 
supremacy.' He denounced Catholicism by fully agreeing with the prcvious pro- 
nounccmcnt that 'the Bishop of Rome hath no authority in this land.' He then 
detailed his dissatisfaction with Irish Catholicisnl by announcing, 'In Ireland 1 am 
but half a king, being lord of their bodies, but their souls arc seduced by popery.'"" 
In September 1604 King James I gave his full support to the Ecclesiastical Canons 
passed by Convocation. Nine months later, the Proclamation against Toleration i n  
Ireland, dated 4 July 1605, ordered all Catholic clergy to depart from I~eland.~" 
Clearly there would be no improvement in the treatment of the Catholic population 
of Waterford. 

Consequently, in the immediate aftermath of Luke Wadding's departure from 
Waterford, religious intolerance had increased dramatically, and the persecution of 
Catholicism wo~dd continue to intensify. In 1606 the Lord President of the Council 
of Munstcr, Sir Henry Brouncker, introduced a new repressive measure which 
involved the serving of mandates on selected recusant dignitaries, which ordered 
them to accompany Brouncker to church on a stipulated day. On their refusal to be 
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coerced into attending Protestant church services, these abjuring dignitaries were 
imprisoned. Brouncker further demanded that the mayor-elect of the city should 
take the Oath of Supremacy before being sworn into office. Four mayors-elect of 
Waterford city refused to swear this oath. Paul Sherlock, Stephen Leonard, 
Nicholas Wyse and Thomas White were each deposed, were imprisoned in Cork 
gaol, and were heavily fined. A petition from recusants in Cork for some official 
curtailment of Brouncker's activities alerted the English Privy Council to the extent 
of the religious persecution in Ireland. Expressing their opinion that it was 
extremely fortunate that the Munster towns had not ~evolted,~'  the Privy Council 
ordered Brouncker to cease his persecution, and to release his rec~rsant prisoners. 
Freed from gaol in Cork, Waterford's four mayors-elect were allowed to return 
home. Brouncker's death in June 1607 brought this repressive initiative to a close. 

In response to numerous complaints, a visitation of all Bishop Miler Magrath's 
jurisdictions was ordered. This inspection brought such an unfavourable report 
that, on 20 February 1607, Lord Deputy Sir Arthur Chichester persuaded Magrath 
to resign the See of Waterford and Lismorc and 'to accept of other two bishoprics 
in the remotest part of Connacht, called Killala and Achonry, which have long 
been void as no one will accept them by reason of their small value.j2 On 26 
February 1607, John Lancaster, chaplain to King James I, was appointed Protestant 
Bishop of Waterford and Lismore. He was to enjoy twelve years tenure of this 
office. 

The Flight of the Earls occurred on 4 September 1607, the Earl of Tyrone, the 
Earl of Tyrconnell and an entourage of ninety-nine people abandoning Ireland for- 
ever." The presence of the exiled earls in Spain provoked such a fear of a Spanish 
invasion of Ireland that Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury, ordered a slackening of the 
enforcement of the anti-recusancy Iegislation in Ireland. Throughout the next sev- 
eral years the intensity of the persecution of Catholicism varied in accordance with 
local circumstances, but never disappeared entirely. In this period of the reduced 
enforcement of religious reform Catholic priests began to return to Ireland from 
exile on the continent. The New English officials maintained a close surveillance 
of the location and activities of Catholic clergy, and of active recusants. 

Early in 161 1 ,  the arrival of the newly appointed Protestant Bishop of Raphoe, 
Andrew Knox, signalled the recommencement of religious oppression. Bishop 
Knox carried a letter from King James I,  dated 26 April 161 I ,  which ordered Lord 
Deputy Chichester to immediately convene an assembly of the four Protestant 
archbishops and their suffragans. Within ten days of Knox's arrival the assembly 
had taken place. Both Archbishop Milcr Magrath of Cashel and Bishop John 
Lancaster of Waterford and Lismore attended. In a letter to Bishop William Laud, 
Bishop Knox gave his impression of these Church of Ireland dignitaries. He 
described Miler Magrath as thc 'Archbishop of Cashel, old and unable, whose wifc 

5 1 CPSI, J a m s  I, 1606-8, pp. 46-7. 
52 I/?icl., p. 29. 
53 Brcndan Fitzpatrick, Seventeeizth Ceizlui-y I re lad:  Tlze War- c?f'Keligiorzs, (Dublin, 

1988), p. 26. 

50 





Richard Wadding, the recusant Waterford Member of ParIiament 
Elections were held in 1613 to provide members for the parliament which Lord 
Deputy Chichester was about to convene. Paul Sherlock and Richard Wadding 
were elected to represent Waterford city in what would prove to be a most frac- 
tious parliament. Thus, in the same year in which Luke Wadding was ordained a 
Franciscan priest at Vizeu, his first cousin was elected MP for Waterford city. 
Richard Wadding, who had been mayor of Waterford in I61 1-12", was the son of 
Thomas Wadding and Anastasia Devereux, and was therefore the scion of one of 
the most respected families in Waterford. Educated at the Middle Temple in 
London, and a member of King's Irlns, he was a distinguished lawyer of consider- 
able repute. Reflecting both the ecclesiastical and juridicial traditions of his family, 
he was categorised by an official parliamentary amenuensis as 'a known malicious 
Papist, and one of the principal disturbers of the Pa~liament.'~" 

When the parliament opened there was an immediate confrontation between the 
New English and the Old English members concerning the nomination of the 
Speaker of the House. There was also a considerable recusant protest at the gerry- 
mandering which had contrived a Protestant majority. A melee developed which 
resulted in the withdrawal of the recusants from the legislature, which forced Lord 
Deputy Chichester to adjourn the parliament. On 28 May two government officials 
were sent to court to acquaint the king and the English Privy Council of the 
unmanageable state of affairs in Ireland. A srnall recusant delegation was sent to 
England to counteract this Irish govenment initiative, being followed by a fifty- 
one strong group of recusant parliamentarians, Richard Wadding being a member 
of this group. These Irish delegates presented a petition to the king, Richard 
Wadding being one of the eighty signatories of this document. 

Prompted by the recusants, the king authorised the sending of a commission to 
Ireland to investigate their complaints, and to defuse the very threatening situation. 
The confrontation throughout Ireland was now so tense and so close to rebellion 
that the authorities had cannon mounted on the parapets of churches in Dublin, 
while in the citadel of Waterford such armament was turned to face the interior of 
the city rather than the countryside beyond the city walls. The fear of a repetition 
of the St Bartholomew's Day Massacre in France in 1572, whereby the majority 
Catholic populace might murder the minority Protestant government officials, was 
a real possibility at this time. The recusant delegation returned from London in late 
161 3, reporting that the monarch had looked very favourably on their petitions, 
and exhibiting triumphalist behaviour towards the officials of both the government 
and of the established church. Chichester voiced his concern at the behaviour of 
the recusants in general, informing the London government of his disquiet, and 
questioning the veracity of the recusant's reports. 
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In response to Chichester's queries, the king denied that he had agreed to tolera- 
tion of religion, but confirmed that because of the recusant's humble appcal he had 
overlooked 'their insolent bearing at the Pa~liament'.~' On 27 January 1614, the 
English authorities responded to Chichester's complaints by issuing a list of eigh- 
teen names of prominent Irish recusants who were summoned to attend the king at 
a judicial hearing. Richard Wadding, MP for Waterford city, was one of this select- 
ed band of recusant leaders, who were ordered to travel to London within a month. 
A further royal proclamation was sent to Chichester, instructing him to travel to 
court also .6' 

On 20 April, with Chichester in attendance, the king delivered his judgement 
on the report of the 1613 commissioners, severely censuring the recusants and 
totally vindicating the Lord Dep~ty.6~ King James expressed his intense displeasure 
that his conciliatory attitude in 1613 had been completely misconstrued by the 
Irish recusants, and he was equally as vehement in condemning their misrepresen- 
tation of his views when they had returned home the previous year. The eighteen 
Irish recusants were appalled at what they perceived as a change of attitude by the 
monarch. Feeling that their attendance at court was unproductive, they prepared to 
return to Ireland, but their intentions were forestalled by a summons to attend a 
further audience at a later date. 

The second audience was granted on 8 May. On this occasion, the king 
informed the Irish delegation that he wanted Sir John Davies to be eIected as 
Speaker of the Irish House of Commons. In unprecedented antagonism to a royal 
request, the recusants refused to comply, creating a stir of disbelief amongst the 
courtiers in the audience chamber."? The Irish recusants then advised the monarch 
that they believed his assessment had been superficial, in that he had not consid- 
ered all the issues pertaining to the dispute. In this regard, they presented the king 
with a 'humble petition' which outlined their position and their grievances. Once 
again, the name of Waterford's Richard Wadding was prominent amongst the fif- 
teen signatures on this petition."' The recusant delegation, almost all of whom were 
of considerable legal standing, declined to continue unproductive attacks on 
Dublin officials, switching their focus in this petition to what they considered to be 
illegal measures taken by the Irish functionaries. This new approach would prove 
to be considerably more successful. The recusants initially petitioned that MPs 
from those boroughs, which had been incorporated after the elections had been 
called, should be excluded from parliament. The Irish delegates then asked the 
king to reassess 'falsities' in the election ~eturns.6~ They further petitioned for the 
disqualification of MPs from the new 'Protestant boroughs'. These petitions would 
gain some measure of response in the near future. 
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On the following day, 9 May, the king reassembled the delegates and the Irish 
government officials to discuss these issues. Undaunted, the recusants pressed their 
petitions, taking such a bold stance that King James objected to their argumenta- 
tive tones and truculent bearing. Calling the guard, the king had the troublemakers 
arrested. This royal confrontation with the Irish recusants, and the resulting impris- 
onments, caused an immediate military alert in England. The perceived aggression 
in the audience chamber resulted in orders being issued for English troops to ready 
tliemselves for action in Ireland. The possibility of this very serious rift being used 
by O'Neill and Spain to foment rebellion, which might culminate in an invasion of 
Ireland, was seen as a very real threat by English officials. In mid-May conciliato- 
ry talks began in London, aimed at defusing the situation. Some of those impris- 
oned were released temporarily to pursue this objective, but the principal emphasis 
was on parliamentary procedures. 

Those members of the recusant delegations who had been imprisoned in 
London were allowed to purge their affront to the monarch, and gradually through- 
out the summer they returned home. The banishment of priests from Ireland, and 
the enforcement of other repressive measures, resulted in an unwillingness of the 
recusant MPs to participate in parliament. The king was loath to dissolve the Irish 
Parliament, since he required the members to authorise a benevolence to ease his 
straightened financial circumstances. In August 1614, the king agreed to exclude 
MPs from eight named boroughs for the duration of this parliament only.66 
Consequently the four New English members for county Waterford, Sir Richard 
Boyle, Francis Annesley, Gerard Lother and Laurence Parsons forfeited their seats, 
allegedly giving the recusants total representation for both city and county. 
Following this conciliatory gesture from the King the recusants agreed to partici- 
pate when parlianient reconvened on 14 October. 

The reorganisation of the Church of Ireland 
A Convocation of the Church of Ireland, that is an assembly of its archbishops, 
bishops and proctors, met concurrently with the Irish Parliament of 161 3-1 5, its 
stated purpose being to consider a subsidy for the monarch. The deliberations of 
this ecclesiastical body bore fruit in 1615 in the framing of the 104 Irish Articles, 
which elaborated a clearly defined, new confession of faith, this innovative mani- 
festo of Irish Protestantism being an amalgam of orthodox and non-conformist 
interpretations of Scripture. This codified ~paisorz dl&tre, moulded by experiences 
gained in a hostile Irish environment, would motivate the Church of Ireland 
throughout the succeeding generations. The Articles did not emphasise episco- 
palian views, nor were any components of the adiaphora controversy, such as the 
wearing of the surplice, allowed to become an issue. Consequently, those pastors, 
who for scruples of conscience had fled England to settle in Ireland, could now be 
completely integrated into the Church of Ireland. Protestant ministers were not 
compelled to subscribe to these Articles, thereby allowing this accommodation of 
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divergent religious opinions. Thus, this Irish Convocation defined views, incorpo- 
rating Puritan and Calvinist influences, to circumvent the via media of Elizabethan 
Protestantism, and to counteract the anti-Puritan sentiments of the 1604 English 
Articles. It developed and ratified eschatological and apocalyptic dogmata hitherto 
only tentatively implemented, and to do so, it redefined the contentious principle 
of Predestination, which was a corollary of these doctrines. It also emphasised and 
re-expressed its abhorrence of Roman Catholicism, demonising Irish Catholics in 
the process. 

Since Predestination would shortly play a major theological role in both the 
Protestant and the Catholic churches, and would also provoke drastic conse- 
quences for the citizens of Waterford, it needs to be briefly defined. Predestination, 
the belief that a sovereign God chose those who were to be saved, was a common- 
place of medieval thought. Those predestined for salvation, who were also known 
as 'the elect,' were known only to God but, in due course, a belief in Predestination 
was to lead some Protestant groups to see themselves as 'the elect people, the 
saints, or the godly!' While the dogma of Predestination was unquestionably bibli- 
cal in origin, it had been propounded simply as Single Predestination by Martin 
Luther.bS It was John Calvin who introduced the concept of Double Predestination, 
which added the damnation of the reprobate clause to the original salvation of the 
chosen elect, yet, it is fair to say that Calvin had concentrated on the salvation of 
the elect rather than on the fate of the reprobate. Calvin's successor, Theodore 
Beza, and the Heidelberg theologians, had upheld the centrality of Double 
Predestination in the divine plan of salvation, espousing the doctrine of s~ipralap- 
sarianism,b9 but particularly focussing attention on the fate of the reprobate. Beza 
was also responsible for the doctrine of limited atonement, the opinion that Christ 
had died for the elect only?' While all these were recondite, esoteric theologies, 
seemingly far removed from everyday living, their practical implementation in 
early seventeenth-century Ireland had very significant implications. It has been 
maintained that only radicals like Barnaby Rich were crude enough to equate the 
reprobate of Double Predestination with Irish Catholics, yet the inclination to treat 
the Catholics in this fashion was always apparent. The 1615 Irish Articles commit- 
ted the Church of Ireland to a Predestinarian system, which was ultimately derived 
from the Heidelberg theologians." 

Catholics criticised Predestinarian theology defined in this manner, holding that 
this doctrine led to abuses such as the rejection of the spiritual benefits gained by 
the performance of good works. Furthermore, in authenticating the hierarchical 
structure of the church, and in acknowledging the power of the Pope to depose 
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unworthy monarchs, Roman Catholicism antagonised Protestants who disagreed 
completely with these views. Consequently, it was a relatively sinlple progression 
for Protestants to identify the Pope with 'the man of sin' of the Book of Revelation. 
The 16 15 Irish Articles reinforced such opinions, identifying the Pope as 
Antichrist. Since Antichrist was known to be active at the end of time, this pejora- 
tive equating of the Pope with Antichrist f~~r the r  emphasised the apocalyptic vision 
of the last days. This demonisation of the Pope was transferred to Catholic clergy 
generally, and to Irish Catholic dignitaries particularly. 

The Government confrontation with Waterford Corporation 
The constant government refusal to ratify the appointment of elected representa- 
tives to public office because of their rcfusal to take the Oath of Supremacy, creat- 
ed total chaos amongst Waterford's ln~micipal officers. There had been no recorder 
in Waterford city since the death of Sir Nicholas Walshe in April 1615. A gaol 
delivery was held in the city on 23 April 1616, by the acting mayor and sheriffs, 
with the assistance of Richard Wadding, who temporarily assumed the office of 
recorder." In a continuation of the confrontation of the citizens with the authorities 
on the question of religion, on 27 May the aldermen of Waterford elected 
Alexander Cuffe as mayor of the city. On 8 July, the Lord Chancellor Archbishop 
Jones tendered the Oath of Supremacy to the mayor-elect. Cuffe refused to 
acknowledgc King James 1 as Head of the Church, and was deposed by the prelate. 
John Browne was then elected mayor, while William Lincoll and Paul Sherlock 
were elected sheriffs. A11 three refused the oath and were deposed. An elderly Scot 
named John Joy, who had been born 'before the King's coming to the crown of 
Ireland', was then elected mayor. Sent to Dublin to take the oath, and to ensure his 
acceptability to the authorities before being sworn into office, Joy was refused by 
the state, 'because he was an alien'. The Commons of Waterford then elected thc 
staunch Protestant Sir Richard Aylward to office on 28 October, but he was reject- 
ed by the authorities 'by reason of his old age and impotencie'. On 3 December, 
Maurice Power of Adamstown was elected Mayor of Waterford, the fifth such 
incumbent of the office of first citizen within one year. Power 'whom likewise the 
state misliked, and therefore rejected' was equally unacceptable to the a~thorities.~' 

While Waterford's insistence on electing mayors who would undoubtedly refuse 
to take the Oath of Supremacy was unquestionably confrontational, it is also perti- 
nent that the Dublin authorities were equally as intransigent, since Joy, Aylward 
and Power were deposed from office on what appears to be spurious grounds. 
There is no doubt whatever that, while the Corporation of Waterford was totally 
obdurate in its public recusancy, the Dublin authorities were equally determined to 
force a confrontation at this time with Waterford city, using religion as their vehi- 
cle. 

The new lord deputy St John had assessed the general situation of Ireland as 
being acceptable to the crown, with only one major deficiency, since 'His Majesty's 
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general affairs here prosper in all things, saving in that strong combination of recu- 
sancy wherein the well or ill doing of this state does much depend.' Directing that 
the administration should make an example of Waterford, on 3 1 December 161 6 St 
John ventured an opinion 'concerning Waterford, that late contained divers mon- 
sters, without mayor, or recorder, or any form of government. The speedy proceed- 
ing against that corporation by seizure of their liberties will make the rest of the 
corporations to be better ad~ised.'~Wbviously it was now official policy to make 
Waterford a scapegoat because of its religion. Waterford Corporation, completely 
aware of the antagonism which it had aroused in both Dublin and London, belated- 
ly decided on a more placatory policy, electing Walter Cleare as mayor on 1 April 
1617. Not simply an urban houseowner, but the owner also of almost £50 worth of 
land within the city, Cleare was a perfect choice for the office, since not only was 
he a freeman both by birth and by admission, but most importantly he 'was a gen- 
tleman conformable to the king's religion'. On his election, the corporation swore 
Cleare into office and then despatched him to Dublin, where, being found accept- 
able by the authorities, Cleare swore to the King's Supremacy on 3 April 1617." 

With the government's intentions now clearly defined, the Lord President of 
Munster and other major judicial and governmental dignitaries assembled in 
Waterford to implement the newly formed strategy to discipline Watcrford by 
means of an Assize Court. At a religious service held in Christ Church Cathedral 
on the day preceding the court, the Protestant Dean of Waterford, Robert Daborne, 
delivered a sermon exhorting the assembled Ncw English officials to ruin 
Waterford city while attempting to justify their religious intolerance which had 
precipitated this crisis. Daborne preached to a distinguished congregation, headed 
by the Right Honourable, the Lord President of Munster, Donogh O'Brien, Earl of 
Thomond, who was attended by his retinue of officials, and by officers of the state. 
The assize judiciary also attended, led by Sir William Jones Knight, Lord Chief 
Justice of Ireland, and his assistant Gerrard Lodes Esquire, Justice of the Common 
 plea^!^ On the following day the court dissolved Waterford Corporation, confiscat- 
ing the city's royal charters, thereafter ruling the city through a military governor, 
with the support of a strong garrison billeted in the 

When Patrick Comerford returned to Waterford from his studies and reli,' ~ I O U S  

duties on the continent, he served as titular prior of the long dissolved Augustinian 
Priory of Kells, Co Kilkenny, but often made his abode in Waterford city. On 
examining a copy of Daborne's sermon, Comerford was incensed at its contents 
and, in 1619, he wrote an extremely pungent tract, entitled Irzquisitiorz o n  n 
Sermon, which was hyper-critical of Daborne personally, of the intolerant views he 
expressed, and of the untenable theological criteria he used to try to justify the 
actions of the New English officials. Comerford's book could not be published in 
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the hostile religious climate pertaining at that time, but was circulated privately, in 
manuscript form, among the Catholic Old English intelligentsia of Waterford and 
its e n v i ~ o n s . ~ V t  was published in Waterford in 1644 when the Catholic 
Confederation was in power, probably being the earliest book to be printed in the 
city, and was received with great respect and acclaim. It is the primary source for 
the history of Waterford city in this era, an extremely rare copy, one of only three 
still extant, being retained among the priceless records preserved in the Franciscan 
library at Dan Mhuire, Killiney, Co Dublin. The victimisation of the city persisted 
throughout the final seven years of the reign of King James I, thc threat of insur- 
rection among the citizens during this period being considered so great that a large, 
fortified, hill-top Citadel was re-constructed close to St Patrick's Gate, the guns 
mounted on the ramparts of this fortification being positioncd to fire inwards on 
the city, rather than outwards into the countryside from which, hitherto, Irish rebels 
might have been expected to attack.7y 

As the reign of James I was drawing to its close, the king's favourite, the Duke 
of Buckingham, wielded enormous power, acting as chief minister of the govern- 
ment. The grand design of King James, to marry his daughter to the Protestant 
Elector Palatine, and to have his son and heir, the Prince of Wales, wed a Catholic 
princess, thereby giving the English monarch enormous prestige and diverse influ- 
ence on the continent, paved the way for the proposed marriage of Prince Charles 
to the Spanish Infanta. In 1624 Prince Charles and Buckingham rode to Madrid on 
horseback in a bid to woo the Spanish princess. On their arsival in the Spanish cap- 
ital, they were welcomed by a Waterford-born priest, Fr Martin Walsh, then resi- 
dent in Madrid, who delivered the traditional Latin address of welcome in a poeti- 
cal oration entitled Purnaseis poeticn in advetztcl Caroli Walline Principi~.~' A copy 
of this Latin oration is preserved in the Gilbert Library, Dublin. Although com- 
pelled to agree to the Spanish monarch's demand for a relaxation of the Penal 
Laws against Catholicism as part of the marriage contract, Prince Charles's mis- 
sion failed, and he was forced to return in abject humiliation to England. The 
threat of a retaliatory war with Spain then caused the temporary suspension of anti- 
Catholic policies in I~eland.~'  

The history of Waterford, taken from the Wadding/Franciscan Manuscripts 
On 27 March 1625, King James I died at the Theobalds in Herefordshire, the 
Prince of Wales succeeding to the throne as King Charles I. In late summer, an 
English fleet, bearing an army of 10,000 men, sailed from Plymouth to attack the 
Spanish fleet. Ineptly commanded, it utterly failed to achieve its objective, failing 
to capture even the poorly defended port of Cadiz, and was compelled to retire 

78 Ibid., pp. 183-1 91. 
79 Edmond Downey, The Story of Waterford, (Waterford, 1914), p. 104. 
80 Thomas Wall, 'Parnassus in Waterford', in Irish Ecclesiastical Record Vol. lxix 

(1947), p. 54. 
81 Brendan Fitzpatrick, Seventeenth Century Ireland: The W m  of Religions, (Dublin, 

1998), p. 35. 



ignominiously." Regiments of demoralised soldiers from this Cadiz fleet were then 
disembarked in Ireland.81 Smarting from years of oppression and victimisation, 
with its trade ruined and its recusant merchants almost penniless, Waterford was 
cessed at £200 per month to maintain these soldiers. The first of a series of refer- 
ences from the Franciscan D ii manuscripts details the situation initially of the citi- 
zens and latterly of the soldiers: 

Waterford being charged with four companies, and no payment of 
money for them these many weeks past, the citizens are driven to bear 
the burden of them, and to cess themselves with their diet which 
amounteth by the month above 200 li besides their bedding, fire and 
candle-light.. .and so, for their recreation in fair weather they [the sol- 
diers] go a-nutting and hunting of blackberries like michers that run 
from school when they should be better occupied. And for the waste 
which they commit breaking down hedges and haws no better redress 
that to cry peccavi (I have sinned), as some of them do flexis genibus 
(on bended knees) 

One of these disillusioned and abandoned English soldiers, named John Felton, 
was the assassin who stabbed Buckingham to death on 23 August 1628. 

In 1625 the Irish Church suffered a double loss when death claimed Archbishop 
David Kearney of Cashel and, shortly afterwards, the Primate, Archbishop Peter 
Lombard of Armagh died at Rome. Archbishop Kearney was replaced by Thomas 
Walshe, who was born in Watcrford city in 1580, his father Robert Walshe being in 
prison for his religious beliefs at the time of his birth. The new archbishop's moth- 
er was Anastasia Strong (alias Strange), while his aunt Mary was the wife of Luke 
Wadding's uncle, the barrister Thomas Wadding. This Walshe family was very well 
endowed financially, and had founded and maintained the city's oldest and most 
important charity, the Holy Ghost Hospital. Thomas Walshe was engaged in the 
family business for two years before leaving Waterford in 1598 to commence his 
ecclesiastical studies at Lisbon. On 15 September 1602 he enrolled at the Irish 
College in Salamanca, later being ordained priest there. Following his ordination 
he made a tour of Europe:' and may have visited Malta at this time. The new 
Archbishop of Cashel was unique in that he is recorded as being an Old English 
priest of the Order of St John of Jeru~alern,"~ which meant that he was, in fact, a 
priest of the Order of Malta. Since the Irish Knights of Malta had been disbanded 
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in 1540, and their enormously extensive Co Waterford lands forfeited initially to 
the crown, passing then to the local gentry in the person of Sir William Wyse, this 
is the first record found of a member of this chivalric military order being active in 
Ireland in eighty-five years since the Dissolution of the Monasteries. 

The Primate, Archbishop Peter Lombard, died in Rome without ever visiting 
his archdiocese. Lombard was the author of a large manuscript, 'De Hibernia 
Insula Commentarius Stromaticus', dated 1600, which is preserved in the Berberini 
Archives, in Rome. Published in Louvain in 1632, some seven years after 
Lombard's death, under the title De Regno  Hiherniae Sarzctorzt~z Insula,  
Col~zn~e~z tar i z~s ,"~  this book contains a fascinating although somewhat partisan 
account of the Earl of Tyrone's spectacular successes in the latter part of the Nine 
Years War." It is quite obvious from the contents of Lombard's book that Luke 
Wadding's championing of all Irish Catholics, whether of Gaelic Irish or Old 
English ethnicity, derived from his Waterford family up-bringing, since his uncle 
by marriage had clearly enunciated such views long before Wadding had evcn left 
Ireland. Since Wadding's prominence as the leading Franciscan theologian of his 
era was responsible for his appointment as a member of the Sacred Congregation 
of the Propaganda and as a member of the Inquisition, all communications from 
Ireland to the Pope and to the Curia were routed through Wadding. Consequently, 
while most of Luke Wadding's letters to his co-religionists in Ireland have not sur- 
vived, numerous letters from Irish Catholic dignitaries to Wadding are extant, and 
can now be researched in the Archives of University College, D~lblin. 

There were ten nominations to replace Archbishop Lombard, Luke Wadding 
and his first cousin, Richard Wadding, an Augustinian eremite, being among the 
names mentioned, although it is well known that Luke Wadding had always 
spurned, and would continue to eschew ecclesiastical promotion. Wadding sup- 
ported his old friend and co-adjutor in the edition of Duns Scotus, the Gaelic Irish 
Franciscan Hugh MacCaughwell, previously Professor of Theology at Louvain 
and currently Reader in Theology in the Convent of Ara Coeli in Rome, 
MacCaughwell being duly appointed. Since seven of those nominated for the pri- 
macy were Old English, the three others being Gaelic Irish,"' it can readily be seen 
that Wadding's support of all Irish Catholics as equals was no mere lip-service. 
Unfortunately, Archbishop MacCaughwell died at Rome on 22 September 1626, 
leaving the Irish primacy vacant for another two years, until the translation of the 
Bishop of Kilmore, Hugh O'Reilly, in 1628. The appointment of the Franciscan 
Hugh MacCaughwell to the Archdiocese of Armagh, the elevation of the 
Franciscan founder of the Irish College at Louvain, Florence Conroy, as 
Archbishop of Tuam, and the consecration of the Franciscan Thomas Fleming as 
Archbishop of Dublin quite clearly indicates the extremely high regard in which 
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members of the Order of St Francis were now held, and the prestigious offices of 
ecclesiastical authority which they currently administered since, for a period, three 
of the four Irish archbishoprics had concurrently been in Franciscan control. 

The Franciscan Thomas Strange, who would prove to be a major player in the 
ecclesiastical history of Waterford city, landed in Waterford in May 1626. A 
colourful character who had accompanied the Irish Earls on past of their journey 
across Europe in 1607, who had lectured in the Spanish seminaries at both 
Santander and Medina de Pornar, who had survived incarceration by Muslim T~lrks 
who had captured a ship on which he was travelling to Segovia:" Strange ended 
his days as guardian of the Waterford Franciscan Friary. His correspondence with 
Wadding has survived, the extant letters providing details of life in Waterford in 
the seven years following his arrival. 

In March 1627 Archbishop Thomas Walshe of Cashel wrote from Madrid to 
Bishop John Roche of Ferns concerning the political manoeuvring, by various 
clerics and their supporters, for appointment to the vacant Catholic bishoprics in 
Ireland. This letter is distinguished by the fact that, in praising Luke Wadding for 
shunning such promotion, the Archbishop mentioned Wadding as a possible future 
Pope.(j2 In the following April the Archbishop of Cashel wrote from Madrid to 
Wadding. He complained that the Lords of the Inquisition, of which Wadding was 
a member, were nominating candidates to bishoprics in the Province of Cashel 
without consulting the Archbishop. Walshe then nominated the Franciscan 
Guardian of Waterford, Thomas Strange, for the See of Waterford and Lisrnore. 
Four months later Archbishop Florence Conroy of Tuam wrote to Wadding, again 
from Madrid, advising him that because of the very strong influence of Old 
English clergy in the cities, the new Earls of Tyrone and of Tyrconnell wanted only 
clerics who were supportive of the Gaelic Irish cause to be appointed to Irish bish- 
oprics. Florence Conroy recalled that most Old English clerics had preached 
against the Nine Years War which the previous Earls of Tyrone and of Tyrconnell 
had waged, until Pope Clement and Primate Peter Lombard had silenced them. He 
reminded Wadding that now, almost thirty years after the Nine Years War, the Old 
English clergy still sought to exclude Gaelic Irish clerics from all offices of dignity 
in the realm. Conroy warned Wadding that the Earls knew of his strategic impor- 
tance in the Inquisition, and were very aware of his huge influence with Cardinal 
Ludovico Ludovisi who had recently been appointed Cardinal Protector of Ireland. 
He further warned Wadding to be careful that the Earls should have no grounds for 
thinking that Wadding might promote Old English interests at the expense of the 
Gaelic Irish." 
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By 1628 the news that Luke Wadding was contemplating the writing of a work, 
tentatively titled the Sacred History qf Irelmzd, delighted not alone Irish Catholic 
dignitarics but evoked very considerable interest among Irish Protestant historians. 
It is a remarkable fact that such was the international and inter-faith recognition of 
Wadding's scholarship that high-ranking New English Protestant dignitaries of 
church and state, who were engaged in similar historical projects, sought contact 
with Wadding for the purpose of examining his work-in-progress, and for obtain- 
ing Wadding's views on what they themselves were writing. While each of these 
historians sought to promote his own agenda, which generally centred on gaining 
approval for his church, all the bitter opposition to rival religions which was frac- 
turing Irish life, was put aside as these historians explored their shared obsession. 

In August 1628 the Franciscan Guardian, Thomas Strange, wrote to advise 
Wadding that Strange's Protestant friend, the Master of the Rolls Baron Aungier of 
Longford, had written a history of the Archbishops of Cashel and Tuam, using 
original documents as his sources, and cnclosing copies of Aungier's writings for 
Wadding's perusal." A month later, the Catholic Archbishop of Cashel, Thomas 
Walshe, wrote to Wadding to offer to collect whatever tractates he could find 
which dealt with the history of the ancient kings of Ireland. Even though Wadding 
was an established author of prodigious repute, the archbishop had little compunc- 
tion in expressing his opinion that Wadding should dedicate his proposed history to 
the Pope as feudal lord of Ireland, and that he should use the name Waterford 
instead of the older, classical name of the city, Menapia." One of the principal rea- 
sons for this upsurge of intcrest in Irish history at this time was due to the avail- 
ability of large numbers of manuscript sources which had previously been closely 
guarded treasures in Irish monastic houses, but were now in open circulation 
because of the Dissolution of the Monasteries. 

Some six weeks after his original letter, Guardian Thomas Strange wrote to 
Wadding again to inform him that the vaunted Protestant historian, Archbishop 
James Ussher, had offered his assistance. Ussher was of the opinion that Wadding 
should begin to write his history from the time of Pope Gregory VII (1073-87), the 
instigator of the Hildebrandian Reform, because the Roman Registers, which 
Ussher considered a primary source, had been recorded since the time of Pope 
Gregory, and were readily available to Wadding in the Vatican Archives. Ussher 
suggested that the best historical source for the era before the Hildebrandian 
Reform was to be found in the manuscripts of Ireland and, since Ussher had a 
renowned library of such manuscripts, he promised to make these available for 
Strange to research on Wadding's behalf. In exchange, Strange enclosed 'a copy of 
some diligence,' which Ussher wanted Wadding to research for him in the Vatican 
 archive^.'^ 
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Guardian Strange wrote several other letters to Wadding on this topic. He 

informed Wadding that Primate Ussher possessed 'the very original Registers of 
the Church of Armagh,' which he had bound into six large tomes, and that he was 
prepared to lend these to Strange for research purposes on Wadding's behalf . He 
also told Wadding that Ussher was lavish in his praise 'of what Your Paternity has 
written at the close of the Hebraic Concordances in commendation of the holy 
tongue.' It is obvious from Strange's letterg7 that Ussher desired Wadding's recogni- 
tion and approbation of his work. Strange sent Wadding a note from Ussher, and 
asked that Wadding should reply to Strange, who would pass the answer to the 
Protestant primate. In this letter Strange also mentioned the beginning of the enor- 
mous confrontation between the regular and the secular clergy, which was about to 
cause such serious dissension in the Irish Catholic Church. 

Throughout the previous half century of religious intolerance and persecution, 
during which several Catholic bishops had been executed and those who had died 
of old age had not been replaced, when large numbers of secular Catholic priests 
had been expelled from Ireland, forcing those who remained to maintain an 
extremely low profile, it was the ordained members of the religious orders, partic- 
ularly the Franciscans, with the Cistercians and the Augustinians to a lesser 
degree, who had kept the Catholic faith alive by saying Mass for the laity, and by 
administering the sacraments. Now, in the late 1620s, a temporary relaxation of 
religious persecution allowed the implementation of the decrees of the Council of 
Trent, permitted the limited celebration of the Tridentine Mass and the introduction 
of the parochial system of church government. This involved the appointment of 
new bishops to the various vacant dioceses, these bishops in turn appointing new 
parish priests to run the different parishes. However, these new bishops exercised 
complete authority in their dioceses, even having control of the regular clergy of 
the religious orders. The only location where the members of the religious orders 
were exempt from the power of the bishop was within the confines of the hoiises 
of the order, and there were few religious houses remaining in Ireland. In exercis- 
ing their authority through the new parish priests, the bishops sought to curtail the 
faculties of the regulars to hear the Confessions of the laity, to preach, or to admin- 
ister the sacraments. The regulars flouted the authority of the bishops and of the 
parish priests, refusing to revert to the celebration of the sacraments only for mem- 
bers of their orders, as had been the practice prior to the Reformation. 

In addition to the internal problems of the city of Waterford, its port was also 
suffering serious difficulties. The seas around the south coast of Ireland teemed 
with pirates, Islamic Turkish corsairs making their threatening appearance in Irish 
waters for the first time in 1625." Other brigands were equally active since 
Waterford merchants suffered serious losses when six of their ships were taken as 
prizes by French privateers in 1627."' In an attack by Algerine corsairs on 
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Waterford shipping, Fr Patrick Comerford's brother was captured and held to ran- 
som. Having previously been recommended by the citizens of Waterford as their 
choice for bishop of the diocese,'"" intending on this account to visit Rome, 
Comerford gathered all the family finances that he could muster and travelled to 
north Africa to secure his brother's freedom by paying a ransom of £500.'0' 
Unfortunately, the newly liberated captive died when he reached Gibraltar, the dis- 
consolate Fr Comerford then proceeding to Rome. On 18 March 1629, in the 
Church of St Sylvester on the Quirinale in Rome, Cardinal Bentivoglio consecrat- 
ed Patrick Comerford as Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, the first incumbent of 
this Catholic bishopric for fifty-one years. Amid the massive celebrations of this 
event, which were orchestrated by Luke Wadding, a Latin address in booklet form, 
titled Coi-o~zatae Virtuti, was presented to Bishop Comerford. Three of the six stu- 
dents at the Irish College in Rome contributed Latin verses to this booklet, as did 
many of the distinguished Irish priests who served as professors in the various 
Irish Colleges on the continent. Two copies of this booklet survive, one being in 
the National Library, the other being in the Franciscan House of Studies at DLin 
Mhuire, in Killiney. 

An Augustinian eremite and a cousin of Luke Wadding, Bishop Comerford had 
known Wadding since boyhood when both had attended John Flahy's school in 
Waterford, and both had later studied at the Irish College in Lisbon. The two men 
shared an identical background, the new bishop's father, Robert Comerford, having 
been a merchant of Waterford, while his mother, Anastasia White, was a descen- 
dant of the Walshe family which had provided the previous Catholic Bishop of 
Waterford and Lismore, Patrick Walshe, who had died in 1578. As Bishop 
Comerford travelled homewards from Rome, he wrote to Wadding from Antwerp 
to inform him that he intended to travel to Calais where he hoped 'to meet some 
Mossieur that will let me go to London in his company.' He reported that there was 
a great scarcity of corn and a serious mortality of cattle in Ireland, which had 
caused numerous Irish to travel to England to beg and, on being expelled from 
England, they had travelled to France and to the Netherlands where Comerford 
obviously met some of them, much to his chagrin.lO' 

When Bishop Patrick Comerford did eventually arrive in Waterford, he found 
that the prospect for peace and religious toleration had been rendered more implau- 
sible than previously by the recall of Lord Deputy Falkland to London, the country 
being ruled in his absence by the two Lords Justice, Richard Boyle Earl of Cork, 
and Adam Viscount Loftus. When he had assessed the situation in his new diocese, 
a disheartened Bishop Comerford wrote a report of his findings to Luke Wadding, 
this being one of a number of such letters which give authentic and detailed 
descriptions of Waterford in the first third of the seventeenth century. Comerford's 
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travels through sunnier climes to North Africa, thence to Gibraltar and eventually 
to Rome, where he had remained for many months, living in the comfort and beau- 
tiful balmy weather of the Eternal City, caused him to suffer serious disillusion- 
ment when he returned to Waterford, since he wrote: 

This is the moistest, the stormiest, the poorest and most oppressed 
country that I saw since I left it until I returned.. . As for trading, or 
stirring in mercantile affairs, which is nervus hc4j~ts regni, it is so 
much forgotten that scarce a man doth know of what colour is the 
coin in this miserable island; the dearth of the last two years, the uni- 
versal sickness, the oppression of soldiers, beside other encum- 
brances, have made Ireland to seem to be in very deed the land of ire: 
at sea a merchant can not navigate two days when he is taken either 
by a Hollander, or a Dunkerk, or a French pirate, or a hungry 
Biscayner. The weather is so rainy and drowsy continually, that it 
doth imprint, and indent in a man's heart a certain saturninc quality of 
heaviness, sloughishness, lasiness and perpetual ~10th. '~' 

In inrorming Wadding that rumours of his death were rampant, Comerford sug- 
gested that these rumours were being intentionally spread by people who wished 
Wadding dead but that, since Wadding's well being was so cssential for his compa- 
triots, God would not deprive the distressed Irish nation of its patron. Comerford 
reported that although he was living amongst his kinsmen in Waterford, their atti- 
tude towards him scemed to have changed, those from whom he had expected the 
most friendship being particularly unfriendly. Comerford attributed this to jealousy 
'for being preferred afore themselves,' in his appointment as bishop, which sug- 
gests that he is referring to his kinsman, Guardian Thomas Strangc, who had been 
recommended as a candidate for the bishopric by the Archbishop of Cashel. He 
commented that he was aware that his unpopularity was due to his attempts to 
enforce the decrees of the Council of Trent by re-establishing parishes in the dio- 
cese. 

He detailed the confrontation he had had with the Cistercian Fr John Maddan, 
who had seized control of the Abbey of Mothel, despite Comerford's proving to 
him that Mothel had always been an Augustinian foundation. The bishop then 
recorded a serious confrontation which had occurred recently, asking Wadding to 
use his authority as a member of the Congregation of the Inquisition and of the 
Congregation of the Propaganda to rectify the situation. Some time previously, 
Comerford had installed a parish priest in St John's Grange, which was located 
between Clonmel and Fethard. Edmond Everard, a man who had been marsied in 
Waterford but who had left his wife and later became a priest, had threatened the 
parish priest, forbidding him to say Mass or to administer the sacraments in that 
church over which he, Everard, claimed sole jurisdiction since he claimed to be the 
only representative in Ireland of the Order of St John of Jerusalem, to which the 
church had previously belonged. Comerford had checked with the Archbishop or 
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Cashel, Thomas Walshe, a member of the Order of St John of Jerusalem, who had 
since gone to Spain on a visit, the Archbishop advising Comerford 'to keep the 
right and jurisdiction o l  thc diocese.' However, when the parish pricst began to ccl- 
ebrate Mass in the church in the presence of a large congregation of parishioners, 
Edmond Everard jumped up to the altar, seized the chalice, the paten, the host and 
thc vellum, and gavc them to his horse-boy who then galloped away with them to 
Fethard. Comerford urged Wadding to involve the Roman cardinals in remedying 
this affair, 'otherwise o ~ l r  church will be brought to a most miserable state, the 
authority of the pastors despised, the laity scandalised, thc Protestants encouraged 
and sacrileges many committed.' 

On the following 8 January, Comerford wrote to Wadding again, voicing the 
same complaints as in his previous letter.'OJ Such a duplication of letters was quite 
common, since these communications were intended to be delivered by hand, by 
people who were travelling to continental destinations, a method of communica- 
tion which was not always cffective. Six weeks later, Comerford wrote to 
Wadding, mainly in Spanish, congratulating him on the favour recently shown him 
by the Pope. 'Estoy muy ufano con 10s favores que el padre santo haze a vuestra 
paternidad, y en esto mismo se ve que es padro santo, pues save honrar a un hijo 
tan santo como vuestra paternidad,'"'5 Comerford urged Wadding to use his new 
appointment in the Congregation of the Breviary to ensure that the feastday of the 
Patron Saint of Ireland, St Patrick, be given adequate dignity by being recorded in 
the new Roman Breviary. He then mentioned to Wadding that the Franciscan ora- 
tory in Dublin had been raided by the Dublin authorities on St Stephen's Day, and 
many of the congregation arrested. This was 'the Protestants encouraged' of which 
he had warned Wadding in a previous letter. The religious persecution had recom- 
menced under the shared government authority of the Earl of Cork and of Viscount 
Loftus, to such a severe extent that the bishops of Ireland had sent Thomas White 
of Dublin, and the regular clergy had sent Guardian Thomas Strange of Waterford, 
as envoys to the London court to try to gain some relaxation of the religious intol- 
erance. 

It is apparent that Comerford's appeal to Wadding to use his official position of 
influence with the Roman cardinals to gain action on the controversy between the 
various Catholic clergy in Waterford, had proved effective. The bishop reported 
that Edmond Everard had returned the altar equipinent which he had stolen, had 
apologised, and was unlikely to offend again. Similarly, Fr John Maddan had 
recalled his monk from Mothel and had promised not to interfere there again, 
while Guardian Thomas Strange had apologised for his actions and had proinised 
that the Franciscans 'would err no more by speaking ill of me.' Despite these 
improvements, which were directly attributable to Wadding's intervention, 
Comerford still lived a solitary existence, isolated from and snubbed by the regular 
clergy. This separation from his colleagues caused him to record his miserable 
loneliness in the hauntingly plaintive eloquence of his cri-de-couer, 'I live more 
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like a prisoner than a free man.. . and I protest to you that unless I could get a bed 
and my table in my poor brother Philip's house, I know not where to blow my 
nose.""" 

The religious persecution, which had recommenced at the Franciscan oratory in 
Dublin, increased both in extent and in degree, causing the Franciscan Provincial, 
Valentine Brown, to inform Wadding that the persecution was such as was not 
known since the first suppression of the Catholic religion in the kingdom."" The 
first reports then came from Guardian Strange, who wrote from London to 
acquaint Wadding of the lack of progress in the attempts being made at court to 
gain some improvement in the treatment of Irish Catholics. He described how he 
and Thomas White had sought to persuade the Catholic Queen of England. 
Henrietta Maria, to influence her husband, King Charles I ,  to grant freedom of 
conscience to Irish Catholics, but to no avail, and with no prospect of success in 
the future. Aware that peace negotiations between England and Spain were about 
to be successfully concluded, Strange suggested that Wadding should petition the 
Pope to write to the King of Spain seeking the insertion into the peace treaty of a 
clause demanding that King Charles I should allow that 'his Catholic subjects in 
Ireland, England and Scotland may enjoy the same liberty of conscience as the 
heretics or Protestants enjoy in France' and, if this was too much to ask, then 'let 
him pray that it be granted at least for Ireland.' Strange urged Wadding to force this 
issue, because he claimed that God himself had elevated Wadding to a position of 
such prominence as to be able to effect a result of this magnitude."'" 

A month later it was realised that there was no hope of Queen Henrietta Maria 
influencing King Charles to grant toleration to Irish Catholics, which caused the 
disconsolate Guardian Strange to return to Waterford. When Bishop Comerford 
next wrote to Wadding, he thanked him for his letter dated 25 April which had 
reached Waterford on 24 August. Unfortunately this letter from Luke Wadding has 
not survived, but some passing references in the bishop's reply to it give some inti- 
mation that Wadding was announcing improvements recently made at St Isidore's. 
A new altar had obviously been installed, probably of marble since Comerford 
expressed his pleasure at the news that it had polished up very well. Wadding had 
also discussed the vegetable garden, since Comerford congratulated him on its pro- 
duce, jokingly asking Wadding to send him 'a dish of your belle scarole or your 
tender broccoli' in return for which Coinerford would send 'a dish of our sweet 
shamrocks .' 

Instancing that all public oratories had been forfeited to the crown, with 'all ser- 
mons, communialities and publicity of functions' prohibited, Comerford blamed 
this heavy-handed reaction on the fact that some Catholic clergy had been too for- 
ward. He described Waterford as poverty-stricken and desolate. 'near half the town 
ruinous, not able to make eight hundred men, whereas we saw the year before the 
plague eighteen hundred men march on Whitsun Tuesday.' This suggests that a 
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thousand men of the city had perished due to a recent epidemic of plague. The port 
had also suffered grievously, since he reported that only two small barks survived 
on the river. Comcrford attributed all this misfortune to the fact that the citizens of 
Waterford were notorious for misappropriating the church lands and the benefices 
which previously had provided a living for the clergy, a situation which he quaintly 
described as 'our townsmen only do eat the church livings of most parts of this 
county.' Comerford then asked Wadding to obtain for him the monastery of Cahir, 
in the diocese of Lismore, which had belonged to the old Order of Canons Regular 
of St Augustine, but was now vacant through the death of Fr Patrick de St 
Nicholas .I0" 

In one of the very few letters from Rome to Waterford to have survived, an 
Augustinian, Maurice Connell, wrote to Bishop Comerford to inform him that hc 
had attended the recent chapter of the Augustinian Order in Rome where, despite 
serious opposition from two vicars-general, he had succeeded in gaining for 
Comerford the vicariate of the Canons Regular for the following five years. 
Connell acknowledged that Comerford's appointment had only been possible 
because of the very significant help of Luke Wadding.'"' Connell also reported that 
there were about thirty Irish Franciscan seminarians at St Isidore's, and two stu- 
dents in the Irish College under the guidance of the rector, Fr John Ponce, from 
Cork. 

Although Guardian Strange had apologised to Bishop Coinerford and had 
promised not to confront him further, he continued to air his grievances. He com- 
plained bitterly that his sister had recently been delivered of a child, but that he 
had been refused permission to christen thc infant. He rcported that all the Irish 
Franciscan houses had been forfeited to the king, and that the friars could not even 
rent a house in which to live in community because such a rented house would be 
liable to forfeiture also. Consequently, the Franciscans now lived in their kinsmen's 
houses and, since their accustomed mode of living on alms was also forbidden, 
they were utterly dependent on the charity of their relatives. Now that they were 
elderly, bearing the weight of many years of toil, seeking neither rents, revenue, 
benefices nor wealth, they only wished to have enough food and clothing to enable 
them to serve God and his people. Many of his brethren were so disillusioned that 
they were threatening to become parish priests, or to quit the country."' The con- 
troversy heightened when the Archbishop of Dublin became embroiled with a 
Dublin cleric named Patrick Cahill. Travelling to Rome to progress his cause, 
Cahill levelled spurious charges against the Franciscans to some doctors of theolo- 
gy attached to the Sorbonne University in Paris, which led to some unsubstantiated 
accusations of non-conformity being levelled against the friars. 

In May 163 1 Guardian Strange wrote to excuse himself for not having commu- 
nicated with Luke Wadding for six months. He blamed this lapse on an accident 
which had befallen him before Christmas, when a flint splinter had hit him in the 
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eye, blinding him. Following prolonged treatment he had now recovered. Strange 
informed Wadding that Sir James Ware had sent him some material which should 
be of assistance for Wadding's History of Ireland, asking Wadding to acknowledge 
this kindness in writing, and to include an acknowledgement in the preface of the 
forth-coming book. Strange confirmed that Patsick Cahill's accusations had caused 
enormous damage, which would not easily be overcome. Commenting bitterly on 
Bishop Comerford's intractability with respect to the regulars, he complained that, 
having spent so many years serving the Church in Ireland, it was shameful that 
they should now be rewarded by being censured as heretics and schismatics."' 
There follows in Codex D ii of the Franciscan MSS twenty-one different letters 
from various Irish church dignitaries condemning Cahill's spurious charges against 
the regulars, all of which letters supported the regulars and sought punishment for 
Cahill, who was now irz vinc~dis I~zquisitionis ( in the chains of the Inquisition). 

Strange laid the blame for the entire debacle on the Bishop of Ossory, the 
Bishop of Cork and on Matthew Roche, blaming these three prelates for causing 
Bishop Comerford of Waterford 'to dance to their tune.' He claimed that 
Comerford's actions had so antagonised the Catholic community of Waterford that 
not even two households in the city would offer the bishop a meal. Strange con- 
firmed that he only wrote these criticisms because Luke Wadding had asked in his 
previous letter that the Franciscan Guardian should 'write with sincerity of the said 
Patrick."" 

In the last of the letters of Bishop Comerford to Luke Wadding preserved in 
Volume D ii of the Franciscan MSS, the bishop reported that all the authors of the 
malicious charges laid at the Sorbonne and elsewhere had been discovered, and 
that corrective action was being taken against them. While he denied that he had 
ever participated in promoting these charges against the regulars, he nonetheless 
could not refrain from criticising them. He confided in Wadding that the main fault 
with the regulars was their lack of discipline, complaining that if a person of 
integrity reported a regular to his superior for misconduct, the superior would 'hold 
it a point of honour' to defend the transgressor, no matter what the chatge. Aware 
that their superiors did not dare to correct them, many regulars felt they could 
behave as they pleased, and their unrestrained conduct had resulted in a total loss 
of respect for the clergy by the laity. Comerford asserted that there were now so 
many clergymen in the country that there was almost one for every house. He 
reported that most of these clcrgy were idlers, who said Mass in the morning but 
then spent the remainder of the day playing, or drinking, or vagabonding until mid- 
night. Although mainly poorly educated, he reported that they traded on the 
respect they considered to be their due as ecclesiastics, 

to live idle, sit among the best, go well clad and, if I would say it 
swagger: a man can not sit at table to a raffe of tripes, but presently 
one or two clergymen will come in; a man can not visit a friend in 
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town or abroad, but there he shall meet two or three clergymen, and 
alas, very few spend one hour in a twelvemonth to teach the Christian 
doctrinc or instruct young childer."" 

The situation was little better at the hierarchical level, since the Archbishop of 
Cashel, Thomas Walshe, also wrote Wadding a tale of woe. He complained that the 
bishops of the various dioceses resented his authority over them, to such an extent 
that they wanted the archbishop to obey the constraints which the Council of Trent 
placed on his authority, while they themselves refused to obey thc decrees of the 
council. The primary cause of the disagreement was that the bishops resented the 
archbishop's visitations of the various dioceses, which caused Walshe to seek clari- 
fication from Wadding as to his authority and jurisdiction in this regard. 
Archbishop Walshe attributed thc hostility to his Old English provenance, record- 
ing 'I am opposed by all my suffragans, repining that any, and specially a 
Waterford man, should have that eminency over them.' He failed to mention that 
he was a member of the Order of St John of Jerusalem, the earliest lay members of 
which order had been the Knights Hospitaller who, with the Knights Templar, for 
four and a half centuries had been the enforcement agents of the Anglo-Norman 
control of Ireland. In tandem with Comerford's assessment of too many clergy in 
Co Waterford, Archbishop Walshe ventured the opinion 'This Province is now as 
full as it can hold of bishops.'"' 

Alternative seventeenth-century Catholic histories of Ireland 
It is evident that Luke Wadding's Sacred History of Ireland, which had evoked 
such interest from both Catholic and Protestant dignitaries in Ireland, was never 
completed. However, two major histories of Ireland by Catholic writers were pub- 
lished at this time, which may have influenced Wadding not to proceed to publica- 
tion with his work. The first of these histories was Foras f iasa  ar Bireann, a two 
volumed work, written in Irish by the Old English priest, Geoffrey Keating, which 
was not completed until after 1633, but before 1638. Geoffrey Keating was born in 
New Burgess, in the present parish of Ballylooby, in the Diocese of Waterford and 
Lismore, in c.1570. His Irish language stylc suggests that he was educated in one 
of the bardic schools, that run by the MacGrath family near Cahir being suggested 
as the most likely. Recognised to be a Doctor of Theology who was continentally 
trained, the location of his ordination is unknown, although he is recorded as being 
at the Irish College in Bordeaux in 1600. He is also known to have had links with 
the University of Rheims. Having returned to Ireland, he was pastor at Outragh, 
near Cahir, in c.1610, and was also associated with Tullaghortan (Castlegrace), in 
the same district, both parishes being in the Diocese of Waterford and Lismore."" 
He was eventually forced to flee from these parishes, having fallen foul of the Earl 
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of Thomond. Possessed of private means, and now free from his parochial obliga- 
tions, Keating began the research for his history by searching for the manuscripts 
which formerly had been preserved in the Irish monasteries prior to their dissolu- 
tion. Following I~is return from the continent, Keating spent the remainder of his 
adult life in the Diocese of Waterford and L i s m ~ r e . " ~  

Keating's motivation in writing his history was to contradict contemporary 
New English writers who were deliberately portraying Irish culture in derogatory 
terms. In ref~~ting authors such as Edmund Spenser, Meredith Hanmer (a previous 
Dean of Christ Church Cathedral, Watcrford), Fynnes Morryson, Sir John Davies 
and many others, Keating claimed that, since they were unable to read or to speak 
Irish, they could not consult the primary sources of the Gaelic manuscripts which 
were then readily available, and consequently their con~positions were invalid. 
Keating's ruisorz d'ktre was to record the contents of the Gaelic manuscripts before 
they were all destroyed. His Foras Feasa nr ~irearzrz was acclaimed by all Irish 
Catholics; the Gaclic Irish made it their own, and it also vindicated the Old English 
assertion that their faith could be traced back to St Patrick.""n addition to his var- 
ious, mainly elagic poems, Keating also wrote Eoclzair Sgiatlz an AiJi.inrz (A key to 
the Shield of the Mass), and Tri Bhiorgaoithe an Bha's (The Threc-forked Shafts of 
Death). Dr Keating is thought to have died in 1650 and to be buried in the now 
roofless mortuary chapel at Tubrid."" 

Although Keating worked in isolation, scarcely aware of the similar work being 
done contemporaneously in Co Donegal, in Rome Luke Wadding was aware of the 
Old English, Gaelic scholar's endeavours. The Bishop of Fcrns wrote to Wadding 
to inform him of the fact that Keating had a work-in-progrcss, using somewhat dis- 
paraging language, almost as if to dismiss Keating's efforts as being bound to fall 
short of Wadding's standards, 

One Doctor Keating laboureth much, as I hear say, in compiling Irish 
notes towards a history in Irish. Ye man is very studious, and yet I 
fear that if his work come ever to light it will need an amendment of 
illwarranted narrations; he could help you to inany curiosities of 
which you can make better use than himself. I havc no interest in ye 
man, for I never saw him, for he dwelleth in M~mster.'~" 

The second Irish history of the early seventeenth century was Anna'la 
Rioglznchta ~ irearzn ,  now popularly known as the Annals of the Four Masters. 
This history survives as the most extraordinary testament to the enlightenment of 
the Irish Franciscan dignitaries who resided at the Irish College of St Anthony, in 
Louvain, in the Spanish Netherlands, at that time, and to the superb scholarship, 
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total commitment and sheer physical endurance of its principal author, Michciil 0 
ClCirigh. Little is known about 0 Clkirigh's early life, except that he was born 
c.1590, at Kilbarron, in Co Donegal. He first attracted attention when he became a 
lay-brother at St Anthony's College, Louvain, in 1623. Concerned by the pejora- 
tive tones and the disparaging content of those histories of Ireland being written by 
New English authors, the Franciscans of Louvain decided to counteract the 
decreasing reputation of Irish culturc which these New English writers were foster- 
ing on the continent. For this purpose, in 1625 they dispatched MicheAl 0 ClCirigh 
back to Ireland, his mission being to collect all the historical material still available 
on thc lives of the Irish saints, particularly of those who were responsible for the 
scores of missionaries who had re-kindled the Christian faith in E~lrope during the 
Dark Ages. 

Having returned to Ireland, 0 ClCirigh lived in the Franciscan oratory near 
Ballyshannon, Co Donegal, from where he traversed the length and breadth of the 
country, seeking manuscripts, copying their contents when he could not obtain 
possession of the originals, assembling the resource material from which to 
achieve his purpose. Each winter he returned to Ballyshannon where, sheltered 
from the inclement weather, he recopied and embellished the notes he had com- 
piled during the more amiable seasons of the year. As he sought material from 
which to write the lives of the Irish saints, he also assimilated all the historical 
data, local and provincial, which came to his attention. Miche5l 0 ClCirigh is said 
to have spent eleven years on this project, the principal benefit or which proved to 
be, not the intended hagiographies, but the accumulated historical lore, the details 
of significant local occurrences and the records of the fast disappearing Gaelic 
Irish culture. 

0 ClCirigh recruited three laymen who participated in all these endeavours, 
sharing the hardship of travelling to search out manuscript sources, dealing with all 
classes of people who might further their endeavours, sharing the dangers from 
hostility, from wind and from weather. These gifted, persistent men were Fear 
Fcasa 0 Maol Chonaire, CLi Choigcriche 0 Clkirigh, and C6 Choigcriche 0 
Duighgeanniiin, all or whom, in conjunction with their leader, Micheiil 0 ClCirigh, 
have been dubbed the Four Masters, from which title the English name of their 
famed literary work eponymously derives.'?' The Annals of the Fozw Masters was 
first published sometime between I632 and 1636. 

Over two centuries later, the same methodology was employed by John 
O'Donovan and his assistant, A. Cunie, who walked the length and breadth of 
Ireland, examining fields, boundary ditches and ruins, in preparation for the 
Ordnance Survey of Ireland. O'Donovan's 01-d;iance S~irvey Letters, written from 
his lodgings scattered throughout the country, are masterpieces of their genre. 
However, O'Donovan's linguistic genius as a scholar of medieval and of early 
modcrn Irish was recognised when he translated Arzrdc~ Rioghtcina ~ireanrz into 
English, which was then republished as the Annals of tlze Four Masters. Bred, born 
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and reared at Attymore, near the south Co Kilkenny village of Slieverue, as a 
schoolboy O'Donovan daily walked five miles from his home to his school in St 
Stephen's Street in Waterford city, retracing that tedious physical journey each 
evening.'" 

Laudianism in Waterford 
It was the arrival of Sir Thomas Wentworth as Lord Deputy of Ireland in 1633, 
removing the Earl of Cork and Viscount Ely from joint control of the government, 
which caused a readjustment in the direction of the thrust of religious intolerance. 
Lord Deputy Wentworth was a firm supporter of the recently appointed 
Archbishop William Laud of Canterbury, whose policies demanded a permanent 
episcopal hierarchy, the renewal of a sacramental liturgy in thc Establishcd 
Church, and a reduction in the Calvinist emphasis on Double Predestination. 
Archbishop Laud and his followers questioned the widely held doctrine of Double 
Predestination, which totally denicd the possibility that a sinless lifestyle or prayer 
and devotion, of performing good works and of charitable endeavour could have 
beneficial effect on the salvation of a person's soul. By claiming that an individual 
had no control over his destiny, since God had predestined the salvation of the 
Elect and the damnation of the Reprobate, with the members of each category 
already chosen by God, the doctrine of Double Predestination denied the availabil- 
ity of God's Grace, and the benefit of acquiring God's Grace. Laud's theology not 
only challenged the doctrine of Predestination, but it also changed the emphasis of 
the current Protestant liturgy away from its concentration on the preaching of the 
Word of God towards the celebration of a sacramental liturgy in which, by the cer- 
emonial actions of the vicar, God's Grace could readily be obtained. This liturgical 
innovation involved the removal of the communion table from its customary posi- 
tion in the nave to a new site in the eastern end of a church, where it was to be scp- 
arated from the congregation by altar rails. Laud's insistence that only those clergy 
who wore the surplice and hood while reading the Prayer Book were permitted to 
deliver the scrmon, introduced his concern that, while conducting sacramental ser- 
vices, the vicar should be properly vested. He further demanded that bishops 
should live in their diocese, and should not alienate episcopal estates. The increas- 
ing involvement of ecclesiastical courts in investigating the ownership of impro- 
priations and tithes presaged the growing influence of clerics in secular affairs."' 
To many Protestant people, these innovations were collectively seen as 'a plain 
device to usher in the Mass.' 

William Laud's tenure as Archbishop of Canterbury, rrom 1633 onwards, wit- 
nessed his development into the most hated archbishop in English history, while 
the unqualified support of King Charles I for Laudianism gradually united most 
Protestants against the monarch. Totally committed to abolishing non-conformity, 
Laud was determined to bring the Church of Ireland into conformity with the 
Church of England, this objective consequently necessitating the disciplining of 
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those who regarded bishops as 'the spawn of Papists.' As a direct result of this poli- 
cy, which was implemented on the arrival of the new Lord Deputy, Sir Thomas 
Wentworth, the splitting of the Protestants of Ireland into the two groups of 
Establishment and Dissent can be traced to 1633, when Laudianism supplanted the 
wide Puritanism of Archbishop James Ussher.'" The main clerical proponent of 
Laudianism in Ireland was the Lord Deputy's chaplain, John Bramhall, who 
accompanied Wentworth to Ireland in 1633. In the following year, John Bramhall 
was appointed Lord Bishop of Deny, as such representing the Lord Deputy in the 
Upper House in the 1634 Irish Parliament, and thereafter gradually taking effective 
control of the Church of lreland when Archbishop Ussher, who disapproved of 
most aspects of Wentwosth's religious policy, retired from the political arena. 

Lord Deputy Wentworth, Archbishop Laud and Bishop Bramhall agreed that 
the principal problem for the Protestant Church in lreland was not the Catholic 
threat, or recusancy, but lay with the non-conformity, the theological extremism, 
the abuscs and the poverty of the Established Church itself.'?' Their efforts to 
counter these difficulties would provide the religious history of Waterford for the 
following seven years. The report compiled by Bishop John Bramhall of Derry, 
particularly the item that 'the alienation of Church possessions by long leases and 
deeds are infinite - the Earl of Cork holds the whole Bishopric of Lismore at a rent 
of 40s or 5 marks by the year,' incensed Wentworth.""n the quest for the renewal 
of a sacramental liturgy, which involved the erection of an altar in thc eastern end 
of a church, the Lord Deputy humiliated the Earl of Cork by forcing him to 
remove a family vault which he had erected in this location in the interior of 
Dublin's St Patrick's Cathedral, also forcing him to reposition an ostentatious mon- 
ument to the peer's late wife in a more obscure location within the same cathe- 
dral.Iz7 Prompted by Cork's humiliation, the Earl's kinsman, the Protestant Bishop 
Michael Boyle of Waterford then wrote to Archbishop Laud early in 1634, claim- 
ing to be an old college acquaintance of the archbishop, and supplying a detailed 
list of all the lands now held by Cork, which had previously been the property of 
the See of Waterford and Lismore. Bishop Boyle complained that, because of 
Cork's land acquisitions, 'out of my two united Bishoprics of Waterford and 
Lismore, the temporalities whereof are about £1,600 a year, there is not above £50 
rent a year reserved, that, with £100 a year which I hold in commendam, is all I 
have to maintain me and my family."'x These precise details were then forwarded 
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to Wentworth by Laud, and became the basis for the protracted litigation between 
the Lord Deputy and the Earl of Cork, which continued while the new Irish 
Parliament sat in Dublin. William Dobbin and Richard Strange represented 
Waterford city in the parliament which opened on 14 July 1634, while James 
Walsh and John Power represented county WBterford."A later session of this par- 
liament legislated for the payment of a royal subsidy totalling £120,000 sterling, to 
be collected in three annual instalments. The yearly contribution stipulated for 
Munster was £11,200, of which Waterford city paid £606, while the county paid 
£756 per annum."O 

Convocation met in conjunction with Parliament to arrange ecclesiastical legis- 
lation, and to review clerical taxation. The Laudian ambition for this legislature 
was the containment of the strident implications of the 1615 Irish Articles by curb- 
ing the Antichrist theology, by refusing to support Double Predestination, by 
emphasising the doctrine of free will and thc efficacy of good works, and by sup- 
porting the sacraments as a source of grace. This agenda was to be accomplished 
by imposing the Thirty-nine English Articles and the 1604 English Canons on the 
Church of Ireland.'" While these objectives were achieved by Wentworth through 
the combined endeavours of Bishop John Bramhall of Derry and of a recently 
arrived English cleric, John Atherton, they were perceived by radicals as inferring 
a truce with Roman Catholicism, and as tantamount to a declaration of war on non- 
conformity in the Church of Ireland. The Primate, Archbishop Ussher, objected 
vehemently to the suppression of the Irish Articles, declaring 'I stand fully convict- 
ed in my conscience that the Pope is Antichrist, and so, if I should be so mad as to 
worship the beast, or to receive the mark of his name, I must be auToKazaKptzo5 
(self-condemned), and justly expect the Vengeance threatened agamst such."" 

The Earl of Cork had enjoyed an income of £700 per annum from the College 
of the Blessed Lady the Virgin of Youghal, resisting all Church or government 
attempts to redress this situation. An aggravated Lord Deputy Wentworth eventual- 
ly forced Cork to compromise, by threatening a public hearing and a £30,000 fine. 
Cork reluctantly agreed to pay a £15,000 fine, in three annual installments of 
£5,000, the last of which was paid on Midsummer Day 1638."' Encouraged by this 
settlement, and by John Atherton's success in recovering church lands in the 
Diocese of Leighlin, Wentworth appointed Atherton as Bishop of Waterford and 
Lismore, to succeed Bishop Michael Boyle, who had died on 27 December 1635. 
Although Laud had some misgivings, Wentworth appointed Athertosi specifically 
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to confront the Earl of Cork, and to regain some of the vast acreage of land previ- 
ously owned by the See of Waterford and Lismore. King Charles ratified this 
appointment on 5 April 1636."' 

During the reign of Queen Elizabeth I, particularly when Patrick Walshe (1551- 
78), Marmaduke Middleton (1 579-83), and Miler Magrath (1 583- 1607) had, each 
in turn, served as Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, large scale alienation of 
Church lands had occurred. The proposed regaining of these Church lands by the 
newly installed Bishop Atherton was a New English attempt to address the ques- 
tion of the Old English ownership of these lands, and also to overcome the Old 
English control of massive estates as a result of the Dissolution of the Monasteries 
in 1540, all of which acquisitions had placed the control of impropriate rectories in 
the hands of laymen. An impropriate rectory was one in which the rector was 
either a monastic corporation, or a layman, such as the king. The rector drew the 
income from the rectory, but granted a portion of it to a vicar. In Ireland, the crown 
itself held large numbers of impropriations, although most of these were farmed 
out to the local gentry. Archbishop Laud developed what appeared to be a simple 
but long-term stratagem, which stipulated that as soon as a lease expired, it was to 
be granted to the vicar concerned, who would continue to pay the old rent to the 
crown, but would also lease the land to tenants for a much shorter term, and at an 
increased rent 

The implementation by Bishop Atherton of the royal edict demanding 'the 
proper and decorous performance of Divine Service,' which authorised a Laudian 
inspired High Church liturgy, caused additional problems for Waterford. This 
Laudian rite required the wearing of ceremonial robes by the officiating cIergy, and 
the utilisation of long-discarded, ornate altar furnishings, such as chalices, candle- 
sticks, and other addenda. Since the very valuable altar plate of Christ Church had 
been deposited for safe keeping with Waterford Corporation in June 1577, Bishop 
Atherton instigated legal proceedings to have these treasures returned, or their 
value to be paid to the cathedral by the Corporation, also demanding the return of 
the vestments. The Corporation resisted, but was eventually forced to acquiesce, 
the vestments being returned by the mayor in 1637. One of these copes is currently 
011 display in Waterford Treasures Museum, the remainder being in the National 
Museum of Ireland. These are the only vestments extant in Ireland, which can be 
attributed to the pre-Reformation Irish church, and as such, they are both unique 
and priceless."When a receipt was produced showing that the Dean and Chapter 
of Christ Church had given the church plate, totalling 784 ounces of silver, to the 
Mayor and Corporation of Waterford on 10 June 1577 for safc keeping, Wentworth 
ordered the present mayor, Richard Butler, and the corporation 'to buy for the 
church 784 ounces of silver as Bishop Atherton and the Dean and Chapter think 
fit, and pay the plaintiff £50 co~ ts . ' "~  The Corporation was also forced to refurbish 
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the body of the cathedral, but was granted burial concessions within the cathedral 
in r e t ~ r n . " ~  

Bishop Atherton further imposed his authority in Waterford by instigating 
changes in the interior of Christ Church Cathedral to facilitate the reintroduction of 
a sacramental liturgy, but a more appreciable impact resulted from his efforts to 
recover the revenues of his diocese. He quickly sought to question the validity of 
church leases, since 'some of these were forged at such times as our Chapter Seal 
was fraudulently kept out of the hands of our predecessors.' Endorsed later, on 16 
June 1638, this petition caused Wentworth to authorise Atherton to 'summon per- 
sons and inspect leases.'"" Following scrutiny, and by obtaining an Order of 
Council, Bishop Atherton then sought the surrender of contentious leases, which, 
in most cases, he immediately re-granted, but for considerably shorter tenures and 
for increased rents. Those leases which were clearly fraudulent, or were suspected 
of being counterfeit, were seized, and were not re-issued to the previous tenants. 

The bishop seized four houses, situated close to the cathedral, for non-payment 
of rent. In Ardfinnan manor, fraudulent leases, made by a previous bishop, Miler 
Magrath, in favour of his daughter Shelagh, were discovered. Richard Butler, an 
illegitimate offspring of the Ormond Butler family and son of Shelagh Magrath, 
was dispossessed of lands at Neddans in this manor, as was Walter Prendergast, the 
re-assessed rents from Ardfinnan eventually realising £270. 12s. per annum."" 

In the manor of Bishopscourt, which lay some three miles to the southeast of 
the city in the Barony of Gaultier, Bishop Atherton made most significant gains, 
some of which have a very particular relevance to this treatise. He obtained an 
order of the Irish Council, which demandcd the immediate surrender by John and 
Peter Sherlock of half a ploughland in Ballygarron, which had last been leased by 
Bishop John Weatherhead to John Quoane on 4 October 1591. On its surrender, 
Atherton leascd it back to the Sherlock brothers for a much shorter term, and at an 
increased rent. On 8 July 1638, by an Order of Council, he forced Peter 
Archdeacon to surrender three ploughlands in Kyleogue, which had last been 
leased on 2 October 1623 by Bishop Michael Boyle to Richard Archdeacon, whose 
son Peter had then inherited the lease. Bishop Atherton leased this very large estate 
back to Peter Archdeacon for a reduced term but at an increased rent.I4' 

In the adjoining townland of Kilcarragh, Richard Butler owned the lease on half 
a ploughland. This Richard Butler appears to be the same person who had served 
as Mayor of Waterford in 1636,'" and who had unsuccessfully resisted Bishop 
Atherton's lawsuit to recover the ornate vestments and the church plate of Christ 
Church Cathedral. Furthermore, it is also likely that he was the same son of 
Shelagh Magrath, who had been forced to surrender the lands of Neddans in 
Ardfinnan manor. Richard Butler contested Bishop Atherton's application to the 
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Council, but to little avail since, although Atherton was ordered to pay Butler £100 
for the improvements he had made to the property, the bishop regained the proper- 
ty but leased it to Henry Hall, clerk, in trust for Richard Butler, for a reduced term 
of 10112 years at a rent of £15 sterling per annum.I4? 

The real surprise came when Bishop Atherton called in for inspection the lease 
made by Bishop Patrick Walshe on 20 January 1578, granting a half ploughland in 
Ballycally alias Knockanispick to Thomas Wadding, Gentleman, for a term of 
eighty-one years at the derisory rent of 8d. per annum, in return for Wadding's 
legal counsel. In 1637, this lease still had twenty-two years to run. It is apparent 
that the Wadding family challenged Atherton in the courts, the case still continuing 
at the time of Atherton's death. While it is evident that this Wadding family, which 
had practised law in Waterford for at least three generations, which had supplied at 
least four members to the Jesuit Order, which had supplied a recusant mayor of 
Waterford and a recusant MP for the city who had suffered imprisonment in 
England for his religious beliefs, whose uncle Luke Wadding had such a high pro- 
file at Rome, would not readily submit to a Church of Ireland bishop, a Protestant 
Church dignitary. Joshua Boyle, Register of the Diocese of Waterford and Lismore 
prior to 1641 and reinstated after Cromwell's scourge, wrote in 1663 'this lease is 
counterfeit, as appears by the dorse thereof. Their deeds, John late Bishop, had 
voided if he had I i ~ e d . " ~ W h i I e  the legality or illegality of the lease will never now 
be known, it is apparent that, in common with most affluent Waterford families of 
this era, this branch of the Wadding family did engage in land dealings. A bond, 
dated 26 November 1637, is preserved in the Archives of the University of 
Southampton, by which Matthew Allen of Palinerston and Laurence Dowdall of 
Athlomny, Co Meath, bound themselves to Thomas Wadding of Waterford. 
Wadding was to receive an annuity of £40 sterling per annum from the lands in 
Palmerston, and a clause was included whereby failure to pay him his money 
would entitle Wadding to distrain the entire estate.'" It is further recorded that, at 
that time, Thomas Wadding Esquire, was the iinpropriator of the entire rectory of 
Kilbarry, valued at £20 per annum, which rectory, prior to the Dissolution of the 
Monasteries in 1540, had belonged to the Knights Hospitaller. 

It was estimated that Atherton's actions with respect to the manor of 
Bishopscourt alone had produced a revenue of £170 sterling,'"%hich was a 
marked improvement on the £50 total income claimed by Bishop Michael Boyle 
for his entire diocese. In the manor of Kilbarmeaden, Atherton achieved similar 
results, new rents from lands being estimated at £79. 16s. 4d., with the Chiefries 
realising 537.6s. 4d., to bring in a total income from this area of £1 17.2s. 8d. 
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Bishop Atherton gained spectacular successes against the Earl of Cork, forcing 
a settlement in Lismore manor amounting to £115. 16s. 8d. However, his greatest 
achievement was in the manor of Ardmore. Holding nine ploughlands and '1.1 of a 
demesne, (i.e. at least 1,480 acres of prime land), with forty-four years left to run 
on its lease at the derisory rent of £4. 10s. per annum, the Earl of Cork was forced, 
by an Order of Council dated 19 July 1637, to surrender this entire manor, worth 
£500, and to pay £500 to the bishop to build a new bishop's palace. The house 
called Bishopscourt, which was located north of Waterford's Christ Church 
Cathedral, and which almost certainly is the present-day Deanery in Cathedral 
Square, was then almost entirely rebuilt by Bishop Atherton, using this £500.'.'" 
Within two years Bishop Atherton had leased this huge expanse of land to various 
tenants at a rent of £453, while the Chiefries of Ardmore came to £48. 15s. 9d., 
bringing the total income from this manor to £501. 15s. 9d.I" Consequently, the 
total increase in revenue for the Diocese, following a little over a year of 
Atherton's endeavours, and with minimal litigation, amounted to £1,175. 7s. Id. 
per annum, and more was yet to come. 

By now, Bishop Atherton had antagonised not only the mayor and aldermen of 
Waterford city, but had also alienated many of the leading citizens, notably mem- 
bers of the Wadding, Butler, Wyse, Sherlock and Power families. Additionally he 
had outraged many New English landowners, the most prominent being the Earl of 
Cork, although the latter was now resident in England. Since the prelate's endeav- 
ours to regain Church lands were continuing, it came as no surprise that an attempt 
was made to undermine his position. On 17 June 1640 an ecclesiastical scandal, 
which was to reverberate throughout the three kingdoms, broke with the announce- 
ment in the Irish House of Commo~ls of 'a Petition prefesred by Jo Child against 
the Bishop of Waterford."" The charge against Atherton, of sodomy with his stew- 
ard John Child, was prosecuted under the Act against Buggery, which had only 
been enacted in the previous parliament. Atherton's proctor, John Child, and an 
unnamed menial servant of the bishop, were the main accusers. An embittered 
defendant from one of the bishop's Episcopal Courts, named Howell Powell, was a 
major prosecution witness. The Catholic Sheriff of Waterford, Luke White, who 
arrested the bishop, and the recorder of the city, Pierce Butler, who was the chief 
prosecutor, were also implicated in the case.15" 

Although he strenuously denied the charge of sodomy, Atherton admitted to 
various other indiscretions. Found guilty of buggery on 28 November, and sen- 
tenced to death, Bishop Atherton was hanged in Dublin on 5 December 1640. At 
his own request, he was buried on the same day in a rubbish pit located in a corner 
of the cemetery of the Church of St John the Evangelist in Fishamble Street, a 
foundation where he had served as Prebendary in 1630. John Child was later 
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arraigned on an uncertain charge, thought to be of perjury, and being 'convicted 
thereto at the Assizes holden in Cork,' was hanged at Bandon Bridge in March 
1641 ."' While there were some who were convinced that justice had been done, 
the vast majority of observers inclined to the view that the whole affair had been 
contrived. There has been considerable speculation as to the identity of Atherton's 
nemesis. The bishop himself ruled out intel=-confessional strife between Catholics 
and Protestants, recording 'none of the Romish church, though differing from me 
in points of religion, had a hand in this complaint against me.!Is2 Consequently, the 
attack must have been by reformers, Laudianism itself being the target of either a 
direct assault on episcopacy, or a retaliation for confiscation of property, or both. 

The climate of antagonism towards episcopacy, which was reaching serious 
proportions in Ireland and in England, was rampant in Scotland. When King 
Charles attempted to force the use of the new Prayer Book in a liturgy being cele- 
brated in St Giles Cathedral, Edinburgh, on 23 July, a pre-arranged furious tumult, 
involving formidable Edinburgh matrons, completely disrupted the liturgy. When 
the king refused to withdraw his demands, a group of petitioners elected a repre- 
sentative body, which drew up a National Covenant in February 1638, denouncing 
the Canons and the Prayer Book. As the situation deteriorated, and in defence of 
their Kirk the Scots Covenanters invaded England in 1639, overran the border 
counties, captured Newcastle, and threatened the north of England. Promoted as 
Earl of Strafford, and recalled by the king to take charge of the deteriorating situa- 
tion, Lord Deputy Wentworth left Ireland on Good Friday, 3 April 1640, never to 
return."' Due to being forced to compromise with the Scots in the north of 
England, Wentworth was later imprisoned in the Tower of London pending an 
impeachment trial.'54 The Puritans then presented a monster petition for the aboli- 
tion of episcopacy, root and branch, which led to the imprisonment of Archbishop 
Laud on a charge of treason, on 18 December.Ii5 Following an inconclusive trial, 
and by now totally abandoned by the king, the House of Lords passed a Bill of 
Attainder against Wentworth on 8 May, condemning him to death. Archbishop 
James Ussher, who also had left Ireland permanently, attended Wentworth in the 
Tower prior to his execution, walking with him up Tower Hill to the execution site. 
The Earl of Cork, who gave evidence against Wentworth, recorded in his diary, 
'The oppressing Earl of Strafford ... the twelfth of this month, was beheaded on the 
Tower Hill of London, as he well dese~ved.'"~ 
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The Insurrection of 1641 
Now, with Laudianism in decline, with Catholicism rejected, Puritan Calvinism 
would reign supreme. King Charles ratified the elevation of Archibald Adair as 
Church of Ireland Bishop of Waterford and Lisrnore on 13 July 1641"'. Their 
rejection by the New English and the threat of severe anti-Catholic repression led 
the Old English to reluctantly consider a union with the Gaelic Irish. The prcdic- 
tions of Lord Carew, of Sir Patrick Barnwall, and of Archbishop Ussher, that a 
Catholic union of the Old English and the Gaelic Irish would foment a war, 
became a reality. On 22 October 1641, Sir Phelim O'Neill led a well-planned 
attack on those Protestant settlers in Ulster who held the estates of Catholic fami- 
lies. The Ulster rebels declared that their revolt was in defence of their liberties, 
and that they were not in arms against the king. As reports of Catholic atrocities 
became commonplace, eschatologically minded Protestants considered that 
Armageddon was now in progress, that the island of Ireland had become the plain 
of Megiddo, that the four horsemen of the Apocalypse were about to wreak their 
terrible havoc of war, famine, plague and vengeance. The Rebellion of 1641 was in 
being. 

Although they failed in their objective of capturing Dublin Castle because the 
authorities had been forewarned, the rebels nevertheless achieved considerable 
success countrywide. Under the control of the staunchly Protestant mayor, Francis 
Briver, Waterford city opposed the rebellion, acting as a haven for rcfugees as New 
English settlers in county Tipperary and in county KiIkenny were forced from their 
lands. Stripped by the insurgents, scantly clad settlers gathered at Carsick-on-Suir 
and in Waterford, seeking to be ferried downriver to Passage East to take ship for 
England. Despite the best efforts of Mayor Briver in confiscating boats to impede 
their passage, 600 to 700 rebels crossed the river Suir, landing at Faithlegge, and 
marauding then through the Barony of Gaultier, they plundered farms and seized 
~a t t1e . l~~  They audaciously rampaged to within a musket shot of the city, only the 
sight of the municipal ordnance and the armed citizens on the walls deterring them 
from attacking. 

Isolated from the city by three miles of open country, the principal land-owner 
in the area, the Catholic Sir Thomas Sherlock, also defied the rebels from the safe- 
ty of his securely fortified Butlerstown Castle. As the insurgents moved westwards 
in county Waterford, they encountered spirited resistance from tenants of the Earl 
of Cork. Shortly thereafter Lord President St Leger checked their progress, slaugh- 
tering some 200 rebels, and hanging those captured alive. Sir Thomas Sherlock 
actively supported St Leger, being prominent in conducting executions, an 
involvement which would not quickly be forgotten."" 
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Mayor Briver maintained control with some difficulty in Watesford city, since 
many of the citizens now sympathised with the rebels. On Christmas Eve, 300 
barely clothed New English refugees from Kilkenny city and county assembled on 
the northern bank of the Suir, opposite Waterford city, seeking to be ferried to safe- 
ty in the city, there to await transport to England. Mayor Briver ordered that £60 
worth of broadcloth should be given to clothe these half-naked New English 
refugees, but some citizens objected to this charity being granted from the munici- 
pal purse. When the leader of the protesting citizens, Alexander Leonard, a previ- 
ous mayor-elect who had suffered imprisonment in Cork for his recusancy, was 
summoned to Mayor Briver's house, a fracas developed during which Leonard was 
overpowered by superior numbers but not before he had badly bitten the Mayor's 
hand in the m216e. An Irish spy, William Fennel, was active in the city throughout 
the festive season, investigating public opinion, and hopeful that the municipality 
would join the revolt, but the mayor held firm. Twice in the period from Christmas 
Day to Twelfth Day the city's alarm was sounded to alert the citizens to danger at 
the walls, while the sentinel drum was struck at 2 a.m. on one occasion, to call the 
guard to arms to prevent Irish raiders from stealing a ship moored in the river.'6o 

Despite the declaration by Bishop Patrick Comerford that the war, which the 
Catholics were about to wage, was not only just in the sight of Heaven, but was 
necessary for the welfare of Irish  catholic^,'^' the Protestant Mayor Briver contin- 
ued to oppose the rebels. When, in early March 1642, the Irish army of Lord 
Mountgarret appeared before the walls demanding admission, Briver once again 
refused, but the two Catholic sheriffs, John Power of Castletown and William 
Woodlock, opened the gates to admit the insurgents. The municipal constables 
were then ordered to ai-rest English Protestants living in the city or in the hinter- 
land, to seize their goods, and to imprison them. These prisoners were sent to 
Passage East, to join the 350, mainly Co Kilkenny, refugees who were already 
there under the control of Captain Strange. Due to scarcity of rations, and over- 
crowding, forty-eight of these refugees died at Passage, before they could be 
shipped to Eng1and.lG2 

Exactly as Dr White had done in 1603, Bishop Comerford repossessed Christ 
Church Cathedral, purified it from alleged Protestant taint, and commenced the 
public performance of Catholic liturgies there.'" The Franciscan Guardian, 
Thomas Strange, repossessed the Holy Ghost Friary, publicly celebrating Mass and 
preaching in the old church, and commenced the building of a new dormitory for 
fifteen named friars who would live in community there, as of old.'" The lay 
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improprietor of the Priory of St John, Francis Wyse, took the keys of this long 
vacant church from the vicar, and allowed the Cistercians to re-inhabit the build- 
ings which they had forfeited 106 years previously. Bishop Comerford condemned 
this unauthorised intrusion of regular clergy and obtained a preliminary judgement 
against the Cistercians. Supported by Wyse, the monks refused to vacate the 
premises, resulting in the bishop placing the church under interdict. Undeterred by 
this sanction the monks continued in residence. Bishop Comerford then imposed a 
second interdict, local and personal, excommunicating the Cistercian community, 
the monastic buildings, and the grounds. A later judgement by the Supreme 
Council of the Confederacy in favour of the prelate eventually forced the 
Cistercians to once again abandon St John's Priory.165 

Retribution for his involvement in hanging rebels was then exacted from Sir 
Thomas Sherlock, his stronghold at Butlerstown Castle being captured by Lord 
Mountgarret's forces. Sherlock was stripped, 'and turned out of doors in his slip- 
pers, without stockings, leaving him only a red cap and a green mantle, so that 
himself, his lady and children had not so much as their wearing clothes left, nor 
any relief, but dependent solely on their friends."" Sherlock and his family trav- 
elled to Dublin, and eventually sought refuge in England. 

Although Waterford had joined the rebels the efforts of Mayor Briver, in resist- 
ing from October to March, had paid handsome dividends for the New English 
cause. Briver's control of the port of Waterford had prevented continental Catholics 
from supplying essential arms, munitions and money to the insurgents, and had 
given time for the English navy to reinforce the fleet which patrolled the approach- 
es to the estuary. Briver's resistance had allowed the authorities sufficient time not 
only to prevent supplies reaching the rebels, but to ensure that the port would 
never realise its strategic importance throughout this conflict. The long-predicted 
fusion of Old English and Gaelic Irish Catholic interests was officially realised on 
24 October 1642, when twenty-five peers (eleven spiritual and fourteen temporal) 
and 226 commoners convened in the Confederation of Kilkenny. The newly 
formed Supreme Council of the Confederation then appointed Luke Wadding as 
their agent in Rome.167 Active since the beginning of the revolt in trying to influ- 
ence the Pope, and known as 'the beggarman of Europe' because of his continually 
seeking arms and finance, Luke Wadding was foiled by Briver's stance from using 
Waterford as the supply port of the rebellion in this critical early period. 

As Archbishop Laud of Canterbury, whose policies had achieved such dramatic 
results in Waterford, came to trial on charges of treason and popery which lead to 
his e x e c ~ t i o n , ' ~ ~ a n  entirely new, Catholic, ecclesiastical regime was coming to 
prominence in Ireland. At Luke Wadding's request for a papal representative to 
liaise directly with the Confederacy, Pope Urban VIII, whose diplomatic liaison 
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with the French born Queen of England was of such value to King Charles, 
appointed the Oratorian priest Fr Pier Francesco Scarampi as papal envoy to 
Ireland. When he arrived at Wexford in July 1643, Scarampi delivered 30,000 
Roman crowns to the Confederacy, and significant military supplies, all of which 
had been collected by Luke Wadding.'" Negotiating through the Earl of Ormond, 
King Charles offered toleration of religion in Ireland in return for military support 
to confront the parliamentarian army, as civil war had broken out in England in 
1643 Thus, religious unrest had spiralled into military confrontation in the three 
kingdoms, the Scottish Presbyterians having rebelled against the crown in 1639, 
the lrish Catholics having revolted in 164 1 ,  and the English Puritans' confrontation 
with Laudianism in 1642, having resulted in the English Civil War. Aware that the 
Gaelic Irish were opposed to such an offer, but that the Old English were likely to 
accept, Scarampi voiced his concerns that the Old English might agree without 
obtaining adequate guarantees for Catholicism. Desperate for military assistance, 
King Charles sought help from a previous High Sheriff of Co Waterford, Sir 
Robert Walsh, commissioning Walsh as Colonel to enlist and equip a regiment of 
1,000 foot, and to bring them to England to support the mona~ch."~' Clearly the 
city's history of militant royal support, and its continuing allegiance to the crown, 
were well known to the king. 

Meeting in Kilkenny in conjunction with the General Assembly of the 
Confederation, Convocation issued a decree on 1 June 1645, declaring that any 
intended treaty with the English crown would not be considered unless it unequiv- 
ocally guaranteed that all churches, monasteries, and ecclesiastical lands, which 
were currently in Catholic possession, would be retained in Catholic hands."' 
Immediately afterwards, the significant defeat of King Charles at Naseby in 
Northamptonshire, proved to be not only a major reversal for the royalist cause, 
but also brought Oliver Cromwell to prominence, not simply as the driving force 
behind the New Model Army, but particularly as a successful strategist who could 
combine military success with Puritan zeal. Documents captured at Naseby con- 
firmed the involvement of the monarch with papists, and revealed his plans to 
utilise an army of Irish Catholics to reinforce his troops. The King commissioned 
the Catholic Earl of Glamorgan to negotiate at Kilkenny with the Confederate 
Catholics, and to offer significant concessions in return for such reinforcements."' 
However, the death of Pope Urban VIlI on 29 July 1644 and the consequent vacan- 
cy in the Vatican, introduced an urgency into Glamorgan's mission to achieve suc- 
cess before a new Supreme Pontiff might disturb the status quo. In the interim, 
Glamorgan reached agreement with the Confederate Catholics on 25 August,I7' 
conceding complete toleration for Catholics, who also were to be permitted to 
assume public office, and to be exempt from Protestant clerical jurisdiction. The 
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confirmation of Catholic ownership of all churches and lands currently in Catholic 
hands was also acknowledged, in return for which, 10,000 fully equipped Irish 
troops were to be shipped to England, under Glamorgan's command. 

When Pope Innocent X came to the papal throne on 15 September 1644, the 
Confederate Catholics sent Richard Bellings to Rome to congratulate the new 
Supreme Pontiff on his election, and to seek further papal support for the Irish 
Catholic cause. Bellings was informed that Pope lnnoccnt X had decided to recall 
the previous Pontiffs representative, Scarampi, and to appoint a fuIly accredited 
Papal Nuncio to Ireland, in the person of the Archbishop of Fermo, Ciovanni 
Baptiste Rinu~cini."~ While there are unconfirmed reports that Wadding received 
some votes in the Consistory which elected Pope Innocent X, it is confirmed that 
the members of the Confederate Council were so appreciative of the massive con- 
tribution which Wadding had made to their cause as to seek his elevation by the 
Holy See to the rank of cardinal. Three archbishops, and Lords Castlehaven, 
Mountgarret, Netterville and Fermoy all signed a memorial seeking such an eccle- 
siastical honour, but Wadding is said to have declincd the elevation, and to have 
prevented the Council's design in his regard.'7i 

The Spanish sympathies of the new papal regime shifted the ecclesiastical 
emphasis in Ireland, elevating the regular clergy, as exemplified by the Franciscan 
friars, to prominence, at the expense of the diocesan orientated Old English clergy. 
John Brenan, a future Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, and Oliver Plunkett, a 
future Archbishop of Armagh and latterly a saint of the Roman Catholic Church, 
accompanied Scarampi on his return to Rome. Prior to his embarkation, Papal 
Nuncio Rinuccini was thoroughly and comprehensively briefed on Irish affairs by 
Luke Wadding, and by the reports of Pier Francesco Scarampi. En rouie to Ireland, 
Rinuccini set sail from France, bound for Duncannon Fort, but was lucky to escape 
capture by one of the frigates patrolling the approaches to Waterford Estuary. 
Rinuccini made landfall in Kenmare Bay on 21 October 1645, receiving a tumul- 
tuous reception everywhere as he progressed towards Kilkenny, bringing money 
and arms to the Confederates."Wespite the fact that Glamorgan's agreement had 
already been negotiated with representatives of the General Assembly, Rinuccini 
revoked this treaty because the agreement was secret and verbal only, the law of 
the land still being anti-Catholic. On 21 December, the nuncio dictated an expand- 
ed treaty, demanding that the next Lord Lieutenant of Ireland should be a Catholic, 
that Catholic bishops should sit in the next Parliament, and that the Supreme 
Council should not be dissolved until the king had formally ratified these religious 
 concession^."^ Obviously the Vatican had now taken control of the Confederacy, 
and bowing to papal authority, the Catholic Glamorgan tamely agreed to the nun- 
cio's demands. Since the king could not be seen to agree to such proposals, 
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Glamorgan's mission collapsed, and to save face for the monarch Ormond arrested 
Glamorgan. Royalist forces, which had been holding out at Chester awaiting the 
arrival of 10,000 men from Ireland, were now overcome, Chester falling to parlia- 
mentary forces on 3 February 1646. Three months later, on 5 May, King Charles 
surrendered to the Scots near Newark. 

Following the collapse of Glamorgan's mission, and the surrender of the king, 
the Supreme Council and Ormond were obliged to come to terms as quickly as 
possible. In spite of opposition from Rinuccini, the Confederates agreed to a peace 
with Ormond, which was proclaimed in Dublin on 30 July. Within days, heralds 
were dispatched from Dublin to proclaim this peace in Waterford first, since 
Waterford was recognised as the second city of Ireland, before then proclaiming it 
nationwide. The heralds arrived on 8 August, but the strong influence of Nuncio 
Rinuccini and of Bishop Comerford can be seen in the refusal of the citizens to 
direct the heralds to the mayor's quarters, and the reluctance of the mayor to 
receive them. Discomfitted and unable to fulfill their mission, the heralds retired 
from Waterford to proclaim Ormond's Peace in Kilke~~ny.'~' 

Encouraged by Owen Roe 0 '  Neill's defeat of General Munroe at Benburb on 5 
June, and incensed by Ormond's Peace being declared in the seat of the 
Confederacy, Rinuccini determined to remove the official ecclesiastical govern- 
ment from Kilkenny, and called for an 'Assembly General of the Superior and 
Inferior Irish Clergy' to convene immediately at Waterford. Bishop Patrick 
Comerford and Guardian Thomas Strange were pleased to welcome a considerable 
number of senior Catholic clergy to Waterford, but the location of the synod in the 
refurbished Franciscan Holy Ghost Church, attests the increasing prominence now 
being given to the regular clergy, as typified by the Friars Minor. The motion for 
debate was 'Whether they are to be declared as Perjured who do receive the Peace 
contained in the Thirty Articles admitted to us by the Supreme Council, and if they 
be to be Excommunicated as Perjured Per~ons?"~Disregarding the five major reli- 
gious concessions, and the twenty-five civil concessions which had been conceded 
in Glamorgan's aborted treaty but which currently could scarcely be realised since 
the king was in captivity, and focussing on Ormond's Peace, the Synod of 
Waterford decreed, 

Nemine Contradicente, That all and every one of the Confederate 
Catholics, who shall adhere to the like Peace, or shall consent to the 
Maintainers thereof, or otherwise embrace the same, be held 
Absolutely Perjured, especially for this Cause, That in these Articles, 
there is no mention made of the Catholic Religion, and the security 
thereof, nor any care had for the Conservation of the Privileges of the 
Country, as is found promised in the Oath; but rather all things are 
referred to the Pleasure of the Most Renowned King.. .I8' 
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It was ordered that this decree should be written in both English and Irish, and 
should be published in all places, but that the question of excommunication was to 
be referred to the next session. lssued following debate 'for many days', this decree 
was 'dated at Waterford the 12th of August 1646', and was signed firstly by the 
nuncio, then by two archbishops, then by ten bishops, and lastly by various abbots, 
priors and vicars apostolic. In all, excluding the nuncio, thirty-four dignitaries of 
the Irish Church signed this decree, the signature of Bishop Patrick Comerford 
coming fifth on the completed list.lx7 This Ecclesiastical Council of Watesford is of 
prime significance since it ratified the rift between Rinuccini and the Supreme 
Council, and indicated the direction which future cvents would follow, and further 
confirmed that the nuncio had the support of the majority of the Irish Catholic 
hierarchy at this time. 

Nuncio Rinuccini and most of the Catholic hierarchy remained at Waterford, 
monitoring developments, while the Supreme Council of the Confederacy defied 
the decree of the Waterford assembly by continuing to proclaim Ormond's Peace. 
On 18 August, 'in detestation of this heinous and scandalous disobedience of the 
Supreme Council, '  Bishop David Rothe of Ossory issued an Edict of 
Excommunication, declaring 'by these Presents, according to the prescriptions of 
the Sacred Canons, pronounce and command henceforth a General Cessation of 
Divine Offices throughout all the city and suburbs of Kilkenny, in all churches, 
monasteries, and houses in them what~oever."~~ 

With the seat of the Confederacy now interdicted, the Ecclesiastical Assembly 
reconvened in Waterford on 24 August, on this occasion in Christ Church 
Cathedral, and issued a Declaration to the Supreme Council enunciating several 
 proposition^.'^' They demanded that the concessions which had been contained in 
Glamorgan's treaty should be incorporated in Ormond's Peace, and should be 
insisted on by the Confederacy, intimating that Ormond had always had the author- 
ity to repeal the Penal Laws and to suspend Poynings Act, but that he had refrained 
from doing so. lnsisting on promotion for O'Neill and Preston, they further 
demanded freedom to exercise the Catholic religion, Catholic involvement in the 
university, restoration to estates, and immunity from increased taxation or from 
being garrisoned. The Supreme Council replied on 10 September, agreeing to all 
the demands emanating from Waterford.'" Nevertheless, backed by 0 '  Neill's 
army, the Papal Nuncio vacated Waterford, marched to Kilkenny, there deposed 
and imprisoned most of the members of the Council, and shortly thereafter a new 
and compliant Supreme Council was nominated. Ten days later, on 5 October 
1646, Rinuccini issued 'a Decree of Excommunication against such as adhere to 
the late Peace, and do bear arms for the Heretics of Ireland, and do aid or assist 
them."x5 Fully supportive of the nuncio, Waterford city was totally unaffected by 
these censures. 
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The new, clergy dominated General Assembly re-affirmed its stance by issuing 
a declaration against Ormond's Peace on 2 February, indicating that, even after 
four months of interdict, there was to be no relaxation of its strictures. However, 
the clerical majority on the General Assembly, and an incident which originated in 
Rome, began to make supporters of Ormond's Peace suspicious of Luke Wadding's 
total loyalty to the Old English cause. When Dean Massari of Fermo was on the 
point of returning from Rome to rejoin Archbishop Rinuccini of Fermo in Ireland, 
Luke Wadding made contact with the intending traveller. The most treasured Irish 
possession retained at St Isidore's was the sword of the long-dead Hugh 0 '  Neill, 
late Earl of Tyrone. Appreciating its enormously emotional significance, on 8 May 
1647 Luke Wadding gave the sword to Massari to deliver it as Wadding's gift to 
the Gaelic Irish general, Owen Roe 0' Neill, a kinsman of the late earl. Massari 
had the sword blessed by the Pope and then, on delivering the weapon to Owen 
Roe 0' Neill, he declared that it was a personal gift from Pope Innocent X to the 
Gaelic Irish general. The Old English saw the gift, which they termed 'the Papal 
Sword of State,' as a token of the Pope's and the Franciscan's favouring of the 
Gaelic Irish. The simmering resentment of the Old English reactivated the genera- 
tions-old controversy concerning the church lands which the Dissolution of the 
Monasteries had delivered into the possession of the Old English gentry, but which 
the Gaelic Irish claimed justly belonged to them. Ill-tempered muttering on this 
topic were soon clearly heard and, since Luke Wadding was known to have been 
the custodian of the sword which had sparked this agitation, his name was includ- 
ed in the strongly-voiced complaints. The timing of this episode was unfortunate, 
since it occurred as the feud between the Old English and Rinuccini was just 
beginning.'86 

Of the estimated 400 Franciscans then present in Ireland, as many as 370 are 
thought to have been opposed to Ormond's Peace, but feelings ran so high that 
some friars demanded the setting up of two separate Franciscan Provinces, one for 
the Gaelic Irish and one for the Old English friars. When this controversy became 
so heated as to become almost unmanageable, with Luke Wadding's agreement a 
French Franciscan, Fr Raymond Carron, was sent to Ireland to try to secure unity 
in the order. On his arrival, Carron attacked the Gaelic Irish friars who supported 
Rinuccini. Luke Wadding called for Carron's immediate recall, but the episode 
clearly demonstrated that, since the election of Pope Innocent X had caused a tem- 
porary loss of influence by the Berberini Cardinals who were Wadding's patrons, 
Wadding no longer commanded the singular papal influence on Irish affairs which 
he had previously enjoyed.'87 

Rinuccini's continuing pressure forced Ormond to open negotiations with the 
English parliamentarians. A combined Confederate army, under the joint command 
of 0 '  Neill and Preston, now threatened Dublin, causing Osmond to authorise Lord 
Clanricard to negotiate. While Rinuccini and 0 '  Neill dismissed Clanricard's over- 
tures, Preston gave them serious consideration since, if the Confederates turned 
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their backs on the king, they would undoubtedly face a parliamentary army with- 
out any royalist support. Being seen to vacillate, Preston was ordered, under pain 
of excommunication, to withdraw. In reality it was here, at this stage, that the king 
was officially abandoned in Ireland, by the buckling of Preston and the Old 
English under the power of the nuncio. The Confederate cause collapsed, never to 
recover. On 7 June an English parliamentary army, under the command of Colonel 
Michael Jones,  landed at Dublin. Ormond surrendered Dublin to the 
Cominissioners for the English parliament on 19 June.lSs 

As Lord Inchiquin took control of Munster, his troops were soon threatening 
Waterford. On 31 May 1647, Mayor Paul Wadding reported to Preston that the 
enemy cavalry was scouting within a mile of the city's walls, and, since a siege of 
the city seemed imminent, he asked Preston to march with 500 men to their aid. 
Three weeks later, Mayor Wadding could report that the arrival of Captain Edward 
Geoghan and Captain Anthony Hore, with their respective companies, all of whom 
were billeted in the city, had relieved the threat to Waterford.IY9 Finding himself 
unable to assemble a constitutional government, the Papal Nuncio was forced to 
agree that those leaders of the Confederacy, whom he had overthrown in 1646, 
should now be restored to office. The alarm at Waterford signified to the citizens 
and to the Confederacy that their only option was to negotiate with Lord Inchiquin, 
in an attempt to unite against the coming English parliamentary threat. Rinuccini 
vetoed a draft treaty with Inchiquin in April 1648, and withdrew from Kilkenny to 
0 '  Neill's camp at Jamestown. Undeterred, the Supreme Council proclaimed the 
truce with Inchiquin, and made preparations to mount a military campaign under 
Preston, which caused Rinuccini to issue an edict of excommunication against all 
those who supported the inchiquin treaty.Iq0 This was a disastrous development, 
because the Old English were now convinced that the nuncio was acting for purely 
political rather than religious reasons. 

At that time a Confederacy commission, comprised of Nicholas French, Bishop 
of Ferns and Nichols Plunkett, aided by Luke Wadding, was engaged in negotia- 
tions with Pope Innocent X. Because the Irish question was so tangled, the Pope 
had expressed his reticence to undertake f ~ ~ r t h e r  commitment in the affairs of 
Ireland. Then news arrived in Rome that the Irish Catholics were once again seri- 
ously divided, and that Rinuccini had excommunicated those, principally the New 
English Catholics, who sought agreement with King Charles. In support of his 
nuncio, Pope lnnocent immediately suspended negotiations with the commission, 
refusing to receive Wadding, French or Plunkett again. Wadding an-anged an inter- 
view with Cardinal Roma for the Irish envoys, who persuaded the cardinal to write 
to Rinuccini expressing his doubt of the wisdom of the excommunication. Forced 
to abandon their mission to the Pope, the Irish envoys left a petition for Wadding 
to present to Pope innocent, seeking the suspension of Rinuccini's excommunica- 
tion or the granting of a general absolution from it. On 7 September, Pope innocent 
rejected this petition, publicly supporting Rinuccini by declining to interfere with 
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the nuncio's actions in Ireland. Wadding's attempts to mediate in this particular dis- 
pute earned him double condemnation. Since they suspected that Wadding had 
always been a supporter of Ormond, the Gaelic Irish declared that 'you can't trust a 
Waterfordman to be an Irishman."" Rinuccini would later claim that Wadding had 
refused to support him at this time, when the nuncio most needed such support. 

Perdition 
Bishop Rothe of Ossory affixed Rinuccini's edict of excommunication to the door 
of St Canicc's Cathedral, and Bishop Comerford acted similarly at Waterford's 
Christ Church. This 'latae senterztiae edict enjoined all ecclesiastical and secular 
persons not to cherish or defend ... the cessation made with the Lord Baron 
Inchiquin. All cities and towns that should receive that cessation were interdict- 
ed."" Now, for the first time, Waterford city suffered the extreme sanctions of this 
ecclesiastical punishment. All the churches were closed, and the clergy was forbid- 
den to officiate at any liturgy, so that 'Mass was not said, bells were not rung, and 
sacraments were administered only to the dying.'"' Now, a regime far more dra- 
conian than any implemented by committed reformers had been imposed by a 
prince of the Catholic Church on the citizens of a city who, in support of Rome, 
had fosfeited every one of their privileges hard-earned throughout the preceding 
four and a half centuries. What England had failed to accomplish in three quarters 
of a century of religious persccution had been achieved now in one fell swoop. 
Although it is apparent that Bishop Comerford disagreed with this edict, neverthe- 
less, as a dutif~d Catholic prelate, he fully enforced the censures. The cathedral 
deanery convened in Christ Church Cathedral on 12 Novcmber 1648 to formulate 
a petition to the nuncio asking for a withdrawal of the interdict. Bishop Comerford, 
with seven Waterford and seven Clonmel ecclesiastical dignitaries, signed this res- 
olution, which sought in vain for a canonical remission.'" A Remonstrance was 
forwarded to Bishop Comesford by the Supreme Council of the Confederacy, ask- 
ing him to ignorc the edict, and thereby seeking his support for the Inchiquin 
treaty, but to no avail since, although threatened with the confiscation of the tem- 
poralities of his see, Comerford refused to comply. When 'an attempt was made to 
seize his person,' Bishop Comerford was forced to flee Waterford, to scek refuge in 
the neighbouring Diocese of Ferns, in the fortified security of Duncannon Fort,''' 
surely an ineffable ignominy for the author of the acclaimed I~zquisition oj' a 
Sernzon, which had finally been published only four years previously. 

Yet this immediate crisis passed, simply because more desperate dangers threat- 
ened. A peace was signed between the Supreme Council of the Confederacy and 
Ormond as representative of the executed King Charles, which caused Rinuccini to 
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abandon his Irish mission, and to sail from Galway to the safety of the Vatican in 
February 1649. Oliver Cromwell, later to become Lord Protector of England and 
to be recognised as Ireland's Nemesis, landed at Dublin in mid August 1649. 
Cromwcll combined a determination to subdue Ireland as quickly as possible with 
an expressed intention to avenge the massacres of 1641. Unopposed in the field, 
Cromwell wreaked havoc at Drogheda and at Wexford, slaughtering some 4,600 
people in these two towns. The famed Gaelic Irish general, Owen Roe O'Nciil, 
died on 6 November 1649, rumours suggesting that he had been poisoned by 
'wearing a pair of russet boots.' Cromwell's progress through New Ross and 
Carrick-on-Suir is attested by lists of dead, so that his appearance before the walls 
of Waterford on 24 November filled the citizens with dread and gloom, which 
coincided with a prolonged period of very severe weather. Ormond sent Lord 
Castlehaven with 1,000 men to reinforce the city, but this force, and a later 
Ormond force, were refused entry by the citizens, probably because these were 
excommunicated troops.196 Later, soldiers from the army of the deceased Owen 
Roe O'Neill, under the command of Lieutenant-General Farrel, were sent by 
Ormond, and these, not being excommunicated troops, were admitted to the city 
by the citizens. While Waterford withstood Cromwell's siege, an estimated 1,000 
soldiers of the attacking parliamentary force died before the walls of the city, 
mainly from plague and exposure to the dreadful weather. Although he had cap- 
tured both Passage East and Faithlegge, Cromwell raised the siege of Waterford on 
2 December, marching westwards to winter quarters at Youghal. 

When Cromwell's military campaign re-opened in the following spring, 
Kilkenny was attacked on 22 March 1650, and was overwhelmed after vicious 
fighting.'" On 9 May, Clonmel suffered its first attack, eventually falling after a 
truly heroic re~istance. '~Tollowing the siege of Clonmel, Cromwell sailed for 
England from Youghal on 29 May. General Henry Ireton led Cromwell's army 
back to besiege both Waterford and D~mcannon in early June 1650. Riven by 
plague, short of rations, and with munitions all but exhausted, the citizens could 
mount only token resistance. Two brothers, Lieutenant Croker and his sibling 
Sergeant Croker, scaled the walls with a force of thirty men, and, fighting their 
way through the streets, they opened St Patrick's Gate to allow the main body of 
their army to enter Waterford. It is ironic that the immediate commander of the 
inrushing force was Lord Broghill, a son of the now deceased Earl of Cork.'" The 
Citadel held out for a further few days, but capitulated on 10 August. Four days 
later Duncannon surrendered. 

Now, as survivors straggled from the burning city, as Ormond's army disap- 
peared from sight on the northern bank of the river Suir, Waterford was finally 
reformed, but in a manner never, ever, envisaged by New English functionaries of 
the late Tudor or early Stuart dynasties. As cavalry chargers were stabled in the 
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chantry chapels and in the aisles of Christ Church Cathedral, as a field-kitchen, 
sited on the altar, prepared food for hungry Roundheads or for a starving small boy 
named Mason, the fanatical Puritan, Captain Bolton, thumped his heavy, be- 
spuned jackboots on the floor of the venerable pulpit, as he expounded his version 
of the Word of God to his fellow soldiers. On 27 October 1650, following a siege 
which had begun four months earlier, Limerick was forced to surrender, Ireton 
then cxacting an awful revenge on the Irish leaders of the defence of the city. 
Ireton himself died from plague on 26 November 1650.'"0 

Epilogue 
Cromwell's campaign wreaked a terrible revenge in Ireland, decimating the princi- 
pal characters of this narrative. Geoffrey Barron of Clonmel, Luke Wadding's 
nephew, being the son of his sister Mary, and a member of the Council of the 
Confederacy, was captured in Limerick and was sentenced to death. When brought 
to the scaffold for his execution, he had dressed himself in his best clothing, wear- 
ing a festive suit of white taffeta as he celebrated his impending martyrdom for his 
religion. A second son of this family, Bonaventure Barron, was a Franciscan who 
lived at St Isidore's for inany years.'Oi 

Sick, infirm, and advanced in years, Bishop David Rothe of Ossory died as 
Croinwell's forces overwhelmed Kilkenny. Archbishop Thomas Walshe of Cashel 
escaped capture at Limerick, concealing himself in the village of Ballygriffin, half 
way between Mallow and Fermoy, where he was captured by Cromwellians in 
January 1652. Imprisoned in Clonrnel for six months, he suffered appalling ill- 
treatment before being transferred to Waterford in July. His incarceration contin- 
ued there until October 1652 when, at seventy three years of age, he was shipped 
to exile on the Continent. He eventually made his way to the Shrine of St James at 
Santiago de Compostella, where he died on 4 May 1 654.'02 

In Waterford, Thomas Wadding fell foul of the Puritan conquerors of the city. 
His estates were confiscated and, refusing to 'go to Hell or to Connacht,' he suf- 
fered a penniless exile in France, dying there in penury.'"' The Franciscan 
Guardian, Thomas Strange, presumed dead at this time, had been succeeded by Fr 
Anthony Purcell, an alumnus of the Irish College of St Anthony of Padua in 
Louvain. Arrested at the house of John Power at Castletown, Purcell was trans- 
ported to Spain.20' There is some doubt as to the exact location of Bishop Patrick 
Comerford at the time of the capture of Waterford. He is known to have been liv- 
ing in Duncannon Fort prior to the second siege of Waterford, and may have 
escaped from here to France before Duncannon surrendered, since he is known to 
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have been in France in August 1650."'5 An alternative account maintains that he 
was captured at Wterford, and was ordered to quit the city within three months, 
which caused him to take ship for Brittany, but that e n  route he was twice seized 
by pirates who robbed him of all his possessions. He died at Nantes in 1652, and is 
buried in front of the altar of St Charles in Nantes Cathedral.'n" 

Papal Nuncio Rinuccini returned to Fermo in June 1650, but his health had 
been ruined by the hardship he had suffered in Ireland. He died in December 1653. 
On his return to Rome, Dean Massari of Fermo was promoted as Secretary of the 
Propaganda but, still hostile to Luke Wadding, he was dismissed from this office in 
April 16% ."I7 Pope Innocent X died on 1 January 1655. 

Luke Wadding outlived them all, continuing to reside at St Isidore's. His 
nephew, the Limerick-born Franciscan, Francis Harold, was recalled from his 
duties at Graz to act as Wadding's amanuensis, eventually becoming his uncle's 
biographer. Wadding continued his work on the Annales Mirzorurn, the first volume 
of which had been p~iblished in 1625, and the second in 1628. By 1654 he had 
completed six more volumes, which brought this history of the Friars Minor up to 
1540, in which year major Reformation changes occurred in Ireland. In Volume 
111, he wrote with nostalgic passion of his place of birth, the city of Waterford. 

My native city, which is called Port-Lairge by the inhabitants, and 
Waterford by the English, while Ptolomy knew it by the name of 
Menapia, was founded, according to Camden, by Norwegian pirates, 
others say by an Ostman named Sitricus, about the year CMV. It is on 
the banks of the Suir, and is celebrated for its commodious port, but it 
is more illustrious still for the constancy with which its inhabitants 
have clung to Christian piety and the Roman Catholic religion. For 
this reason, also, it is dearer to me, and held in greater honour, than on 
account of its having been the place of my birth. In the many suffer- 
ings and grievous persecutions to which its people have been subject, 
it has always remained firm in its attachment to the true religion, and, 
therefore, it deserves its motto. 'Urbs intactu ~narzens,' [sic.] from its 
fidelity to God, much more than its loyalty to its temporal rulers. It is 
also most worthy of praise for the intense devotion of its inhabitants 
to spiritual things, for the all-embracing charity with which they 
receive pious strangers and sufferers for the faith, and also because, 
living up to the maxim of Tertullian, 'Be more solicitous for the faith 
when it is in danger,' they watch over the purity of the faith with 
unceasing vigilance, and take the utmost pains to hand it down with- 
out taint to their children. Hence the city has been known, far and 
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wide, by the name 'Little Rome.' This tribute of praise I owe to the 
place of my birth, and much more of eulogy could I add were it per- 
mitted.'"' 

Wadding's last major appointment came in 1652 when he was placed on the 
Commission set up to investigate the five propositions of the late Bishop of Ypres, 
Cornelius Jansenius, whose theology matured into the controversial movement 
knows as Jansenism. Although Jansenists rejected Protestantism, and stressed the 
importance of the sacraments, they sought to accentuate the New Testament's 
teaching about Grace and to emphasise the doctrine of Predestination. Jansenists 
were ardent supporters of the papacy, but they detested the Jesuits. Although Pope 
Innocent X issued a bull, C L L ~  Occnsione,  in 1653, which condemned the Five 
Propositions of Jansenism, it  was not until 1754 that the Jansenist controversy was 
finally overcome.20y In almost the last notable act of an illustrious career, in 1656 
Luke Wadding gained possession of the deserted Convent of the Madonna, at 
Capranica, north of Rome, as a novitiate for student Franciscans. The Irish friars 
retained possession of this building until 1995. 

Falling ill in October, Luke Wadding died on Sunday, 18 November 1657, 
bringing to a close the life of the greatest member of that august pantheon of eccle- 
siastical figures which Waterford city produced in the latter part of the sixteenth 
century. On 20 November, his body was laid to rest in the crypt of St Isidore's. His 
month's mind was celebrated at Capranica. On his feastday in 1890, his remains 
were exhumed, and were placed in a special funerary urn, as consideration was 
given to his cause for beatification. In October 1925, on the three hundredth 
anniversary of the foundation of St Isidore's, Wadding's singular place in Irish his- 
tory was recognised and celebrated. Pope Pius XI1 paid tribute to Wadding's 
immeasurable role in Irish Catholic history by composing a commendatory letter, 
Hiberniae Gentis Inzmortnlis Gloriae, (Immortal Glory of the People of Ireland), 
in the Wadding Year of 1957-8. The Irish government paid due homage to his 
memory by issuing a commemorative stamp in his honour. His native city erected 
a monumental statue to Luke Wadding, the first such statue of any citizen of the 
Urbs Intactn to be raised in the city of Waterford. This statue has recently been 
repositioned, from its original position outside the walls of the medieval city, to its 
present location in front of the ruins of the Holy Ghost Church, where his fore- 
bears are buried, and where Wadding himself worshipped in his youth. 

In this Year of Our Lord, 2007, the 350th anniversary of Wadding's death, it is 
fitting that the memory of this exceptional Waterfordman should share the honour 
and glory which the scholars of today willingly and respectfully grant, not alone to 
Wadding's genius, but to the wonderful Franciscan achievement in founding the 
Irish College at Louvain 400 years ago, and to the nostalgic remcmbrancc of the 
exile of the Gaelic Irish nobility of Ulster. 
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APPENDIX A 
Waterford and Lismore student priests in Salamanca : 1602-9"' 

Thomas Comerford 
Thomas Brown 
Thomas Walsh (Valoise) 
Ambrose Wadding 
William White 
John Lombard 
John White 
Thomas Brickley 
Laurence Lea 
John Brown 
Richard Walsh 
John Sherlock 
Francis Grant 
Thomas Power 
Richard Strong 
John Comerton (Comerford) 
Michael Wadding 
Luke Wadding 
Thomas Wadding 
Thomas White (born Spain 
of Irish parents) 
Robert Walsh 
John Cormug~ts (Cormas) 
Francis Bray 

Waterford 
do 
do 
do 
do 
do 
do 
Youghal 
Lismore 
do 
do 
Waterford 
do 
do 
do 
Lismore 
Waterford 
do 
do 

do 
do 
do 
Clonmel 

1602 
1602 
1602 (afterwards archbishop) 
1602 (became a Jesuit) 
1602 
1602 
1602 
1603 
1603 
1603 
1604 (became a Jesuit) 
1 604 
1605 
1605 
1605 
1606 
1607 (became a Jesuit) 
1608 (became a Jesuit) 
1609 

210 Patrick Power, Waterford and Lismore: A Conzpendio~is History of the United 
Diocese, Appendix VIII. 



APPENDIX B 
June 1610: The names of such priests as are resident in Waterford and the 
houses they lodge in2" 

1.  Doctor White, bishop of Waterford 
2. Nicholas Fagan 
3. Willin Fagan 
4. Richard Lincoll 
5. Edward Archer 
6. Dennisse Pucell; 
7. Thomas Woodlocke; 
8. Peris Fitzwilliam 
9. Richard Walsh, 
10. Marrisse Wise 
1 1. David John, 
12.Thomas Rarter (?) , 
13. Edmond Molan, 
14. John Copperinger, 
15. John Murphy, 
16. Patrick Woodlock, 
17. James Dalton, 
I 8. Willin Readan, 
19. Peeter Strong, 
20. Peeter FitzJames, 
2 1 . Willm Morrin, 
22. Thomas Walsh, 
23. (?) Eines Willin, 
24. John O'Killei, 
25. Willin Beale, 
26. David Launder, 
27. Willin David, 
28. Willin Donoghe, 
29. Peter Drowham, 
30. James Walshe, 

Lieth at Anstace Strong's Widdowes. 
Lieth at Nicholas Madane's. 
Lieth at Katherin Sherlocks. 
Lieth at Dominike Lumbards . 
Lieth at Michael Brownes. 

at Anstace Devons (?) . 
at Mary Toures (?) 
at Dominike Linche's. 
at the poore howse. 
at John Wises. 
at Paul Stronges. 
at Richard Waddings. 
at Richard Comerforts. 
at James Coughes. 
at James Walshes. 
at Jasper Woodlocks. 
at Ellin Sherlocks. 
at Thomas Shones (?). 
at Thomas Stranges . 
at James Whites. 
at Water Sherlocks. 
at Thomas Hai-solls. 
at Sisley Walshes. 
at Anne Walshes. 
at Beale Lumbards. 
at Anne Walshes. 
at Michael Shones (?). 
at John Barrons. 
at James Lumbards, Apothicary. 
at Sisley Walshes, Widdowe. 

21 1 Patrick Power, 'Sundrie Priests and Religious in Waterford 1610', in JWSEIAS 16 
(1913), p. 123. 





Appendix D. 
Signatories of the Decree issued by the Synod of Waterford on 12 August 
1646"" 

Jo Baptista Firmanus Nuncius Apostolicus. 
Fr Tho Dublin. 
Tho Cassiliensis. 
Fr Boetius Elphin. 
Fr Patricius Waterford & Lismore. 
Jo Laonensis. 
Jo Clonfertensis. 
Fr Edm Laghlensis. 
Rich Ardfertensis & Accadens . 
Franciscus Aladensis. 
Edm Limiricensis. 
Elnerus Cloghorensis. 
Nicholaus Fernensis. 
Fr Jacob Conaldus Abbas Benchonan. 
Fr Patr Plunket Abbas B M Dublin. 
Fr Lan Fitzhmis Abbas de Sur. 
Fr Jo Cantwell Abbas de S Cruce. 
Fr Jacobus Tobin Abbas de Kilcool. 
Rob Barry Vic Apost Rossen. 
Donaldus 0 Gripha Funiburiensis. 
Fr Geo Farrell Prior Provinc Ordin Predicator. 
Fr Dionisius 0 Driscol Prior Provincial Eremit S Aug. 
Edm 0 Teig Procurator Illustrissimi Armachani. 
Gaulter Linch Vicar Apost Tuam. 
Gulielmus Burgat Vic Apost Imalciensis. 
Jacob Dempsy Vic General Kildariensis. 
Cornelius Gafneus Ardensis Vic General. 
01 Dese Vic General Midensis. 
Dominicus RochVic General Corcag. 
Simon 0 Connory Vic General Cluanensis. 
Edm Giraldinus Vie General Cluanmacnoise. 
Carolus CoghlanVic General L-. 
Robertus Nugent Superior Societatis Jesu. 
Fr Anthonius Macgohigan Procurator Provincialis Fratrum Minorum. 
Fr Basnabas Barnwell Commissarius General Capucinorum. 

213 Richard Cox, Hibernica Anglicuna, ( 1  689), Appendix xxx, p 123. 
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APPENDIX E 
Waterford signatories of the Petition to Papal Nuncio Rinuccini2'-' 

Dr Patrick Comerford 
Fr Peter Stronge 
Fr Joseph Everard 
Fr John Hartry 
Fr Edward Clere 
Fr Michael Barron 
Fr Robert Power 
Fr Michael Hackett 

Bishop of Waterford and Lismore. 
S~lperior of the Dominicans. 
Guardian of the Franciscans. 
Cistercian and Notary Apostolic. 
Rector of the Jesuit house. 
Prior of the Augustinians. 
Dean of Waterford. 
Precentor of Waterford. 

Clonmel signatories of the Petition to Papal Nuncio Rinuccini. 

Fr Thomas White Pastor of Clonmel . 
Fr Edward Bray Franciscan. 
Fr Thomas Prendergast STD 
Fr Edmund Brayns Franciscan. 
Fr John Gough Jesuit. 
Fr William McGrath Jesuit. 
Fr Andrew Sall Jesuit. 

21 4 Patrick Power, Waterford Saints and Sclzolnrs, 17th Centzwy, p. 59. 
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Bishop Foy's School Waterford, 

Dorznclzadlz 0 Ceallaclza'in 

Introduction: The End of an Era 
In the week leading up to Christmas 1966, reports appeared i n the Waterford local 
newspapers that Bishop Foy's School in the city was to close. The previous 
Saturday, the last Prize Night of the school had taken place, and the headmaster, 
Mr. George Langley, had the sad duty of informing those present that the school 
would definitely close the following June. 

Less than ten years previously the future of Bishop Foy's School seemed more 
than secure. In November 1957, the 250th anniversary was celebrated, and accord- 
ing to a report in the Church uj' Ireland Gazette, the celebrations were 'on a scale 
worthy of such a coming of age'. There was a dinner in the Grand Hotel in 
Tramore, and guests included the bishop of the diocese and Jack Lynch TD, the 
then Minister for Education, as well as many old scholars. The President of the 
Old Foyonian Association announced at the dinner that the scholarship fund had 
reached £1,000 with a further pledge from Mr. Charles Orr Stanley, (an old scholar 
and Chairman of Pye Radio who was present), of an annual subscription of £100 
for the next seven years. On the Sunday following the dinner, the old scholars 
erected a plaque adjoining Foy's tomb in Christchurch Cathedral in the city, 'in 
grateful remembrance of the founder, the Right Rev. Nathaniel Foy, DD'. Perhaps 
more than anything else during those celebrations, this plaque seemed to symbol- 
ise a celebration of the past achievements of the school as well as a firm belief in 
its future. 

The reality of the situation was very different however. The Protestant popula- 
tion of the country as a whole had been declining since the early nineteenth centu- 
ry, and following the foundation of the state in 1922, the rate of decline had 
increased considerably. This trend was 01 course to be seen in Waterford also, and 
there was no prospect that this decline would be reversed at any stage in the future. 

In June the following year, exactly 260 years after the death of Nathaniel Foy, 
Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, the school he founded closed his doors for the 
last time. 

Foy's Early Life 
Nathaniel Foy was born in the city of York in 1648, son of Dr. John Foy. The fami- 
ly moved to Dublin around 1656, where John Foy established a medical practice in 
a house he leased from Trinity College. He died in 1660, and was buried in St. 
Bride's churchyard. Little is known of other members of the family. Nathaniel's 
brother Moore died in 1691. His mother moved to Waterford and resided with her 
son Nathaniel when he was appointed bishop there. When she died she was buried 



in Christchurch Cathedral. There were also two sisters, Elizabeth and Cassandra, 
both of whom lived until the 1720s. 

The young Nathaniel probably reccived his carly education while still in 
England. Following the move to Dublin, he attended the Dublin Corporation Free 
School, of which Dr. William Hill the eminent Greek scholar was master. Dr. Hill 
had been a strong supporter of the Commonwealth during the English Civil War, 
and as a result lost his position in the school in 1664 following the Restoration, 
when Charles I1 returned from exile. 

Foy entered Trinity College, Dublin in 1663, at the age of fifteen, and went on 
to obtain the degrees of MA and DD. In 1669, he was ordained a deacon by the 
Bishop of Kildare, and on the 29 May of the following year, he was ordained a 
minister in the church,' and also on that samc day he was appointed a cannon of 
Kildare.? In 1678 when a vacancy arose in the parish of St. Bride in Dublin he peti- 
tioned the Dean and Chapter of St. Patrick's Cathedral for the position, and a week 
later hc was nominated. He remained in St. Bride's until he was appointed Bishop 
of Waterford and Lismore in 1691. In 1684, when he became a Fellow of Trinity 
College he was given one of the college livings in the Diocese of Raphoe. 

At this stage in his career, Foy, in his early forties, was in a very comfortable 
position - a 'pluralist' enjoying the income from three livings; one in Kildare, 
another in Raphoe and as minister in St. Bride's. It is interesting to note that while 
as a young clergyman Foy was quite happy to accept these various livings, he 
would in later years bitterly denounce this practice of one clergyman holding sev- 
eral preferments at the same time. 

However while minister at St. Bride's, Foy did not neglect his parish. 
According to William King, Bishop of Derry, later to become Archbishop of 
Dublin, Nathaniel Foy carried out his duties as minister 'with the greatest love and 
highest approbation of his parishioners'. During his time at St. Bride's he re-built 
the parish church at a cost of £1,300 as well as building an almshouse for  widow^.^ 
The church was built in 1684, and was described as 'an oblong building with two 
long round-headed windows in the east-end'. The parish was eventually united 
with the nearby St. Werburgh's, and St. Bride's church fell into disuse, although a 
sum of £300 was spent on repairing i t  in 1827.4 

However as Nathaniel Foy continued to minister to his parishioners in St. 
Bride's, a series of events were unfolding which would soon propel him to the 
forefront of church and political affairs, ultimately leading to his elevation to the 
episcopate as Bishop of Waterford and Lismore. 

1 Henry Cotton, Fasti Ecclesine Nibernicae, (Dublin, Hodges Smith & Co., 1860), 
Vol. V,p. 19. 

2 Ibid. Vol. 11, p. 250. 
3 Declau Grogan, 'Bishop Foy and the Cause of Reform: Part l ' ,  in Decies 50 (Autumn 

1994), pp. 72 - 84. 
4 Samuel Lewis, A Topographical Dicfionary of Ireland, Vol. I ,  (London, Lewis & 
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James 11: The Catholic King 
When Charles I1 died in 1685, he was succeeded by his brother James, the Duke of 
York. While it had been rumoured that Charles died a Catholic, the succession of 
his brother who was well known to be a committed Catholic sent shock waves 
through Protestant circles in Britain and Ireland. However, as James had no son, it 
was expected that he would be succeeded by his eldest daughter Mary, a Protestant 
and married to William, Prince of Orange. Therefore in spite of the fact that James 
began to replace Protestants with Catholics in government in England and Ireland, 
it was expected that the Protestant succession and the position of the established 
church would ultimately be secure. The birth of a male heir in June 1688 changed 
the political scene completely. A Catholic monarchy in Britain and Ireland now 
seemed certain, and William of Orange and Mary were invited to assume the 
throne as joint monarchs. William landed in the south of England in November 
1688, and James fled to France to the court of Louis XIV. 

The French king was of the opinion that Jarncs in Ireland would divert William 
of Orange's military resources away from mainland Europe. French military assis- 
tance was offered to James if he returned to Ireland, and he saw this as an opportu- 
nity to recover his throne, using Ireland as a springboard. In March 1689, accom- 
panied by a French force, he landed in Kinsale, and marched to D~tblin where he 
summoned a parliament to raise funds for the coming campaign against his son-in- 
law. This parliament was mainly composed 01 Catholics, although four Church of 
Ireland bishops were present. Even though religious freedom was granted to all, 
Protestants were in the main deeply suspicious of James' parliament, and regarded 
its deliberations as little short of the start of an anti-Protestant campaign of perse- 
cution. An Act of Settlement reversed the terms of the Cromwellian confiscations. 
Even more worrying for Protestant interests was an Act of Attainder, identifying 
over 2,000 individual Protestants who were considered disloyal to James. Most of 
the country reverted to Catholic control, with the exception of a few strongholds in 
Ulster. Dei-ry was under siege, and it was expected to fall. 

It seemed to many Protestants that the massacres of 1641 would be repeated, 
and many of them fled to England, including Archbishop Marsh of Dublin. 
Control of the Protestant clergy in the city passed to William King, then the Dean 
of St. Patrick's Cathedral and a close friend of Foy, both of whom remained in the 
city in spite of the danger. While Dublin was under Jacobite control (as the follow- 
ers of James were called), the Catholic Mass was celebrated in Christ Church 
Cathedral. Foy ~lsed his position as minister at St. Bride's to bitterly attack the ser- 
mons being delivered by James' chaplain in the cathedral. One of Foy's parish- 
ioners was in the habit of attending Mass and taking notes of the sermons in short- 
hand. He passed these notes on to Foy, who then bitterly denounced Catholicism 
the following Sunday in his own church. Because of this, Foy had to put up with 
disruption of his services from Jacobite supporters, and on one occasion he was 
assaulted by James' soldiers as he was conducting a funeral service in the church- 
yard of St. Bride's. 



Eventually, he was imprisoned in Dublin Castle because of his continued oppo- 
sition to James. Although his period of imprisonment was short and he was 
released in December of the same year, he was described by Bishop Richard Mant 
as, 'conspicuous for his opposition to Popish corruptions and for his advocacy of 
the pure doctrines of the National Church to the great risk and peril of his life'. 

Following the victory of William in Ireland, Foy's reward for his sta~inch oppo- 
sition to James came in 1691 when he was appointed Bishop of Waterford and 
Lismore. He was consecrated by the Archbishop of Dublin, Narcissus March in 
August 1691. The following year, he was made a freeman of Waterford by 
Waterford Corporation .5 

Thus, at the age of forty-three, Nathaniel Foy, in spite of his relatively humble 
background, had achieved high office with the Church of Ireland. He was a mem- 
ber of the Irish House of Lords. He could have enjoyed a life of luxury and com- 
fort, enjoying the revenues from his diocese, and indulging in the hectic social life 
in Dublin revolving around the Irish Parliament. He could also have become an 
absentee like many other bishops of the time, and retire to London secure in the 
knowledge that his episcopal revenues would support him. 

Instead, Bishop Foy devoted the remaining sixteen years of his life to his new 
diocese, and to the twin causes of reform and education. 

Bishop of Waterford and Lisrnore 
The Ascenclancy Church and the Need jor Reforrn 
From the beginning of the eighteenth century Catholics were excluded from power 
by a series of penal laws. The result was that the established church, became the 
'fountain of privilege', giving its members exclusive rights to political control and 
influence. The disadvantage for the church was that the state now exercised a 
much tighter control over ecclesiastical matters than ever before, a situation which 
led to abuses and l a ~ i t y . ~  

Many within the church, including Foy and William King while fully support- 
ing the penal laws, felt that the church had become too much of an instrument of 
the civil power, relying on government and the powerful Protestant land-owning 
class to maintain its position. As Foy wrote to King in 1691, 'We have but a shad- 
ow of discipline left which cannot be exercised without the concurrence of the 
~ t a t e ' . ~  

Foy identified two main abuses in the Church of Ireland; pluralities and non- 
residence, and devoted much of his time as a bishop in endeavouring to combat 
them. 

5 Michael Quane, 'Bishop Foy School, Waterford', in Journal of the Cork 
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Failurfle of Refornz 
Again during the parliamentary session of 1697, Foy hoped that a bill might be 
introd~tced to bring about some changes in the church but nothing came of it. 

The main reason for this failure was that the majority of the members of the 
Irish Parliament represented a class that benefited directly from the impropriation 
of tithes, and were closely allied to those clergymen who benefited from plurali- 
ties, 'slugs of seven or eight hundred pounds a year', as Foy called them. The Irish 
MPs were prepared to pass Penal Laws and uphold the privileged position of the 
Church, but not reform it! 

Tlze Clergy 
Foy and a number of other like-minded bishops felt that internal church reform as 
well as a committed, pious, and learned clergy, would be the best safeguard against 
defections to Dissenters, and would ultimately prepare the way for converts from 
Catholicism. He disagreed with his friend William King in one important matter 
however, in the use of the Irish language. King was an enthusiastic supporter of the 
use of Irish to effect conversions among the native Catholic population. In fact 
Foy, in 1697, attempted to have a bill passed in the Irish House of Lords outlawing 
its use. Needless to say he did not succeed!"' 

One of Foy's principal concerns was the quality of entrants to the ministry. In a 
series of letters to William King, he outlined in meticulous detail his plans for the 
education of clergymen. A clergyman should have a basic knowledge of the Bible, 
the Thirty-nine Articles, the Cannons of the Church of Ireland, and the Book of 
Conznzon Prayer. According to Foy, many clergymen had only a very vague 
knowledge of these works, and he stated that he knew of some members of the 
clergy who possessed neither a Bible nor a prayer book. He devised a scheme 
whereby clergymen would gradually build up a personal library - after leaving 
university a newly ordained minister would in theory have a collection of books 
worth &15. Following his appointment as a curate he would purchase another £15 
worth of books, and if appointed vicar of a parish w o ~ ~ l d  spend a further £7 every 
year on his growing library. Foy suggested to King that each of them should draw 
up a list of suitable books, and then agree on a final selection." 

Natlznniel Foy in  WaterJitrd 
As Foy was very keen to advance a programme of reform in the church on a 
national level it is not surprising that he also enthusiastically advanced a number of 
changes in his own diocese. He was very keen to promote the practice of daily 
prayer in churches. In the cathedral church in the city, prayers were held four times 
daily. He used his diocesan visitations as a means of enforcing clerical discipline. 

10 David Dickson, New Foundations: Il-eland 1660-1800, (Dublin, Irish Academic 
Press, 2000), p. 47. 

11  Declan Grogan, 'Bishop Foy and the Cause of Reform, Part l ' ,  in Decies 50 (Autumn 
1994), pp. 72-9. 
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He would draw up a list of questions to ascertain the level of commitment of indi- 
vidual ministers, followed by admonishments where necessary. He initiated 
monthly Communion services, instead of three times per year, as was the custom at 
the time. He even took the unusual step for a bishop by teaching the people him- 
self, asking the questions from the catechism over and over until, 'they were able 
to repeat the answers I put in their mouths and appeared to have some competent 
understanding of them'." 

He persuaded the mayor of the city to co-operate in the strict enforcement of 
the keeping of the Sabbath. As a result, in June1692, Waterford Corporation 
ordered all within the liberties, 

to apply themselves and intend the due observation of the Lord's day, 
forebearing all manner of manual1 labours, gaming,  playes, revel- 
lings, swearing, cursing, unnecessary walkings abroad or to publick 
places except the church, and all other undue and prophane practices 
on said day.'" 

Constables and churchwardens were under orders to patrol the city on Sundays, 
and report lo the mayor every Monday with a list of 'all delinquents, upon paine of 
being prosecuted and punished themselves with the greatest severity for neglect of 
their duty'. This notice was to be put up in various parts of the city.14 As a result, 
Foy was able to report to William King, 'no mills grind, nor barbers shave, nor the 
natives buy and sell on a Sunday morning'.'j 

Because of his strict views on clerical discipline, Foy did manage to alienate 
some members of his own clergy. On one occasion during one of his annual visita- 
tions, Foy was horrified when one clergyman appeared before him, drunk. He was 
even more horrified when the man's colleagues were opposed to Foy imposing any 
discipline on him. Even though he managed to persuade the four cathedral clergy- 
men to preach sermons on each Friday during Lent, when he also tried to have 
them preach on Church Holidays, they refused. A major thorn in Foy's side was the 
Dean of Lismore, William Jephson. As dean, Jephson had broad powers in the 
west of the county. According to Foy, Jephson refused to submit to his planned vis- 
itation 'in a most abusive and insulting manner'. The dispute between the two men 
became very bitter, and was never resolved, with Foy accusing Jephson of exces- 
sive drinking, non-residence, and 'a long contracted habit of debauchery'. In spite 
of all Foy's efforts to remove him, Jephson continued as dean until his death in 
1 72O.I6 

12 Ibid. 
13 SCamus Pender (ed.), Council Books of the City of Wuterford, (Dublin, Irish 

Manuscripts Commission, 1964), p. 296. 
14 Ibid. 
15 Declan Grogan, 'Bishop Foy and the Cause of Reform, Part 1', in Decies 50 (Autumn 

1 994), pp. 72-9. 
16 Ibid. 

107 



While bishop, Nathaniel Foy also lent his support to the settling of Huguenots 
or French Protestant refugees in the city. In March 1693, it was ordered by 
Waterford Corporation that, 

this citty and liberties may provide habitations at reasonable rents for 
fifty families of the French Protestants.. . and that the freedom of this 
citty be given them gratis, and that Mr. Mayor and the Recorder be 
desired to acquaint the Lord Bishop of this diocese therewith.'" 

It is interesting to note that at least one 'French Protestant' attended Bishop 
Foy's School in the early eighteenth century. 

Foy also oversaw the building of the Widows' Apartments in Cathedral Square 
in Waterford city in 1702. His predecessor, Bishop William Gore had left £1,200 in 
his will for the building apartments for the housing of the widows of clergymen, 
and purchasing lands for their maintenance, each of whom was to be granted £10 
per annum. Following Gore's death however, the will was disputed, and it was not 
until after a long and expensive lawsuit that the original wishes of Bishop Gore 
were carried out. A site was granted in Cathedral Close, opposite Christchurch 
Cathedral for the purpose of building the apartments. Gore had stipulated in his 
will that the bishop and dean were to be responsible for the admission of ten wid- 
ows into the apartments, and for the regulation of the institution. Foy set about f~il- 
filling the provisions of Gore's will with meticulous attention to detail, even decid- 
ing on the rules for admission: 

They will not be received unless they come very well apparelled, I 
mean not gaudily but decently.. . if they be not well rigged out at first 
they will be but a constant disgrace on the place, their husbands' 
order, and the clergy here.'" 

Final Years 
By 1697 Foy was beginning to realise that there was no realistic prospect of 
reforming the church. In a letter to King in September of that year he wrote; 

I should be glad to hear if anything be likely to be done to support our 
sinking church, the ruin of which I have prospect of, and have of a 
long while thought nothing but a persecution can preserve us.'" 

His health also seemed to be in decline. Perhaps disillusioned by the lack of 
success of his campaigns for reform, he wrote to William King, in 1704 'for my 
own part I am wearied out and know not what to do'. In another letter to King in 
1706, he stated that he had decided to burn his personal papers, another indication 
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Twelve years before Ma~rle established his charity school in Cork, Nathaniel 
Foy set in motion his scheme for establishing such a school in Waterford that 
would survive long after the demise of the charity school movement in other parts 
of the country. In 1704 he approached Waterford Corporation for a grant of land, 

to found and erect within this City a free schoole and to build a house 
and to provide a competent maintenance for a School master to 
instruct poore children and scholars in reading and writeing." 

The corporation decided to grant a plot of ground for the school on the east side 
of Banonstrand Street. While awaiting the building of the school, Foy went ahead 
in temporary premises, with Rev. George Lackey as schoolmaster. Thus when Foy 
died in December 1706, his school was in operation, and provisions made for it in 
his will. 

He directed that fifty boys be given a basic education, 'to read, write and cast 
accounts, and to say their catechism'. His main concern however was the religious 
instruction of the pupils, which he set out in minute detail; 

to examine the children whether they retain their catechism on memo- 
ry, and afterwards to instruct them in the meaning and sense thereof.. . 
the whole catechism must be gone through twice every year, causing 
the said children to give their sense and meaning of each question and 
answer in their own words.'" 

On leaving the school pupils would be either apprenticed to Protestant trades- 
men or sent on the Waterford Corporation Free Scho01.~' They were to be present- 
ed with a Bible, a copy of the Book of Comrnon Prayer, and a copy of the Whole 
Duly of Man. 

It is not surprising that Foy would have chosen The Whole Duty of Man to be 
presented to boys on leaving the school and taking up apprenticeships. The proba- 
ble author of this work was Richard Allestree, and this work became a bcstseller 
during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Between 1660 and 1700 it went 
through fifty-six known editions, in all about 200,000 copies. The book stressed 
the patriarchal nature of the servant-master relationship. A great emphasis was 
placed on humility, and the acceptance of one's lot in life, with pride and too much 
ambition being regarded as grave sins. 

Interestingly, an entry in the register of the school for the year 1754 mentions 
payments made to a Mr. Ramsey, between 1750 and 1753 of £4. 16s. 2d. for 
'Bibles, Prayer books, Complete Duties of Man given to the boys apprenticed'." 

25 Michael Quane, 'Bishop Foy School, Waterford' in JCAHS, (1967), pp. 103-122. 
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The salary of the schoolmaster was set at £40 per annum, with £ 1  0 to be paid to 
a catechist. The appointment and removal of the schoolmaster and catechist were 
vested in the bishop. The boys for the school were to be nominated by the mayor, 
three of the aldermen and the sheriffs, with the approval of the bishop. 

The executors of Foy's will, the Rev. Thomas France and James Medlicott, had 
a school house built on the corner of Barronstrand Street and Arundel Lane, on the 
site granted by the corporation. This was completed in 1707. In 1746, Charles 
Smith, the Waterford historian described the building as follows: 

a neat building of rustick and plain ashlar work of hewen stone, 
adorned with an octogon tower, over which is an handsome spire, 
with a clock and bell. Before the building is a neat court, enclosed 
with iron palisades, and hewen stone. On the inside, the W. half is the 
school-room, divided into regular classes, and forms for the boys, the 
upper end is adorned with the founder's picture the late Dr. Foy. The 
E. end of the building is the School-master's apartment? 

Following the death of Nathaniel Foy, Dr. Thomas Mills was appointed bishop. 
According to the provisions of Foy's will, the new bishop would have considerable 
powers in the running of the school. He alone had the power to nominate and 
rcmove the master, and was to accept scholars on the recommendation of the cor- 
poration. Almost immediately however, tensions arose between Dr. Mills, the 
executors of Bishop Foy's will and the Rev. Lackey who had been appointed as 
schoolmaster by Foy before his death. Matters were further complicated becausc of 
a number of disputes between the bishop and Waterford Corporation. 

In September 1712, Mills appointed the Rev. Simon Wells to the position of 
schoolmastcr, and the Rev. William Denis as catechist. However it appears that in 
spite of the nomination of Wells and Denis, they were prevented from taking over 
the school by George Lackey and by the executors of Foy's will. The matter was 
eventually decided in the courts, and it was not until the 9 June 1714 that Wells 
was able to take possession of the school. On the 14 June that year, a total of fifty 
boys were admitted.30 

However, it appears that the Rev. Wells did not survive very long in the position 
of schoolmaster. A few short weeks later, 011 the 20 July, it was noted in the regis- 
ter of the school, that Wells has 'resigned and was displaced from the office of 
school~naster by the Right Revd. Father in God, Thomas, Bishop of Waterford and 
Lismore', to be replaced by no other than the Rev. George Lackey, the original 
schoolmaster!" Rev. Lackey continued in the position until at least 1721, although 
the Rev. Denis continued as catechist until 1738. 

29 Charles Smith, The Ancient and Present State o f the  County and City of Waterford, 
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Once the school was built, the executors of Foy's will bought land with the 
remaining funds in the townlands of Ballyquin, Mothel and Kinsalebeg from 
Reynolds Carthorpe and Samuel Battley. The rents from this estate was then used 
to finance the running of the school. When James Medlicott died, Thomas France 
was the sole executor of Bishop Foy's will, and he went on to buy more land for 
the school, at Hacketstown and Ballyowen (Ballywade) from the estate of Sir 
Thomas Prendergast. By this stage, the annual rent from the lands purchased 
amounted to £1 9 1.2s. 2d. 

When Thomas France died, his son, Nathaniel France took over the trust, and 
by 1727 he had a sum of over £700 in his possession. In the meantime, the income 
from the endowment had increased considerably. In his will, Bishop Foy had pro- 
vided annuities for his two married sisters, Elizabeth Moore, and Cassandra 
Gibbon. When they died, the income from these ann~iities returned to the trust. 

The 1728 Act 
Thererose, Nathaniel France, decided to obtain an act of the Irish Parliament to 
regulate the charity, and to guarantee its survival after his own death.'' This was 
opposed by Bishop Mills, but had the support of the corporation. At a meeting of 
Waterford Corporation on the 23 October 1727 it was resolved to issue 'a certifi- 
cate from the Mayor and Council of Waterford approving of the said Mr. France's 
designe in obtaining said Act'. 

Consequently, the following year, France succeeded in obtaining the passing or 
an Act to Better Perpetuate and Better Regulate tlze Charitable Foundation of DE 
Natlmziel Foy. Under the provisions of the Act, the ground granted by Waterford 
Corporation, together with the lands purchased, and the sum of money which then 
amounted to £774. 15s. 3d. were to be vested in the Rev. France during his life- 
time. After his death, the property was to be held in trust by the mayor, the bishop 
and the dean. Out of the yearly income, the school was to be kept in good repair, 
and the salaries were to be paid; £5 to the receiver, £15 to the catechist, and £60 to 
the schoolmaster. The master would be required to teach up to seventy-five boys in 
the school, and was not allowed to hold any other office. Any money remaining 
was to be used to clothe the boys, and if a surplus still remained, it was to be used 
in paying the apprenticeship fees for the boys on leaving the school." 

According to Charles Smith, the cost of clothing the boys was approximately 
£86 per annum. By 1745, a total of 110 boys were apprenticed to tradesmen, £5 
being paid as an apprenticeship fee. Smith went on to state that 'the school has 
already produced many eminent tradesmen to the city, who by this means are 
become useful members to the publick'." 
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The Move to Grantstown 
By the beginning of the nineteenth century, nearly 100 years after the death of 
Bishop Foy, the future of the institution he had founded seemed secure. An estate 
of 1,400 acres was producing morc than enough income to maintain the school, 
pay the master and catechist, clothe the boys, and pay apprenticeship fees. 

Over the years also, considerable savings had been made from the annual 
income, and by this stage, this amounted to almost &5,000. The trustees were now 
in a position to increase the number of pupils being taught in the school. However, 
the schoolhouse in Barronstrand Street was full, and was not capable of taking 
extra scholars. There was no space available to extend the building, as part of the 
original grant of land from the corporation in 1703 had been leased to a William 
Carr. The schoolhouse itself was also in a bad state of repair at this stage, it was 
not considered feasible to have it repaired. 

It was also becoming increasingly difficult to attract pupils to the school. It was 
not as popular with parents as it had when it had been first established. Pupils were 
offered free education and were clothed, with the possibility of being apprenticed 
to a tradesman on leaving the school. Apart from this however, no other financial 
inducement was offered to the boys or their families. According the Waterford 
Mirror 'the inducements held out to parents were of too limited a nature to excite a 
general desire to take advantage of the plan, as little support was granted during 
the course of education'. It was also felt that one master was not sufficient for con- 
ducting the school .'' 

The school was also stated to have been damp, as it was 'situate in the middle 
of the marketplace of the city of Waterford, with the common sewer passing under- 
neath it'. 

Another problem mentioned in the Waterford M i r a r  were 'evils of a more seri- 
ous nature'. The boys were only in school for a number of hours each day and were 
then 'left at liberty to saunter the streets and to contract those habits of vice and 
idleness to which the temptations are never want, and which uniformly lay the sure 
foundation of guilt and dep~avity'.~"t was reported that the boys in the school, 'be- 
ing under no sort of control, except during certain hours of the day, are liable to 
contract the most vicious and immoral habits in so extensive and populous a sea 
port as the city of Waterford."" 

For these reasons, the trustees, as well as some of the prominent citizens of the 
city, including William Newport, Samuel King and James Ramsey were in favour 
of transforming the institution into a boarding school, and moving it to the 
country."O However the trustees were not in a position to make any major changes 
to the conduct of the school as they were bound by the original provisions of Foy's 

37 WaterJ'brd Mirror, 16 Novcmbcr 1 808. 
38 Ibicl. 
39 Aiz Act to perpetzmte a d  better regdate the Clzaritable Foundation of Doctor 

Natlzaniel Foy, (1 808). 
40 R.H. Ryland, Tlze History, Topography am1 Antiquities of the City and County of 

Watellford, (London, John Murray, 1824), p. 184. 





Decies 63 

The establishment of the new school took time, and it wasn't until the 7 
December 1816 that an advertisement appeared in the local press offering for sale 
'the school-house.. . and outbuildings commonly called the Blue School House in 
the Market Place of the City of Watesf~rd'.'~ 

The new establishment at Grantstown finally come into operation on the 1 
January 1817. The master was the Rev. Frances Reynett, member of the distin- 
guished Waterford Huguenot family. His father James Henry Reynett was mayor 
of the city in 1775-6. In 1821 two of his adult sons and his sister-in-law were also 
living in the school, and all were described as 'assista~lts'.~~ 

There were fifty-three pupils on the register of the school when it moved out to 
Grantstown in 1817. Of these, nine were enrolled on the day the new school 
opened. There was one Catholic boy, the rest were Protestants. Of the first fifty- 
three boys in the new school, a total of forty-seven were eventually apprenticed to 
tradesmen in the city. One emigrated to America with his father, two 'eloped', one 
was expelled, and no information is recorded concerning one of the boys. Sadly, 
one of the pupils is recorded as having 'died in the hospital at Grantstown'. 

Another consequence of the move to Grantstown was that the school was now 
situated in the parish of Ballinakill, and the boys attended service in the local 
church. In 1819 when the church in Ballinakill was broken into and the stained 
glass windows broken, a reward for information was offered by the trustees of the 
school .45 

According to the Second Report of the Conzrnissioners of Irish Education 
I n q ~ ~ i r y  in 1826, the number of pupils in the school was reduced to thirty. All the 
boys were Protestants. The master was still Frances Reynett, and an assistant mas- 
ter, Edward Francis, was also employed, at a salary of £40 per annum. According 
to James Glassford, one of the commissioners who visited the school, the premises 
was 'extensive and in good state, with large outhouses and a garden'. He examined 
some of the boys in arithmetic, and he stated that they acquitted themselves very 
well, their answers 'of the very first order, both to quickness and acc~iracy ' .~~ 

Municipal Corporations Inquiry 
In 1833, a commission of inquiry was established to examine the state of munici- 
pal corporations in Ireland. While the main purpose of the commission was to 
investigate why Catholics were excluded from power in local government, it also 
looked into all of the institutions that corporations were involved with. In 
Waterford, this included the Bishop Foy School, as the mayor of the city was one 
of the trustees, and the aldermen had the power to nominate pupils for entry. When 
the Commission on Municipal Corporations produced their report in 1835, they 
therefore included a section on the school. 
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According to the report, 'considerable additions' were made to the school since 
the move to Grantstown, at a cost of over £3,000. The boys were 'well instructed in 
reading, writing and casting accounts', as well as in the Catechism of the Church of 
Ireland. The secular teaching of the boys was carried by the usher, with the master 
concerning himself with the management of the school, and with the instruction of 
the boys 'in the catechism and the knowledge of the scriptures'. The boys were fed 
by contract with the master at a cost of 5'/4d. each per day, and their diet was 
described as 'good and sufficient'. Their clothing was 'decent and comfortable', and 
the commissioners went on to state that the master and mistress of the school 'give 
every attention to their care and management'. Each year between twelve and 
twenty boys were apprenticed out with an apprentice fee of £8 paid. The secretary 
of the school was a Mr. Roberts, and he prepared the acco~mts for the trustees. The 
commissioners did not see a full set of the accounts of the school however. The 
dean stated that as the bishop of the diocese was not present at the inquiry, he felt 
that he was not in a position to produce the accounts. 

However, the some information was given on the financial state of the institu- 
tion for the year 1830. The income of the school was £1,200 per annum. It had 
been higher a number of years previously, but the trustees had to reduce the rents 
because of a general fall in agricultural prices. The salaries paid that year were as 
follows: 

The Protestant Minister 
The Master 
The Usher 
The Housekeeper 
The Receiver and Secretary 
The Physician 
Servants, 4, paid in total 
Gardener, had been paid £25 

now reduced to 

The commissioners began their investigation in the City Hall in the city on the 
11 December 1833, and sat for a total of fourteen days.47 The proceedings were 
held in public, and reported on fully in the local press, with far more information 
given than appeared in the final report. Evidence on the state of the school was 
heard over three of those days. 

Mr. Hughes the solicitor to the school gave some additional information on the 
financial situation. Each year, a sum of £19. 13s. 10'/4d. was paid by Waterford 
Corporation to the school as apprenticeship fees for boys leaving, as well as 29.4s. 
7'hd. for stationary and books for the school. This money was the interest on over 
£500, which had been left in trust with the corporation from Foy's will in 1707. He 
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also stated that the boys were fed three meals a day, with meat twice a week, at a 
daily cost of 5?/4d. It was planned to reduce this to 5'Iid. from the following 
January! The boys were supplied with 'every article of clothing which they get new 
every year'. The trustees visited the school occasionally, and Mr. Hughes was of 
the opinion that the boys were 'as well fed, clothed and taken care of as any boys 
of their class in the kingdom'. 

The hours of the school were from 7 a.m. to 9 a.m., and from 10 a.m. until 4 
p.m. The boys attended church at Ballinakill each Sunday, and the clergyman of 
the parish visitcd the school as catechist. There had been only one death among the 
boys in the school during the course of the previous twenty years. 

The land attached to the school, about 17 Irish acres, was leased to the master, 
the Rev. Reynett, but Mr. Hughes did not know the rent paid. Although the master 
himself did not teach in the school, 'he attends every day and sees that the boys are 
instructed'. The master also held a curacy about 3 miles from the school. His wife 
Mrs. Reynett held the position of housekecper. 

In response to a question put to him, Mr. Hughes did refer to complaints that 
had been made against the school. These complaints had been investigated by the 
trustees who found that there were 'no fairs grounds for making the charges'. At 
least some of the commissioners seemed to be aware of the nature of these com- 
plaints, as Mr. Hughes was then asked about 'menial tasks' undertaken by the boys 
in the school. Mr. Hughes refuted the allegations that the boys were employed in 
'menial tasks', although he did admit that he was aware of the boys 'once or twice 
making hay for the ma~ter ' .~" 

The following week, the full substance of the complaints against the master and 
the management of the school were revealed when the former usher, William 
Haughton was called to give evidence on the school. He stated that he had been 
employed in the school as usher until two years previously when he 'resigned'. He 
had sent a letter to the mayor at the time, Henry Alcock, alleging irregularities in 
the 'internal management' of the school. He alleged that many of the boys were not 
allowed to attend class, but instead were forced to work for the master on 'his 
farm', stating that Mr. Reynett regularly came to the school to take the boys out of 
class for this purpose. The work (presumably the 'menial tasks' that Mr. Hughes 
had been questioned about the previous week) included 'picking stones, stacking 
corn, churning butter'. Boys were also made to 'clean the shoes of Mr. Reynett's 
family'. He went on to state that the diet of the scholars was 'insufficient in quanti- 
ty and sometimes bad in quality'. The clothes of the boys were worn out and not 
replaced. The bedding was not kept clean. He was not allowed books for teach- 
ing? 

After Christmas, the saga concerning the management of the school continued, 
when the dean, the Rev. Ussher Lee was called to comment on the allegations. He 
refuted all of them. According to the dean, the trustees visited the school 'frequent- 
ly'. About two years previously, the allegations surfaced during a routine meeting 
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of the trustees held in the Bishop's Palace to audit the accounts of the school. The 
mayor informed the other trustees that Mr. Haughton had sent him a letter outlin- 
ing his allegations. Some time later the trustees held a full investigation in the 
school, and all the allegations were found to be without foundation. Following this 
investigation, Mr. Haughton was dismissed, although the master had asked that he 
merely be reprimanded. 

The dean went on to state that he was in the habit of visiting the school at din- 
ner time, and always found the food 'was as good as it probably should be'. The 
dormitories were clean, and 'the general appearance of the boys indicated health'. 
Their clothing was 'decent and comfortable', and there were never any complaints 
from the boys when they left the school. The Commissioners of the Board of 
Education had visited the school ten years previously and were 'much pleased' with 
it. 

Dr. Mackesy, the physician to the school denied that there were cases of 'itch' 
and other infections among the boys. He stated that he had been the physician to 
the school for seventeen years, and was of the habit of visiting the school frequent- 
ly at meal times. He described the diet as 'good, wholesome and abundant'. The 
dormitories were 'clean and orderly'.50 

The commissioners did not seem to come to any firm conclusions as regards the 
allegations made against the school. It is interesting to note that no reference was 
made to them in the final report. 

Following the publication of the report, all of the corporations in the country 
were reformed, and power now passed to the Catholic middle class. Thomas 
Meagher, the first Catholic Mayor of Waterford since the sixteenth century was 
elected in October 1842.5' This had a direct and rather unfortunate bearing on the 
fortunes of the school as the mayor was in fact the only lay trustee. In practice 
from 1842, Catholic mayors were reluctant to involve themselves in what they 
regarded as a purely Protestant institution. Control of the school was now in the 
hands of two clergymen, the dean and bishop of the diocese, and the management 
of the school would remain exclusively clerical until the early twentieth century. 

In spite of the criticisms of the running of the school in 1833, it continued to 
receive the support of Protestant parents of limited means. In 1835, according to 
the Second Report of the Conznzissiorze~~s of P~iblic I~zstr~~ction (Ireland), the num- 
ber of pupils in the school was forty-seven, and enrolment was stated to be station- 
a r ~ . ' ~  

The problems which surfaced concerning Bishop Foy's in the 1830s did not go 
away however. When the school was next inspected during the 1850s matters 
seemed to have deteriorated dramatically. 
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From Bad to Worse: Problems in the 1850s 
Robert Daly was appointed bishop in 1843. He was a strong supporter of the evan- 
gelical movement within the C h ~ ~ r c h  of Ireland, which emphasised the use of the 
Bible in teaching the principles of Christian faith. He also firmly believed in the 
use of the Irish language in an attempt to convert the majority Catholic population, 
which did little to endear him to the Catholic Hierarchy. In 1832 he edited an edi- 
tion of Bishop O'Brienls Irish-English dictionary, Focaloir Gaoidhilge- Sax- 
Bhe'arla. 

On becoming bishop, he was automatically a trustee of Bishop Foy's School. 
The only other trustee was the dean. The problems of the school were con~pounded 
by the fact that for many years the bishop and the dean, the Rev. Newenham 
Hoare, were locked in a bitter dispute and barely on speaking terms. This was over 
the question of the National Schools. Throughout his time as bishop of Waterford 
Daly remained a staunch opponent of the national school system, denouncing the 
system as 'the worst error of the Catholic Church1,5' and Daly's view was shared by 
many Protestants in Waterf~rd. '~ By 1850 only 100 children of Anglican parents 
attended National Schools in the entire dioce~e.~'  In 1864 for example, nearly thir- 
ty years after the establishment of these schools, the staunchly Protestant 
Waterford Standard was still describing the system as a 'failure', because of the 
anxiety of the government 'to serve and propitiate the priests of Rorne'.'"n the 
case of Bishop Foy's, it would not be until 1902 that it finally came into the state 
system of education. 

Dean Hoare had opposed the National Schools when they were first introduced, 
but soon changed his mind. He saw how the Catholic Church had made use of the 
schools and was of the belief that the Church of Ireland should do the same. 

The Inquiry o f  1855 
In August 1855, notices were placed in the local newspapers in Waterford inform- 
ing the public that the Commissioners for Endowed Schools would be holding a 
public enquiry in the Courthouse in Waterford, beginning on the 16th of that 
month, and inviting submissions from the public. Unlike the I833 enquiry, very lit- 
tle information appeared in the local papers, as reporters were excluded for much 
of the time.j7 

The commissioners conducted a very thorough enquiry into the running of the 
school, and a number of witnesses were examined, including some of the parents 
of the boys. The master at this time was James OIDonoghue, and he had been 
appointed to the school in May 1844. His salary was £100 per annum. In 1855, 
there were thirty-eight boys in the school, 'generally of the very lowest of the 
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Protestant community in Waterford', according to the master. On average they 
spent three years in the school before being apprenticed. 

One of the parents examined was Mrs. Penelope Commins, a widow. She was 
the mothcr of two boys who had been in the school, and a third who was still a 
pupil there. Her eldest son was never satisfied with the food provided, especially in 
quantity. She described the meat as very bad, stating that 'it gets only the name of 
meat', but 'they might be able to eat it if they got enough'. In her opinion, her son 
was 'falling away in his education and everything', describing him as 'the colour of 
hunger'. She had to send food every week to her son, and claimed that other par- 
ents had to do the same. This food was not as treats for the boys, but because they 
complained that they were hungry. She stated that the boys kept the food brought 
by their parents in the trunks provided by the school. However, when asked if her 
son kept food in his own trunk, she admitted that he had sold the trunk for 4d.! 

Mrs. Commins received little support from other parents. In general, people 
seemed satisfied with the food served, although there were some minor com- 
plaints. 

Samuel Butts, a shoemaker and the sextant at St. Olave's Church stated that his 
son complained about the food in the school. According to his son, it was 'bad and 
insufficient'. He admitted however that some of thc boys were probably fed better 
in the school than at home, and in spite of the food, he was happy to send his son 
to the school 'for his health's preservation, and for the sake of the country air'. 

According to John Palmer, a tailor, none of his three sons who attended the 
school ever complained about the food. He would bring bread, cakes or apples to 
his sons in the school as a treat, 'as other parents do'. He had seen the food being 
served to the boys, 'but for being so ashamed' he would have 'asked for some as it 
looked so nice'. He believed that the children were thriving on the food they were 
being served. 

Ellen Pattison had a grandson at the school and never heard him complain 
about the food. William Roche, a draper, was a past-pupil of the school. He used to 
complain that the quantity of food at the school was insufficient, but 'not bad in 
quality'. On one occasion the 'stirabout was not done enough', and when he had 
complained he was given more by the housekeeper. He had never complained to 
his parents, and they used to bring him bread and cakes as a treat. He thought that 
the parsnips were of good quality. but did not seem to like the way they were 
cooked, stating, 'who could eat parsnips steamed in a boiler?' 

The master, James O'Donnoghue thought that the food of the boys was 'fully 
sufficient'. Hc mentioned that one boy did complain to the catechist about the food, 
but was told 'that he would eat it if he was hungry'. The bread especially was very 
good, and at one stage the boys were in the habit of taking bread away after dinner 
and bartering it for apples, and as a result he was forced to 'drive away the apple 
woman'. The school physician Dr. Mackesy also testified that the diet of the boys 
was approved by him, and that the quality was 'generally satisfactory'. The dean 
also was of the opinion that the food provided was good and wholesome, and had 
never heard any complaints about it. In fact he stated that the boys on holidays 
were sometimes sent back to the school for their meals! 
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The housekeeper, Elizabeth Hammond explained the arrangements for feeding 
the boys. The food was supplied to the school by contractors chosen by the bishop. 
The food itself was often inspected by the bishop himself. The meat was from 'the 
best butcher in Waterford', the meal and milk were 'the best', and the bread was 
'very good'. 

If there appeared to be some disagreement concerning the food served in the 
school, there was none whatsoever concerning the dirt of the institution. The mas- 
ter, mentioned 'an accumulation of d i d  in the school. He also maintained that he 
had no responsibility ovcr such matters, and had no authority over any of the ser- 
vants en~ployed at the school. He also stated that the building was badly in need of 
repairs, and that the schoolroom was badly ventilated. Dr. Mackesey admitted that 
the school 'was not at all as clean as 1 would wish to have it'. Hc had complained to 
the bishop 'fifty times over', but apparently no action was taken to improve the 
state of the school. He stated that in his opinion the boys and their clothes were 
dirty. Howcver, according to the housekeeper, the schoolrooin was washed out 
every three months, and the other rooms once a week. She complained however 
that the pupils themselves were very dirty, stating that they never bathed, and 'had 
not washed all over for the last two years'. The dean was aware that thc school was 
dirty, and in his opinion, this was due to a 'want of appliances for cleaning'. The 
building was also in need of repairs, but these had not been carried out because of 
a lack of funds. 

In spite of the dirt of the school, the health of the boys seemed good. According 
to the master, there had been no deaths in the school during the eleven years he had 
been employed. There was only one case of fever, although there had bcen cases of 
ringworm for eight to twelve months. Dr. Mackesy also testified that the health of 
the boys was generally good. Howcver, there seemcd to have been no provision in 
the school for sports or rccreation. There were 'few holidays', and the master 
admitted that he never took the boys out of the school for exercise or for a walk. 
The dean was critical of the fact that no provision was made for the recreation of 
the boys, there being neither a ball alley nor cricket pitch. 

When the commissioners visited the school themselves they were so appalled 
by the dirt they saw that they decided to return some months later to see if any 
improvements had been carried out. 

As well as inspecting the internal housekeeping of the school they also exam- 
ined the level of secular education on offer to the pupils. In general they were not 
impressed. The subjects taught in the school were reading, writing, spelling, gram- 
mar, geography and mathematics, as well as book keeping 'to some extent'. The 
boys also received instruction in the Church Catechism and in the Scriptures. 
According to the master, the school was inspected by the bishop and the dean from 
time to time, and their reports were entered 'in a book'. However, it seems that this 
'book' was not available to the commissioners. 

The commissioners were particularly critical of spelling mistakes in the dicta- 
tion of the pupils. To make matters worse, examples of spelling mistakes in the 
master's own handwriting were pointed out to him, and he was asked to explain 
why he had written 'foreman' and 'foundry' as 'forman' and foundery'! 
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The commissioners were concerned about the fact that there was no record of 
punishments kept in the school, although the master seemed to have been opposed 
to corporal punishment. In fact on one occasion a disagreement arose between the 
master and Bishop Daly over the use of corporal punishment. On one of his visits 
to the school, the bishop had ordered him to 'flog two or three boys for running 
away', and the master had no option but to carry out the bishop' orders. 

The bishop was in the habit of riding out to Grantstown to visit the school. In 
was perhaps on one of these visits that the flogging episode took place. However, 
at least one of the past-pupils of the school held Bishop Daly in high regard, as 
evidenced by a ten-verse poem he wrote when the bishop died, beginning with;'8 

Old warrior brave! Thou'rt gone to rest, 
Gone from earth's strife and sadness, 4 

To the land where the upright and the blest 
Abide in peace and gladness. 

and ending, 

Let slander do what slander can - 
Impotently assail thee 
Whate'r they say no truer man 
Ne'er lived than Robert Daly. 

In order to have some idea of the general level of education of the boys on leav- 
ing the school, the commissioners heard evidence from two of the employers in the 
city who took apprentices from Bishop Foy's. Thomas Smith Harvey, a bookseller, 
printer and stationer had several apprentices from the school. While their 'moral 
conduct was very satisfactory', their general education was 'greatly neglected'. The 
proprietor of the Waterford Mail newspaper, Joseph Fisher, disagreed with 
Harvey's views on the level of education in the school. He believed that the educa- 
tion of the boys was not neglected, but that it was 'fully up to the average of the 
others'. One of the boys from Foy's was the best compositor he ever had, and had 
recently been promoted to reporter for the newspaper. He did admit however that 
the school suffered from a lack of inspection and supervision from a local commit- 
tee. He was also opposed to the idea of the school operating as a boarding school, 
stating that it was not Bishop Foy's original intention. 

In the opinion of the dean, the reputation of the boys leaving the school was 
very good. He stated however that he objected to a boarding school system for 
'children of a humbler class', feeling that it would be more in accordance with 
Bishop Foy's original wishes if the school was re-established as a day school in the 
city. He believed that the endowment was sufficient to establish a classical and 
commercial day school, and in this way, some of the pupils could be prepared for 
university entrance and for the professions, with good apprenticeship fees paid for 
those who wished to learn trades. He also thought that those parents who could 
afford fees should pay for their children's education, with the income from the 
endowment being used to provide scholarships for those in need. 
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He believed that the number of trustees for the school should be increased, with 
four laymen appointed to act as trustees, with the bishop, the dean and the archdea- 
con as ex officio trustees. As the mayor of the city was no longer a trustee of the 
school, the management of the school was in the hands of the bishop and the dean. 
He described this system as 'inconvenient', stating that when there was a difference 
of opinion between himself and the bishop, 'the dean has no voice'. Perhaps he was 
hinting at the strong antipathy that existed between himself and his strong-willed 
bishop, Robert Daly ! 

The dean also had other criticisms of the school. The clothes provided for the 
boys were not adequate, and he was not in favour of the 'blue coat'  mif form. He 
also complained about too few Bibles in the school. Although there were annual 
examinations, he regretted the fact that prizes were not awarded. 

Bishop Daly also gave evidence, but not in great detail. He agreed with the 
dean that the school should be turned into a day school, and moved back into the 
city. Although there was an annual examination at the school, parents were not 
invited. He was not in favour of prizes however, believing that their 'advantage 
was doubtful' .j9 

When the final report was published, the commissioners stated that they had 
found 'many of the defects common in charitable boarding schools for the poor'. 
They found that the schoolhouse was dirty, the children neglected, and regarding 
the food, it was 'deficient in quantity and bad in quality'. Overall they found that 
the school was 'unsatisfactory.. . both as to the care of the children and the state of 
instruction'. However, they did admit that some improvement had been made when 
the school was inspected for the second time. The cleanliness of the establishment 
had improved somewhat, 'the house was in good order and kept clean'. 

They were of the opinion that the state of secular instruction in the school was 
poor. Even though the pupils answered well in mental arithmetic, 'in History as in 
most departments in English education, but little progress appeared to have been 
made, the deficiency was greatest in English dictation'. 

The commissioners stated that the school needed regular inspection, and this 
was not being carried out under the regime in force at the time. Since the reform of 
the municipal corporations, there was no lay trustee at all. The remaining trustees, 
the dean and the bishop were not sufficient, especially 'as they do not reside con- 
stantly in the immediate neighbourhood', and were 'frequently absent from 
Waterford'. They came to the conclusion that Bishop Foy's School had failed as a 
boarding school. They went on to recommend that the school should be moved 
back into the city, and converted into a day school, and that the management of the 
school entrusted to the Incorporated Society. The funds of the school should be 
then used to provide scholarships for orphans and poor ~hildren."~ 
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tenants feel insecure, and the commissioners advised that leases should be offered 
to them. It was also recommended that the tenants should be encouraged to build 
better houses in place of the thatched cottages many lived in, with slates and tim- 
ber supplied free of charge. Apparently only £19 had been spent by the trustees on 
any improvements to the estate over the previous number of years. The houses of 
the labourers employed on the estate were also described as in 'very bad order'. 
Most of the improvements were being carried out by the tenants themselves, and 
the commissioners believed that the trustees should encourage them by investing 
capital in improvements also. 

They were concerned by the fact that there was no overall valuation of the 
estate, and as a result the rents were uneven. The last valuation that anyone was 
aware of was carried out in 1808, by a Valentine Gill, and this was on a single 
sheet of paper! The commissioners were also concerned about the fact that there 
were no proper maps of the estate. One old map existed from 1721, but measure- 
ments were out by over 50 acres. A map of Hacketstown and Ballyquin was drawn 
up in 1808. The commissioners recommended that the entire lands of the estate be 
mapped, and valued correctly in order to maxirnise the rental."' 

A Slow Improvement 
Following the publication of the Report of the Endowed Schools Commission in 
1858, the school began a slow improvement. This was in spite of the fact that the 
main recommendations of the commission were not implemented. The school 
remained at Grantstown under the control of the trustees, and without any formal 
system of government inspection. 

However after the publication of the report, the inspection of the school by the 
trustees appeared to be on a more formal basis, and included laymen and clergy- 
men. From contemporary accounts it appears that the bishop was regularly 
involved in the annual inspection. 

In December 1863 an account appeared in one local newspaper, describing the 
Christmas inspection by the dean. The school was described as 'an admirable and 
well-managed educational institution'. James OJDonnohue, the master who had 
been much criticised in the 1858 report was still in charge, and was now described 
as the 'Headmaster'. An assistant teacher, John Mason was also employed, and 
there were thirty-seven pupils enrolled. The boys looked 'exceedingly healthy, and 
evidenced the care and attention which is paid to their creature comforts'. 

The subjects now being taught were the Holy Scriptures, reading, writing, 
spelling, dictation, grammar and derivations, history, geography, arithmetic, 
Euclid, and Hullah's system of vocal music. The introduction of music in the cur- 
riculum seemed to have been a recent innovation, and it was taught by the assis- 
tant. Great attention was paid to the examination of Scriptures, in accordance with 
the wishes of the founder Bishop Foy. On this occasion the boys were examined 
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on the Book of Genesis and on the Gospel of St. Matthew, and in the opinion of 
the dean their answers were 'exceedingly good'. The dean was also very satisfied 
with all other aspects of their education, especially with regard to dictation. He 
was especially pleased with their knowledge of Latin roots, as it appeared that he 
himself had just published a schoolbook on the subject, and had sent a copy to the 
headma~te r !~~  

The following year the reputation of the school continued to improve. In May 
1864 the annual entrance examinations were held at the Protestant Hall in 
Catherine Street in the city, and it was reported that there were twenty-eight candi- 
dates for only six pla~es.0~ In December, the school was again inspected, this time 
by the bishop, five other clergymen and a total of six laymen. Religious knowledge 
was of course still a priority, and the answering in Script~~re on this occasion was 
described as 'remarkably good, and gave abundant proof of the manner in which 
the great truths of our holy religion are impressed upon the hearts and minds of the 
children'. The main subjects examined were Scripture, the Articles of the Church 
of England, catechism, geography, grammar, writing, dictation, composition, book- 
keeping, mathematics, arithmetic, mental calculation, ethnology, the history of 
England and vocal music. The bishop was described as being 'perfectly satisfied 
with the answering in different departments'. James O'Donnohue was still he head- 
master, and was praised by the bishop for his 'his pains-taking labours.' The boys 
were described as 'happy and contented'.'j5 

The fortunes of the school continued to improve through the 1860s. In 1866 
during the annual inspection, the institution got another glowing report. The 
inspection on this occasion was conducted by the Rev. Charles Fry. The bishop, the 
dean and a number of clergymen were also present. The boys were examined in 
Scriptures, as well as in the secular subjects. It was noted that several specimens of 
the handwriting of the pupils were 'really perfect'. The boys were described as 'pic- 
tures of health and happiness', and the wife of the headmaster, Mrs. O'Donnoghue, 
was described as being 'indefatigable in her sphere of duty'. She was the matron. 

In 1868, there were thirty pupils in the school, and it was reported that James 
O'Donnohue had 'taken much care with the pupils, and that his efforts have been 
crowned with much success'. According to the examiner, Rev. Charles Fry, 
'Scripture was good', and he was very pleased how the boys were able to quote 
from the Bible. The improvement in penmanship was 'noteworthy', while arith- 
metic was 'progressing satisfactorily'. There was also an improvement in geogra- 
phy and in a knowledge and understanding of Euclid. The bishop found a very 
great improvement in h a n d ~ r i t i n g . ~ ~  The following year, matters still seemed to be 
improving, according to the examiners. The inspection was described as 'very sat- 
isfactory', with penmanship and dictation showing a 'marked improvement'."' 
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A New Headnzaster 
In 1873 James O'Donnohue finally retired, and was replaced by William Henry 
Smith, a graduate of the Church of Ireland Teacher Training College. He was a 
native of Dublin, and when he was appointed to the position in Waterford he was 
thirty-two years of age. When he took over as headmaster he was not impressed 
with the state of the building, describing it as 'scarcely habitable', and he stated that 
'the whole place was tumbling down, master's residence, school and a11'.6Vhere 
were so many holes in the roof of the building that he had to use an umbrella 
indoors! He also discovered that the boys had the 'habit of absenting themselves 
for days, and returning when they pleased'!" Over the next number of years over 
£2,000 had to be spent by the trustees on repairing the sch0ol.7~ 

The new headmaster also made a rather strange discovery at the school. In a 
deep well on the grounds he found the school bell. It was cast in bronze, and bore 
the initials, 'C.C.'. This was the trademark of Charles Clarke, a brass founder in 
Barronstrand Street in Waterford. His premises was situated on the site of the pre- 
sent-day Penny's shop. He had originally opened his foundry off Bachelor's Walk, 
and early in the nineteenth century moved to the Barronstrand Street premises, and 
continued in business there until his death in 1830, when his business was taken 
over by Samuel Woods." The headmaster brought the bell to Graham's foundry to 
have it repaired, and apparently forgot to collect it. According to Francis Graham, 
the last surviving member of the family in Waterford, 'it was thought the bell had 
offended a schoolboy or schoolboys of the period, and so found for a time, a rather 
watery grave'. In 1946, the old school bell formed part of an exhibition in the win- 
dow of William Fitzgerald, Ironmonger at 34 the Quay in the ~ i t y . 7 ~  

Another major innovation following the appointment of William Smith to the 
school was the introduction of fees, at £20 per annum, for the parents of children 
who could afford to pay them. Although the majority of the boys did not pay fees, 
this departure from the provisions of Foy's original bequest would in time attract a 
great deal of criticism. At this stage also strict regulations for the admission of free 
pupils were laid down, 

He must belong to the city of Waterford; he must be between the ages 
of ten and fourteen years; he must lodge beforehand a certificate of 
the marriage of his parents, a certificate of his baptism, and a certifi- 
cate of the good character of his family; he must pass an examination 
in reading, writing and arithmetic, and in the Holy Scripture, and in 
the Church Catechism, and after the examination he must be certified 
as in good health by the physician of the school, and must spend a 
month on trial at the school before he is finally received.73 
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In December 1878 the examination of candidates for admission to the school 
took place in the Protestant Hall in Catherine Street, in the presence of the bishop, 
the dean, and the clergymen of the city. The examination lasted from 10 a.m. until 
4.p.m., and was conducted by the headma~ter .~~ 

Another innovation introduced into the school in the late 1870s was the annual 
prize night. The first of these appears to have taken place in January 1879. On that 
occasion, the school was decorated with flags and banners. As well as the bishop, a 
number of prominent lay people were in attendance, including Abraham Denny, 
one of the leading employers of the city, who also presented the prizes. At this 
stage also a school band was in operation, and among the airs played by the band 
were 'See the Conquering hero Comes' and the National Anthem?5 

The following week a letter appeared in the Wuterjbrd Standard from the head- 
master, William Smith, in relation to the prize night at the school. He wrote that his 
'heat  was lifted up by the events of that day'. He was especially grateful that so 
many of the 'best people in the neighbourhood' were present. He mentioned that 
Mrs. Bolton of Brook Lodge had presented a book to the Captain of the school, 
and a further sixty books had been donated to the school library which was being 
built. As well as presenting the prizes to the deserving pupils in the school, 
Abraham Denny had donated £50 towards fitting out a workshop. Smith also men- 
tioned in his letter that a sum of £2,000 had been spent by the trustees on improv- 
ing the school in recent ~ e a r s . 7 ~  

In 1879 also a new Commission on Endowed Schools in Ireland was set up, and 
Bishop Foy's School again came under investigation. There were now forty-five 
pupils on the roll. The headmaster was paid a salary of £100 per annum, with an 
assistant master receiving £40, with both of them receiving free board and lodging. 
The subjects taught were reading, spelling, writing, dictation, arithmetic, English 
history, geography, grammar, Euclid, algebra, book-keeping and vocal music. The 
boys were still clothed by the school - the 'blue coat' that Dean Hoare had objected 
so strongly to in 1855! The grounds surrounding the school were now used as a 
school farm, and according to the master, produced milk and butter, thus saving 
£1 00 a year. 

The boys rose at 7 a.m. and attended school until 5 p.m. There was only a fif- 
teen-minute break for lunch. There were no organised school sports as such. In the 
evenings the boys played chess or draughts. The diet in the school was as follows: 

Breakfast: Bread and cocoa 
Lunch: Bread only 
Dinner: Soup, vegetables and bread, with beef on Sundays 
Supper: Bread and milk. 
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The school itself was inspected, and on this occasion the standard of teaching 
was found to be excellent. The boys were examined in reading, spelling, grammar, 
geography and arithmetic. The master was described as a highly qualified music 
teacher, and had brought the singing of the boys 'to almost the highest degree of 
perfection'. The boys also formed the choir at the nearby Ballinakill church. 
Mention was made in the report also of the school band, 'an excellent fife band'. 
The master informed the commissioners that one of the boys hoped to train to 
become a regimental bandmaster. The school was described as 'in every particular 
suitable', and the commissioners were very impressed with the carpenter's work- 
shop, in all probability the one which was sponsored by Abraham Denny. 

The commissioners were critical of some aspects of the institution however. 
They were not impressed with the introduction of fees, 'entirely unjustified under 
the terms of the original bequest'. The free pupils were described as the 'poor 
Protestant boys of the city', sons of tradesmen, servants and 'that class of people'. 
They were chosen following an examination each year, and there were a large 
number of applicants. The previous year there had been twenty-two candidates for 
four places in the school. The examination was described as very simple, 'on a par 
with the head class of an ordinary infant school'. 

The commissioners were particularly concerned with the financial management 
of the estate of the school. The estates of the school were producing an annual 
income of £1,412. 19s. 9'/2d., almost exactly the same income as in 1855. The 
agent of the trustees, Henry V. Mackesy was questioned at length, and in the opin- 
ion of the commissioners 'displayed conspicuous ignorance as to the letting value 
of the land, and other circumstances of the estate'. The bishop had no idea of how 
the estate was managed. The estate had not been valued 'within living memory', 
and the rents were too low according to the trustees. As well as that, the shooting 
rights on the estate were given to the Congreve family, and for this no rent at all 
was paid. By 1879 the tenants were described as 'discontented', and the estate had 
received no direct supervision from the agent. Very long leases had been granted 
which contravened the provisions of the 1808 Act governing the operation of the 
estate of the charity. 

The school continued its improvement into the 1880s. In July 1881, it was 
reported that 'it has been put into a condition of efficiency which conforms to the 
intentions of the f~under ' .~ '  

From the late 1850s the nature of employment secmed for the pupils leaving 
the school began to change. Up to the mid-nineteenth century, those who were 
lucky enough would be apprenticed to tradesmen in the city and surrounding areas. 
While instances of apprenticeships to manual trades continued on well into the 
century, the number of boys receiving 'clerkships' began to increase. It is no won- 
der therefore, that such emphasis was placed on subjects such as penmanship, 
book keeping and dictation in the annual inspections. In fact Abraham Denny 
referred to this new trend in 1879 when he cautioned the boys against abandoning 
manual trades in lavour of more prestigious careers. He remarked that boys who 
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became carpenters would always be confident of finding work, even during times 
of economic depression, referring to 'the difficulty which clerks out of employment 
sometimes experienced'. 

Therefore, by the last quarter of the nineteenth century, it can be argued that 
Bishop Foy's School had overcome many of the difficulties that had been identi- 
fied in the earlier part of the century. 

The appointment of William Henry Smith marked a turning point in the for- 
tunes of the school. He was the first professionally trained teacher appointed and 
he would continue in his position up to1902. During his nearly thirty years in the 
school thc standard of teaching improved with new subjects introduced. The 
much-needed repairs to the school building were carried out. Even though the 
trustees of the school remained members of the clergy, contacts were made with 
businessmen in the wider Protestant community, and this marked the beginning of 
lay involvement with the school. 

However, as these developments were taking place, Ireland was entering anoth- 
er turbulent period in its history. The near famine of 1879, and twenty years of 
land agitation which followed would almost spell the death knell of the school. 

Near Famine and Land War: The School on the Verge of Closure 
When tlze potatoes failed again 
It can be argued to a certain extent, that up to the last twenty years of the nine- 
teenth century the fortunes of Bishop Foy's School remained isolated from events 
in Waterford and in the country as a whole. However, even as the Commissioners 
on Endowed Education were beginning their public sittings in Waterford in 1879, a 
series of events were unfolding in Ireland which would end this period of isolation, 
and force the school to transform itself once more to meet changing circumstances. 

One of the main concerns of the Commissioners on Endowed Schools when 
examining the financial state of the school was the fact that rents on the estate 
should have been increased, especially during the years of economic boom in agri- 
culture during the 1860s and 1870s when Irish farmers enjoying a relatively good 
standard of living.78 No attempt was made by the trustees of the school to take 
advantage of this economic boom and increase rents on the estate. 

By 1879 it was already too late, as agriculture in Ireland had entered a period of 
depression due to a combination of bad weather and competition from American 
exports to Britain. By the 1870s as the American mid-west was opened up to agri- 
culture, Europe and especially Britain was flooded by cheap imported food. As 
well as that, as the summer of 1879 progressed, disturbing reports began to appear 
in the press from different parts of the country on the state of the potato crop, with 
cases of potato blight being reported. On the 3 October, the very day that the com- 
missioners began their public session in Waterford, it was reported; 
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The potatoes may be said to be gone. The few that are in it are like 
marbles. A fellow would be hungry before he could dig his dinner.% 

It must have seemed that the Great Famine of 1845 was repeating itself. For the 
second time within thirty years, the threat of a countrywide famine and widespread 
starvation loomed. 

Land Agitation 
By late 1879 farmers realised that they would face ruin if the situation was not 
improved in some way, and they saw rent reductions as an instant solution to their 
immediate pr0blems.8~ It is interesting to note that the first direct contact between 
the bishop and the tenants on the Foy estate was when they wrote to him seeking a 
reduction in rent.x' 

By the early 1880s, farmers were organized in a national agrarian mass move- 
ment, the Land League, under the leadership of Michael Davitt. This movement 
attracted the support of nationalist politicians such as Charles Stuart Parnell, and 
the revolutionary republican physical-force movement, the Irish Republican 
Brotherhood, thus uniting agrarian and nationalist demands in one united move- 
ment, the so-called 'New Departure' in Irish 

The Land League had branches all over the country including Waterford, and 
was campaigning for further rent reductions on behalf of farmers. In November 
1880 a branch of the Land League was established in Waterford City at a meeting 
held in Shannahan's public house in Ballybrkken. Joseph Fisher, the owner of the 
Mzuzster Express and Waterford Mail newspapers was elected chairman of the 
branch. In some respects, Fisher might be regarded as an unlikely candidate to lead 
the Land League in Waterford. Born in Youghal, County Cork in 1816, he was a 
member of a prominent Quaker family and was educated at Newtown School in 
Waterford. He moved to Waterford city in 1853, bought the staunchly Protestant 
Waterford Mail newspaper, and in 1860 founded the Munster Express. As an 
employer in the city, he regularly took apprentices from Bishop Foy's, and in fact 
gave evidence on the state of the school to the Endowed Schools Commission in 
1855. In later years, two of his own grandsons would attend the school, and tragi- 
cally loose their lives in the British army during World War I, (see Appendix). 

By the early 1880s it became increasingly difficult to collect rents on the Foy 
estate. This put the trustees of the school in a difficult position as they depended on 
the rent from their lands to support the operation of the school. In July 1881 the 
agent Charles Langley, attempted to sell the interest in one of the farms on the 
estate, and in Fisher's Mcinster Express newspaper this was described as an 'act of 
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The I887 Report 
It was during the height of this crisis that another set of commissioners investigat- 
ed thc running of the school once again. The Commissioners on Endowed 
Education 1887 sat in Waterford in October of that year. The bishop was called to 
give evidence, and he outlined the provisions of Bishop Foy's original bequest. 
After doing this, he was reluctant to answer any more questions, claiming that this 
commission had no authority to enquire into the operation of the school. 

Eventually after some discussion the bishop did agree to answer further ques- 
tions. He stated that the school was for the children of parents who were members 
of the Church of Ireland. Some Dissenters were accepted in to the school, as long 
as their parents agreed that they be educated as Anglicans. According to the bishop 
the parents of the boys were 'usually trades people', members of 'the respectable 
middle class, some servants, and army and constabulary pensioners'. One of the 
commissioners remarked that the boys seemed very well brought up for 'those 
positions in life', with the bishop replying that that they 'get wonderfully polished 
in the school' under the guidance of the headmaster. The bishop was asked about 
the fall in numbers, and he explained that it was because of the difficulties in get- 
ting the tenants on the estate to pay their rents. 

The agent, Charles Langley was also questioned. He explained that before the 
period of land agitation, £1,400 taken in rents every year. However, in 1886, this 
was reduced to only £500. The usher, assistant master and many of the servants 
were dismissed, and the headmaster was forced to continue conduct the school sin- 
gle-handed. In spite of these difficulties, the headmaster endeavoured to instruct 
the boys 'in all aspects of a good commercial education'. 

On reaching the age of sixteen, employment was found for the boys in the city, 
'in warehouse, sometimes as counter-hands, in drapery and grocery shops in 
Waterford, and as assistants of that kind; they get clerkships in merchants' offices'. 
Some of the boys were still being apprenticed to tradesmen. According to the 
headmaster, there were no difficulties in placing the boys in employment when 
they left the school. It was also his policy to keep contact with the boys when they 
left. 

The commissioners visited the school, and in spite of the current difficulties 
seemed to be very impressed with how it was conducted, and expressed, 

the very great pleasure they felt in visiting an institution which was so 
admirably managed, beautifully situated, and in every way a lasting 
benefit to the pupils, and a credit to Mr. Smith. 

The commissioners admitted that in reality they had no authority whatsoever 
over the school. However, as in previous reports they did express concerns with 
regard to some aspects of its management, in spite of their glowing praise of the 
headmaster. They were concerned with the fact that parents of some of the boys 
were paying fees, at £20 per annum, although at this stage the meagre income of 
the school was probably in dire need of these fees! The headmaster was questioned 
closely regarding the fee-paying pupils, described as 'the children of land stewards 





In 1885, there were six new boys taken at the school, which was about average 
for these years. In 1886, this dropped to two, and for the following three years 
there were no new pupils admitted at all. Matters began to improve slightly in the 
1890s. In July 1891, one boy was taken, one more in September 1892, two in 
1893, four in 1894, and in 1894 the number was back up to six again, following 
the settling of the dispute on the estate and the re-instatement of the tenants.'" 

According to the Census of Ireland in 1901, there were thirty-two boys in the 
school. William Henry Smith was the only master, and he lived at Grantstown with 
his wife Jane Elizabeth and his one son, Charles. At this stage the land surrounding 
the school seemed to have been farmed to a certain extent, and the prod~rce proba- 
bly used as part of the diet of the boys. As well as the main school building, in that 
year there were also two cow houses, a calf house, a dairy, a fowl house, and a 
barn. There were two stables, a coach house, a boiling house, a laundry, two sheds 
and a workshop, perhaps the one which Abraham Denny sponsored in 1879. There 
were three servants employed in the house, a cook, a laundress and a housemaid, 
all Catholics. 

In 1901 William Smith had been headmaster for nearly thirty years. During 
these years he was responsible for transforming the school from what was essen- 
tially an eighteenth-century charity institution into a modern nineteenth-century 
school, offering 'an English education'. Through his enthusiasm and love of teach- 
ing he had managed to keep the school in existence during the difficult years of the 
Land War. 

At the dawn of the new century however, it was recognised that in spite of his 
efforts, further major changes would be needed to ensure the continuation of Foy's 
into the future. 

Conclusion: Back to the City: Bishop Foy's in the New Century 
Although the school survived the crises of the 1880s and 1890s, it is certainly true 
to state that if the land agitation had continued for much longer it would have been 
forced to close, and these difficult years must have finally convinced the trustees 
that changes were necessary for the school to survive in the twentieth century. 

The trustees also recognised the fact that the school had remained isolated from 
developments in education, and by 1900 was a rather quaint anachronism. It could 
not really be described as either a primary school or a secondary school. As an 
educational institution it seemed to straddle both levels, with boys entering after a 
few years spent in primary education and remaining for four years or so. In adver- 
tisements it was described as offering 'a solid English education'. The school was 
also still very much vocational in character, and while the number of pupils placed 
as apprentices had declined; most of them were placed in employment with the 
main Protestant firms in the city. The main disadvantage for parents and pupils was 
that boys were not prepared for state examinations, which had been established 
under the Intermediate Education Act of 1878. Thus, the boys attending Bishop 
Foy's were effectively ruled out from going on to university, or of furthering their 
education in any way. 
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free of charge. The destitute children of deceased clergymen were to be educated 
without having to pay fees for example. The governors were also empowered to 
operate evening classes. 

The move from GI-antstown 
When the 1808 Act was passed in Westminster establishing the boarding school at 
Grantstown it took a total of nine years for the school to move from the city. In 
1902 however, things moved much faster. The following January, the Grantstown 
premises was advertised for sale in the local press. The school was described as 

a sound, handsome, well-constructed building, with cut limestone fac- 
ings and chimneys, two stories over a basement, situate on an eleva- 
tion. It is approached through a lodge, gardener's house and long 
avenue, sheltered and ornamented by trees and plants, garden and 
pleasure grounds ."' 

In spite of this however, the Grantstown premises was not disposed of for a 
number of years, and continued to be used as accommodation of boarders, as well 
as the residence of the headmaster. Sports, a new development following the pass- 
ing of the Act of 1902, were held on the lands at Grantstown. 

Thus, by the first decade of the new century the schools under the banner of 
Bishop Foy were up and running. 

Plans were also drawn up for building a new school on the Mall in the city, 
where a site was acquired for £2,000. 

In 1906, the primary school, now known as the Mason and Lady Lane 
Incorporated School was described as 'one of the largest and most important 
Protestant schools in the south of Ireland'. The governors offered four scholarships 
to the pupils of the primary school to the secondary schools under their care." 

Despite the fact that the new act envisaged a co-educational secondary school it 
seems that in the early years at least, two separate establishments were in opera- 
tion, a High School for girls and a separate High School for boys. The boys' school 
was situated in Cathedral Square, with Dr. W. G. Connolly as headmaster. He was 
a graduate of Trinity College, Dublin, with almost twenty years experience as a 
teacher in Coleraine, at Foyle College, Derry, and as headmaster of Bangor 
Grammar School. Another new innovation of the twentieth century was the teach- 
ing of scientific subjects, and a science laboratory established in the boys' school. 
Funding for the laboratory was provided by the local Technical Education 
Committee, which had been established in 1900.92 

Boys were prepared for Matriculation, entrance scholarships to the universities, 
and the state Intermediate Examinations. 
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Dr. Connelly also stressed the importance of school games in furthering the 
ethos of the school. Games promoted courage, self-reliance, and 'a sense of honour 
and moral obligation.' Participation in sports was compulsory for boarders. Some 
parents of day pupils however did not 'attach the proper value to them', or insist 
that their sons participated fully in them. 

The principal of the girls' high school, Miss Russell, also presented her report. 
There were sixty girls attending the school, and Miss Russell also stressed the 
importance of sports in the education of the girls in the school, stating that 'it is the 
girls of today who will be called upon to bring up the generation of tomorrow, and 
a healthy girl, morally and physically, was what the world wanted'!94 

The 191 0 Report 
Both the boys' and girls' high schools were visited by inspectors from the 
Intermediate Board of Education in January 1910. It was noted that classes were 
small in each of the schools. In the boys' school there were fifty-two pupils, with 
three of them under the age of ten, and one over nineteen. There were twenty-four 
day-pupils , and twenty-eight boarders. 

The report of the inspectors on the boys' school was excellent. Latin was taught 
by the headmaster, who 'had a distinguished career in Trinity College'. The boys 
were receiving 'good instruction of a vigorous old-fashioned kind, which seemed 
likely to produce the very best results'. Although there was 'nothing brilliant' in the 
work of the boys, they had a sound knowledge of Latin grammar, and the two 
upper grades were able to scan Virgil. 

The headmaster also taught English, and according to the inspector, the knowl- 
edge of the boys of English grammar was excellent, and they 'were able to parse 
anything on a word of command'. A lesson on tenses was described as 'a model of 
its kind'. 

In French, the boys seemed to know their grammar well, but were weak on pro- 
nunciation, although the master was doing his best to correct this. The inspectors 
were of the opinion that much of the translation work being done in French was 
very artificial 'constructed to introduce and illustrate points of grammar'. In general 
however, the teaching was good, and the boys answered the questions put to them 
well, showing a 'sound knowledge of the work' 

With regard to mathematics, the teaching was described as 'clear and logical', 
and the teacher followed the boys' work closely. 

When the girls' school was inspected, there were twenty-four students in the 
school, four boarders and nineteen day-pupils. In English, the manner of the 
teacher was excellent, although the lesson on the day of the visit did not seem to be 
part of the curriculum. It consisted of a lecture on early religious drama, and 
although the girls had notebooks and were supposed to be taking notes, very few 
of them appeared to be doing so. The girls seemed to have found mathematics dif- 
ficult. The teacher was described as 'inexperienced', and her work on the black- 
board was 'not well arranged'. 

94 Waterjord News, 29 June 1906. 





In 1958, George Langley, the last headmaster of Bishop Foy's was appointed. 
On taking up the position, he was told by the governors that the school was secure 
financially, and as it had lasted for 250 years, and there was no reason why it 
should not go on for another 250. 

Sadly, this was not the case, and 300 years after it first opened in Ban-onstrand 
Street, Bishop Foy's School closed its doors for the last time. 

At some stage, probably soon after the move from Grantstown into the city, a 
school flag was made. On the last prize night held at the school in 1967, the then 
president of the Old Foyonian Association, Mr. C.L. Fudger, spoke emotionally 
about the flag, 'which had fluttered in the wind at Grantstown on the occasion of 
cricket matches and on sports days.' This flag bore the date 1707, the year of the 
foundation of the school, and he hoped that when the school finally closed a suit- 
able resting place would be found for it close to Bishop Foy's tomb in Christchurch 
Cathedral in Waterford. 

Even though the old school flag was never placed on Foy's tomb, the contribu- 
tion he made to education in Waterford city and county will not be forgotten. 
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APPENDIX 

Old Foyonians in World War I, 1914-18 
It is estimated that in excess of 400,000 Irishmen fought in the Great War. This fig- 
ure includes those already serving in the regular British army in 1914, those who 
volunteered for service in the three new Irish divisions formed following the out- 
break of the war, the loth, 16th and 36th, and also Irishmen serving with British 
and other Commonwealth forces.'00 Of those who served, approximately 50,000 
were casualties of war. 
Roughly 4,800 men from Waterford city and county served during the war, and 
over 700 were killed. 
Among the dead were twenty past pupils of Bishop Foy's School. Of these, eigh- 
teen were young officers, with the rank of 2nd Lieutenant, although one was an 
Acting Captain. In the British Army in general, one officer out of five was killed 
during the war. Portora Royal School in Armagh for example, sent 235 of its past 
pupils to the war, of whom forty-three were killed. Therefore, in all probability, 
about 100 young men from Bishop Foy's enlisted. 
Sadly, two brothers were amongst those killed, Oswald Garrow and Hubert Patrick 
Fisher, sons of local newspaper proprietor and radical nationalist leader Harry 
Fisher. It was Hal-sy Fisher, together with his brother William who successfully 
directed the campaign of land agitation in Waterford and south Tipperary in the 
1880s, a campaign which nearly brought about the closure of Bishop Foy's! 
On leaving school, Oswald entered Trinity College, Dublin, where he had a distin- 
guished academic career, and was awarded the Bedell Scholarship. He was 
ordained as a minister in the Church of Ireland, and served as a curate in St. 
George's parish in Dublin for three years. He was a noted Irish scholar, and fre- 
quently preached in Irish at St. Patrick's Cathedral. On the outbreak of the war, he 
volunteered for service as a Chaplin, and served on the Western Front, and later in 
Mesopotamia (Iraq). Fighting continued in this region after the defeat of Turkey 
and the Rev. Fisher was killed in Baghdad on the 4 November 1920."" 
Hubert Patrick Fisher also attended Foy's, as well as Chesterfirld College, Birr, 
County Offaly. He later qualified as a radio officer, and was working on board a 
liner bound for Brazil when the war broke out. He returned to England as soon as 
he could, and was commissioned into the Shropshire Light Infantry. He arrived in 
France in June 1916, and was transferred to the Gloucester Regiment. He was 
killed in the opening days of the Battle of the Somme in July 1916, leading his pla- 
toon. He had been in France for three weeks, and was just twenty years of age. 

100 Jim Stacey, Ann Allridge, Richard Power, 'List of County Waterford Soldiers who 
Died in World War 1', in Decks, 55, (1999), pp. 79-1 15. 

10 1 Galway Express, 13 November 1920. 
102 I l id.,  15 July 1916. 



Old Foyonians Killed in the Great War 

Francis Warren Coffee, 2nd Lieut., Royal Irish Regiment. 
Percy Alexander Crone, 2nd Lieut., Royal Munster Fusiliers. 

Gerald Somerville Yeats Cullen, 2nd Lieut., Royal Irish Fusiliers. 
William Augustus Nelson Dobbyn, 2nd Lieut., Royal Lancaster Fusiliers. 

William Leonard Price Dobbyn, MC, Lieut., 
Acting Captain, Royal Irish Regiment. 

Oswald Garrow Fisher, Chaplin. 
Hubert Patrick Fisher, 2nd Lieut., Shropshire Light Infantry. 

Henry Robert Taylor Hackett, 2nd Lieut., Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 
John Caleb Haigh, 2nd Lieut., Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 

Eric Colpoys Godges, 2nd Lieut., Royal Irish Regiment. 
Eric Aldred Thistleton Line, 2nd Lieut., Royal Army Service Corps. 

James Robert Love, 2nd Lieut., Royal Munster Fusiliers. 
Arthur Russell Morris, Canadian Light Infantry. 

Richard Alfred Aylmer Newell, Canadian Light Infantry. 
Charles Edward Newell, 2nd Lieut., Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers. 

William Albert Neville Oakshott, 2nd Lieut., Royal Irish Regiment. 
Edward Willington Shelton, private, Canadian Expeditionary Force. 

Ernest Frederick William Smith, 2nd Lieut., Leinster Regiment, attached Royal 
Flying Corps. 

Thomas Emanuel Smith, 2nd Lieut., Royal Garrison Artillery. 
William White. 



The Goldsmiths of Waterford1 

(This article first appeared in the Journal of the Royal Society of Antiquaries of 
Ireland 133 (2003), pp. 1 1 1 -1 29) 

The paucity of information on Waterford's goldsmiths in the standard reference 
works on old Irish silver2 tends to create the impression that goldsmiths were virtu- 
ally non-existent there. This image of thc city, which might be considered unflat- 
tering, was somewhat ameliorated by two papers dealing with Waterford's ecclesi- 
astical plate which were published in the Journal of the Royal Society of 
Antiquaries of Ireland in 1955 and 1967.3 Neither of the writers, however, firmly 
identified the local makers of any of the church plate. The aim of this paper is to 
redress the situation and to shed some further light on the goldsmiths' craft in 
Waterford over the centuries. 

The discovery during excavations in Waterford of crucibles for melting pre- 
cious metals, and bone motifs used by goldsmiths, attests to the long history of the 
craft in Waterford. The high quality of workmanship is demonstrated by the 
remarkable late eleventh-century kite brooch, most likely made in the city, 
unearthed in the  excavation^.^ It is possible that Neachtain, the craftsman who 
made the famous crosier c.1110, for Nial mac meic Aeducain, one time abbot and 
later bishop of Lismore, worked in Waterford, at least in the county. However, the 
earliest certain record we have of a named goldsmith in Waterford is of 'Roger the 
goldsmith'. He is mentioned in the State Papers on various occasions between 1287 
and 1291 as paying the farm of the city of Waterford to the exchequer.j Being 
entrusted with such fiscal responsibilities, normally the preserve of the mayor or 
the bailiffs, indicates that Roger was one of the leading citizens of the time, a testa- 
ment to his successful business as a goldsmith. He may well have had some link to 
the mint that was re-established in the city in 1281 and again in 1294 since the 
minting of coins required goldsmithing skills such as the ability to assay gold and 
silver and to cut dies. It is likely that Friar Stephen de Fulbourne, who was 

In thc prescnt contcxt thc terms 'goldsmith' and 'silversmith' may bc regardcd as syn- 
onymous. 
I. Pickford (ed.), Jackson's Silver & Gold Marks of England, Scotland & Ireland, 
(Suffolk, 1989); D. Bennett, Irish Georgian Silver, (London, 1972); idem, Collecting 
Irish Silver, (London, 1984); R. Wyse Jackson, Irish Silver, (Cork and Dublin, 1972). 
R. Wyse Jackson, 'Old Church Plate of Lismore Diocese', in Jo~ournal oj'the Royal 
Society of Antiquaries of Ireland 85 (1 955), pp. 5 1-6 1, (hcnceforth abbrcviated as 
JRSAI); C. B. Warren, 'Notes on the Church Plate of Waterford Diocese', in JRSAI 97 
(l967), pp. 119-127. 
E. McEncaney with R. Ryan (cds .), Waterford Treasures, (Watcrford, 2004), pp. 21 -2. 
H.S. Sweetman (ed.), Calendar State Documents, Ireland, 1285-1292, (London, 
1879), Vol. 3, pp. 136, 15 1 , 166, 186,220,223,354 & 432. 
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consecrated bishop of Waterford in 1273, became an important patron of Roger." 
The bishop was appointed Treasurer of Ireland in 1274 and was twice constituted 
Justiciar, in 1279 and again in 1282 until his death, and used both offices for his 
considerable personal aggrandizement. He was advanced to the archbishopric of 
Tuam in 1286. When he died there two years later the king, Edward I, claimed that 
Stephen had owed huge sums to the Crown and sought an inventory of the 
deceased archbishop's residual possessions. This revealed that the former Giar had 
amassed an astonishing treasure trove.7 In his wardrobe at Tuam were found a 
large silver ewer, a silver-gilt cup and cover, along with luxurious clothes and 
exotic fruits and foodstuffs. In one chest were found two silver cups and in another 
£100 of silver. The pantry or buttery yielded a silver-gilt salt, three gold spoons, 
twelve large and twelve smaller silver spoons, five silver plates, one silver dish for 
alms, two large and two smaller silver ewers, nine silver pots with covers, one gold 
plate and cover, and three silver-gilt cups with feet. In the kitchen two large silver 
dishes, fifteen smaller ones and eighteen silver saltcellars were found. The collec- 
tion was seized and given to the Exchequer in Dublin. What was discovered was 
probably only part of the prelate's store of gold and silver. But it does give an idea 
of the kind of commissions a goldsmith of this period might be required to exe- 
cute. It also provides an unusual window on the luxurious lifestyle of a late thir- 
teenth-century clerical administrator. In all probability much of the prelate's trea- 
sure was made in Waterford during Stephen's occupancy of that see. 

In medieval times Waterford was the second largest city in the country and was 
well favoured with royal patronage. As with comparable towns and cities through- 
out Europe, it is most likely that goldsmiths played a very prominent part in the 
financial and commercial life of the city. Possibly indicative of what may have 
been the contemporary situation in Waterford, though on a smaller scale, the 
admission of twenty-four goldsmiths to Dublin's Guild of Merchants between 
c.1190 and 1259 is recorded in the guild's uniquely surviving roll." However, apart 
from the references to Roger in the 1280s, Waterford's surviving records provide 
virtually no information about the city's goldsmiths at that early period. 

Guild of Hammermen 
The right 'to have their reasonable guilds as the mayor, burgesses and commonality 
of Bristol had' was granted to Waterford by letters patent of King John dated 3 
June 1215.' In the wake of that privilege it is likely that a guild of hammermen was 

6 Walter Harris, The Whole Works of Sir James Ware Concerning Ireland, (Dublin, 
1764), i, p. 531. 

7 H.S. Sweetman (ed.), Calendar State Documents, Ireland, 1285-1292, (London, 
1879), VOI. 3, pp. 180-1. 

8 P. Connolly and G. Martin (eds.), The Dublin Guild Merclzant Roll, c.1190-1265, 
(Dublin, 1992). 

9 P. Higgins, 'Ancient Guilds or Fraternities of the City of Waterford, AD 1663', in 
Jourrzal of the WateIrfbl-d aizd So~ttlz East of' Irelard Archaeological Society vii 
(1901), p. 161, (Henceforth abbreviated as JWSEIAS). In this article the date of King 
John's letters patent was mistakenly taken to be the 7th (1205), rather than the 17th 
year of his reign (1 2 15); see E. McEneaney, 'King John and the City of Waterford', in 
Decies 26 (1984), pp. 9,10. 
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Figure I :  The Hurley Grave Slab in the wins of the French Church, Waterford. 

unexpected to find a goldsmith with such a Gaelic-Irish name, possibly emanating 
from West Cork. apparently successfully established in such an anglicised city as 
Waterford. But in the wake of the spoliation of the monasteries from 1539 onwards 
it is to be presumed that the traditional Gaelic-Irish goldsmiths lost their former 
major patrons and were forced to find accommodation with the new order in the 
land. That the craft was also practised in rural Waterford at the time is shown by a 
grant of pardon in 1583 to John Conil, a goldsmith of Dungarvan." 

Two further goldsmiths working in Waterford are encountered under bizarre 
circumstances in the last days of Queen Elizabeth. They were caught up in a nai've 
scheme devised in January 1602 by Sir John Brockett, Constable of Duncannon 
Fort, to mint counterfeit coin.lA For this purpose Brockett had procured goldsmiths' 
tools and materials and had taken a lease on the Tower of Hook where he planned 
to build a workshop, strategically located close to the deep water where incriminat- 
ing evidence could be easily got rid of in the event of an emergency. Lacking mint- 
ing know-how, he had endeavoured to recruit a young Scottish goldsmith working 
in Waterford, one Henry Milne, to provide technical assistance. His approach to 
Milne was rather heavy-handed, arranging that Milne and a companion, Jasper 
Ronan, another goldsmith, be apprehended in Ballyhack and conveyed as prisoners 
to Duncannon, alleging that they had feloniously robbed a man of Kilkenny. Next 
day Brockett released Ronan but invited Milne to remain at the fort for discussions 
when he attempted to inveigle him into his counterfeiting scheme. Returning to 
Watesford Milne thought better of it and, encountering a Mr. Kenney, the Crown 
Escheator, on the way, informed him of Brockett's criminal intentions. The out- 
come for Brockett is not recorded but since counterfeiting coin was deemed a 
crime so serious as to be excluded from Royal pardon, it may be presumed he paid 
the ultimate penalty. 

13 Ibid.,No.4115 
14 P.H. Hore. Wisioly o/'/lze Town atd C O L I I I ~ ~  of We.xford, (London, 1904), Vol.  iv, pp. 

35-43. 
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It seems unlikely that the six goldsmiths' names occurring randomly in such 
incidental records as those mentioned account for all members of the craft in 
Waterford at the period in question. Probably there were many others, and if so it 
suggests that in the latter decades of Elizabeth's reign Waterford was a major gold- 
smithing centre. Sadly, no examples of plate that can be indisputably attributed to 
any of these craftsmen are known. 

Quality assurance 
Before discussing the quality of the metal used by Waterford's goldsmiths, it may 
be helpful at this point to give a brief accoitnt of the evolution of hallmarking sys- 
tems. 

In former times the intrinsic valuc of plate was related to thc coin of the realm, 
that is to say that the weight of an object of gold or silver was a direct measure of 
its monetary value. In turn this required that the purity of the precious metal 
employed by goldsmiths in their wares corresponded to that of the official coinage. 
Silver, and more rarely gold, was the principal metal used when minting coin. Both 
of these metals are too soft to use in their pure state in articles that have to with- 
stand constant wear. This drawback is overcome by fusing the precious metal with 
an inexpensive base metal, normally copper, to produce an alloy of more suitable 
hardness and durability. To protect the consumer from inferior wares wrought from 
low-grade alloys it became necessary to adopt minimum standards of finencss 
(purity) for the alloys involved and, following from that, systems to police the 
craft. 

A minimum content of 925 parts of pure silver in one thousand parts of alloy 
was established in 1300 by Edward I in England for silver wares; this is generally 
known as sterling silver. Adopting the French norm, the standard for gold was set 
at 19'15 carats, pure gold being 24 carats; this is equivalent in modern terminology 
to 800 parts per thousand. Over subsequent centuries variations in the permitted 
standards for gold were adopted but the sterling standard for silver remained the 
preferred one in Britain (and later in Ireland) until recent times. A further statute 
ordained that no silver wares could enter the marketplace until they had been test- 
ed (assayed) by the 'guardians of the craft' for compliance with the official stan- 
dard of fineness and duly marked or 'touched' to that effect. In England the initial 
mark of approval consisted of a leopard's head. While it had been introduced in 
France a few decades earlier, it was thus that the system of hallmarking came into 
being in England and, with various modifications, continues to this day.15 

The ancient method by which gold and silver wares were tested for compliance 
with the official standard involved rubbing the article on a smooth black stone, 
producing a narrow streak of the metal and comparing the colour of this with simi- 
lar streaks produced by a graded range of needles (known as touch needles) of 
alloys of known purity. Since it depended on subjective judgments the test was not 
wholly reliable and, though retained for quick testing in goldsmiths' shops and 

15 J.S. Forbes, Hallmark: A History of tlze London Assay Oflice, (London, 1999), p. 15 
et seq. 



such locations, it was generally supcrseded by a procedure known as the cupella- 
tion assay. This involved wrapping carefully weighed scrapings from the test arti- 
cle in lead foil, transferring to a bone ash cup (termed a cupel) and heating in a 
high-temperature muffle ficrnace until the lead and base metals are fully converted 
into their molten oxides and absorbed into the cupel. When cooled down, the resid- 
ual bead of pure gold or silver, now free of base metals, is wcighed and fineness 
calculated by comparing the weight of the bead with that of the original test sam- 
ple. Accurate results depended on the reliability of the weighing equipment and the 
skill of the assayer in determining when cupellation was complete. Such compe- 
tence was only acquired by experience and was not widely available. 

While these early Tudor controls over the fineness of gold and silver wares 
were initially confined to London, they were soon extended to provincial Britain, 
resulting in a number of small centres of goldsmithing in the provinces setting up 

d centres usu- their own assay offices. As well as the fineness mark these provinci, l 
ally stamped goods with a mark identifying the city or town concerned. For 
example, the ordinances adopted in 1462 for the goldsmiths of Bristol, a city 
which was the model for Waterford's guild system, appointed a bull's head as the 
town mark.'" 

Dublin Assay Office established 
Little is known about how the fineness of plate was controlled in Ireland before 
1638 when an official, national centre for assaying and hallmarking gold and silver 
wares was established. Contemporary valuations would suggest that unmarked 
Irish plate was considered of inferior fineness to London hallmarked or 'touchcd' 
plate. For example, a valuation in August 1639 of the plate left by the recently 
deceased fifth earl of Thomond of Bunratty Castle assessed his plate of 'London 
Touch' at 4s. 10d. per ounce whereas 'Plate Made at Dublin Not Touch' was valued 
at only 3s. 10d. per ounce." The need for an official assay office in Ireland was fre- 
quently alluded to in the early seventeenth century. Writing from Dublin in January 
1600 and sending him a piece of Spanish money to be 'touched and tried to see 
whether it be counterfeit or right', Sir Geffrey Fenton explained to Sir Robert Cecil 
of the Privy Council in London that 'in this land there is no means to do it'.'" few 
years later, in October 1605, in an effort to end the city's goldsmiths' dealings over 
many years in goods of 'base and corrupt silver' Dublin Corporation enacted a by- 
law requiring goldsmiths' wares to be assayed at the 'Staple' and stamped with the 
figures of a lion, harp and castle.I9 As no example of such a marked piece is 

16 G.E.P. How, 'The Goldsmiths of Bristol', in The Corzrzoisse~ir 186 (August, 1974), pp. 
252-5. Despite its less turbulent history, it is interesting to note that, in common with 
Waterford, no example of a Bristol piece bearing this town mark has yet been discov- 
ered. 

17 B. 0 DBlaigh, 'An Inventory of the Contents of Bunratty Castle . . . I ,  in North Murzster 
Antiquities Journal xxxvi (1995), p. 147. 

18 Calendar State Docz~merzts, Ireland, I Novembe~. 1600 - 31 July 1601, p. 157. 
19 J.T. Glbert (ed.), Calendar of Ancient Records of Dublin, (Dublin, 1 891), Vol. ii, pp. 

451 -2. 
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known, it may be that the by-Jaw was never implemented. In 1623 another writer 
on conditions in Ireland referred to the practice at the time of some goldsmiths 
uttering base plate stamped with spurious London hallmarks, for which crime 
some had been convicted.20 Following concerns expressed in parliament in Dublin 
in 1634 about the lack of an effective system, a Royal Charter was issued in 
December 1637 establishing the Company of Goldsmiths of Dublin along the lines 
of the Goldsmiths' Company in London." The Dublin Company was given authori- 
ty to control the craft in Ireland. The same fineness standards for gold and silver 
wares as applied in London were laid down. It became mandatory for wares 
wrought within three miles of Dublin city to be submitted to Goldsmiths' Hall to 
be assayed, and if found in compIiance to be set with 'the King's Majesty Stamp 
called the Harp Crowned'. Additionally, a mark identifying the maker of the piece 
was also to be applied. Following the London practice, the newly established 
Dublin Assay Office commenced also identifying pieces with the year of assay by 
applying a date-letter stamp, commencing with the roman letter A in a shaped 
shield for 1638-39. 

Dealing with goldsmithing centres outside Dublin, the charter required obser- 
vance of the same ordinances as applied in Dublin and that one or two representa- 
tives of the craft in these centres should come to Dublin to learn the science of 
assaying and obtain the harp crowned punch 'as of old it was accustomed and 
ordained within our city of London'. The charter, while otherwise remarkable for 
its prolixity, was vague as to how this should be carried out in practice, and it docs 
not appear that any of the provincial towns or cities took immediate steps to imple- 
ment the requirement. While the surviving records of the Assay Office in Dublin 
are not complete and col~tinuous for the period concerned, they do show that occa- 
sionally from 1708 to about 1755 parcels of plate were submitted by Waterford 
goldsmiths using Dublin goldsmiths as agents, though only in the case of Thomas 
Miles (of whom later) was the name of the actual Waterford worker recorded by 
the Assay Master. It may well be that for a short period after 1638 some provincial 
goldsmiths had occasionally submitted their wares to the newly established Dublin 
Assay Office, abandoning the practice after the outbreak of the upheavals in the 
country in 1641. There survives a chalice bearing the harp crowned and date-letter 
B for 1639-40 and an inscription acknowledging its presentation in 1639 by 
Nicholas Loftus of Kilcloggan to the parish church of the Blessed Virgin Mary in 
Templetown, county Wexford. An accompanying paten bears the hallmarks for 
1640-41. Both pieces bear a maker's mark comprising the initials IT.2' The records 
of the Dublin Goldsmiths Company for  the years mentioned are  quite 

20 G. O'Brien (ed.), Advertisenzents for Ireland, (RSAI, l923), p. 45. 
21 For a comprehensive account of the provisions of the charter and its operation over 

subscqucnt ccnturics, sec C.J. Jackson, English Goldsmiths and Their Marks, 
(London, 2nd edition, 1921), p. 559 et seq. 

22 Tony Sweeney, Irislz Stuart Silver, (Dublin, 1995), pp. 29-33. It may be noted that a 
pair of flagons belonging to St. Fin Barre's Cathedral in Cork bear the same IT mak- 
er's mark and are also hallmarked 1639-40. 
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comprehensive but do not list any goldsmith with these initials. Since Loftus's 
abode and parish church were quite close to the shore of Waterford harbour it is 
tempting to suggest that for logistical reasons Loftus placed the commission for 
these items locally rather than with a metropolitan goldsmith. However, a contem- 
porary Waterford (or other South of Ireland) goldsmith answering to the initials IT 
has not as yet been identified. 

There were security risks attached to sending valuable plate to Dublin to be 
tested and even when a degree of normality returned to the country with the 
restoration of the monarchy in 1660 it would seem that provincial goldsmiths sel- 
dom took the risk. Thus we find goldsmiths in several centres, e.g. Clonmel, Cork, 
Galway, Limerick and Youghal, when not submitting their work to be assayed in 
Dublin, stamping wares with devices adapted from their municipalities' arms, 
seemingly intended to confer the semblance of official approval on the objects. 
This practice lasted until about 1710 when it became more usual for provincial 
goldsmiths to replace 'town marks' with the stamp STERLING. 

Position in Waterford pre-1638 
The unregulated market for gold and silver wares that obtained in Ireland prior to 
1637, as outlined above, was the context in which the city fathers of Waterford 
responded in 1564 to complaints about the corrupt practices of the city's gold- 
smiths. Their decision is recorded in the Liber Antiquissimus as follows:23 

Where the Mayor and Balivis of the said Cittie being infourmed of 
corrupcion and deceytfull dealing in the goldsmithes of this Cittie, 
and that they abuse dyverse thinhabitantes and others that occupie 
with them in uttring unto them base sylver in stede of fyne, It is con- 
cluded for remedy therof there shalbe one of the brethern or aldermen 
of the said Cittie associat with one of that occupacion appointed yerly 
to se the oversight and controllement of the said occupacion of 
Goldsmythes in fyninge their workkis. 

Unfortunately no information was given that might assist us in elucidating how 
the appointed brother or alderman would ensure that the city's goldsmiths now 
worked to acceptable standards. Given that the city was an Anglo-Irish enclave, it 
is to be presumed that sterling, as in England, was the standard of fineness expect- 
ed for silver wares. But unless there was a skilled assayer to hand in the city capa- 
ble of testing wares for compliance it is difficult to see what measures could be 
taken to ensure that the appointed controller could 'oversee' that goldsmiths pro- 
duced work of correct fineness. Moral persuasion would hardly suffice. This sug- 
gests that the city may have resorted to the practices in English towns such as 
Bristol and set up some form of assay office, and perhaps even adopted a town 
mark. However, there is no further information known that would enlighten us on 
the point. Should items of plate be at some time discovered that appear to have a 
fifteenth or sixteenth century Waterford provenance, it is possible that they might 

23 LiOer Antiqcrissinz~ls Civitntis Wntegorine, f .  1 13 (Waterford Museum of Treasures). 
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the freedom of Waterford was recorded on I September 
1674." Some years earlier, in 1667, in response to a 
severe shortage of specie in Waterford, Russell had been 
appointed by the mayor and council to cut dies for copper 
token coins. A surviving specimen dated 1668 shows that 
for the obverse Russell adopted a version of the city arms 
with the words CORPORATION OF in the surround, the 
legend continued on the reverse as WATERFORD 1668 
surrounding a castle with three flags flying and a tree on 

either side." We can only speculate as to why Russell adoptcd this motif for the 
reverse of the token. An intention to depict Reginald's Tower, which once housed a 
mint, comes to mind. However, as it appears on the tokens, the representation of a 
triple towered castle with flags flying is much closer to a similar motif which was 
common on some Spanish and Portuguese coins. Given that there was much trade 
between Watcrford and the Iberian countries it is likely that these coins were in cir- 
culation in the city; hence the intention to identify the tokens with t l~em. '~ 

Russell appears to have adopted a version of the triple towered castle as a 'town 
mark' for his Waterford wares. There are several surviving items of plate that can 
be confidently regarded as his work. They are stamped with a shield bearing his 
initials ER and another stamp depicting a triple-towered castle flying flags. As an 
example we may mention a chalice and paten formerly attached to Carrick-on-Suir 
parish." Each is inscribed 'The Gift of the Duke of Ormonds Troop to ye parish of 
Carrick, Anno Doinini 1673'. Another Russell chalice that belonged to the Abbey 
Church, Kilculliheen, is now on display in the Waterford Museum of Treas~~res 
while Russell's domestic plate is represented by a tankard in the National Museum. 
It is engraved with the arms of Porter, a prominent county Waterford family. 

For a long time plate bearing these marks has been attributed to an Edmund 
Rothe of Kilkenny. The rationale for that attribution, as offered by Sir Charles 
Jackson in reference to a chalice at Fethard, Co. Tipperary, and stamped with the 
ER mark and triple-towered castle, was that a similar castle 'is found on Kilkenny 
tokens of c.1657, and as a goldsmith named Edward Rothe is said to have lived in 
Kilkenny, 1609-24 (Collectania cle Diebus Hiberrzia), this chalice may have been 
wrought by a goldsmith of that name'.34 Subsequent writers have accepted that 
attribution. It is not, however, sustainable. It is correct that tradesmen's tokens 
were issued in Kilkenny around the time stated, stamped with a device of a triple 
towered castle, seemingly borrowed from the city arms.'i However, this emblem is 

30 Ibid., p. 123. 
31 'The Tradesmen's Coinage of Waterford in the 17th Century', in JWSEIAS viii (1 902), 

pp. 1-8. 
32 I am grateful to Michael Kenny, Keeper, National Museum of Ireland, for this sug- 

gestion. 
33 These items are now on display in the Carrick-on-Suir Heritage Centre. 
34 I. Pickford (ed.), Jackson's Silver & Gold Marks c?f' Eizglarzd, Scotland & I re lad ,  

(Suffolk, 1989), p. 737. 
35 A. Smith and J.G.A. Prim, 'Kilkenny Tradesmen's Tokens' in JRSAI ii (1852-3), pp. 

155-76. 

154 



not excl~~sive to Kilkenny. Moreover, a work of the precise title cited by Jackson 
does not seem to exist and what was apparently intended is Charles Vallancey's 
Collectunea cle Rebus  Hibernicis which contains an essay by Edward Ledwich 
entitled 'History and Antiquities of lrishtown and Kilkennyl.'"n this, Ledwich lists 
an Edward Rothe as an alderman of Kilkenny in 1609 and a person of the same 
name as a tenant of city property in 1628. However, in neither case is the occupa- 
tion 'goldsmith' mentioned. Even on chronological grounds alone thc attribution of 
the piece to the alleged Kilkenny goldsmith rather than Waterford's Russell seems 
untenable. 

A goldsmith who emerges some years later was William Smith. On 29 
September 1676 he was admitted to the freedom of Waterford by right of birth and 
he features frequently in the corporation records from then until 17151.~' He held 
various civic offices; he was a sheriff of Waterford 1680-1, master of the guild of 
hammermen 1684, and mayor of the city 1698-9. He was succeeded as mayor by 
his brother Thomas, of whom later. A notable commission executed by Smith was 
a gold freedom box presented to the lord lieutenant, Earl Clarendon, on the occa- 
sion of his visit to Waterford on 10 September 1686. Smith was paid the quite con- 
siderable sum of £15. 10s. for this. By comparison, the gold freedom box present- 
ed to Clarendon a week later by Cork Corporation cost only £11. 11s. 9d. No 
example of surviving plate that can be confidently attributed to William Smith has 
yet been identified. He was one of three aldermen, along with the sheriffs, appoint- 
ed at a City Assembly meeting on 30 June 1701 to implement a decision that 'two 
new maces be made in the stead and place of the two smallest maces now in being 
and that a Tipstaffe and silver oar made for the mayor and water bailiff to carry 
before the mayor. Allsoe the town clerk, Serjeants and Marshall to have new 
gowns'. Presumably the commission for making these new pieces of civic plate 
would have been given to Alderman William Smith. However, neither the tipstaff 
nor a water bailiff's oar of that date is known, while the surviving four maces are 
thought to date from the fifteenth century." Writing in 1746 regarding the govern- 
ment of Waterford, Charles Smith refers to the four Serjeants-at-mace who are 'to 
bear gilded or silver maces, adorned wiih the King's Arms, before the Mayor'. 
Beyond these and a sword of state, he adds nothing that would suggest other civic 
regalia such as the silver oar was in use then.'"n 1894 P.M. Egan, writing on the 
four corporation maces, stated that they were all of the small class of the type car- 
ried by serjeants-at-mace, adding that they were not very ornamental, and general- 
ly in a poor c~ndition."~ He gave their lengths as 1Z1/2, 13'/2, 14, and 17 inches. One 

36 C. Vallaneey (ed.), Collectanea de Rebus Hibernicis, (Dublin, 1781), Vol. 2, pp. 349- 
562. 

37 S6amus Pcndcr, 'Studies in Waterford History - 111' in JCHAS lii (1947), p.160 & 
passim. 

38 E. McEneaney and R. Ryan (eds.), Waterjbrd Treasures, (Waterford, 2004), p. 138. 
39 Charles Smith, The Antient and Present State of the County and City of Waterford, 

(Dublin, 1746), p. 200. 
40 P.M. Egan, History, Guide & Directory o f w a t e ~ b r d ,  (Kilkenny, 1895), p. 379. 
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would expect that the two new maces decided upon in 1701 to replace the existing 
smaller ones would have been identical. That the surviving four maces are all of 
different lengths and bear no indication that they were wrought in Queen Anne's 
reign suggests that for some unrecorded reason the corporation had second 
thoughts about the cost implications of the new civic regalia. 

William Smith's will, dated 18 Deccmber 1714, shows that he had accumulated 
a very considerable estate. One of its provisions, which is of interest to relate, was 
his order that the sum of £41 sterling 'be laid out for fortyone black enameld Gold 
rings with this inscription Memento W:S: month and year and to be given to the 
several1 persons mentioned in a Paper in the s'd Will enclosed.'" Though the list of 
persons is not extant, it is not impossible that some of the memorial rings have sur- 
vived, though not at present identified with their originator. 

There is a gap of some decades before we find mention of another goldsmith in 
the city council minutes. This does not necessarily mean that there were none 
operating in the city at the time but rather that none had been elected freemen of 
the city as opposed to freemen of their guild of hammermen, and as noted earlier, 
surviving records for the latter guild are few. 

A William West, described as a goldsmith, was admitted to the freedom of 
Watetford on 29 September 1732. He is almost certainly the same William West, a 
son of Robert West of Waterford, who was enrolled in 1726 as an apprentice to the 
prominent Dublin goldsmith, John Hami1ton.l' His mother, Ann West, was a 
daughter of Alderman Thomas Smith mentioned earlier, and under the terms of 
Smith's will dated 24 June 1727, William became the eventual principal beneficia- 
ry of his grandfather's considerable estate.4i It is unclear whether he worked in 
Dublin or Waterford as a goldsmith. Property deeds dated August 1740, January 
1754 and March 1756 to which he was a party describe him as a goldsmith of 
Dublin, while others, dated July 1746, January 1753, April 1753 and March 1756, 
describe him as of Waterford." The Dublin Assay Office records show a William 
West paying quarterage in 1754-5, which may have been the Waterford man. 
However, given his considerable inheritance, it is unlikely that working at the trade 
was a financial imperative for him. At any rate, plate with a maker's mark that can 
be reliably attributed to him remains to be identified. 

Thomas Miles was another of the more successful goldsmiths in the city. He 
was admitted a freeman of Waterford on 14 June 1737 during the mayoralty of 
Ambrose Congreve. He subsequently held various civic offices, becoming mayor 
in 1755-6 and again in 1762-3. He died in 1768. In his will, dated 19 June 1766, he 
made provision for the poor of Waterford by way of an investment of £1,200 at 
6%. While they don't survive for every year of Miles's working life, the records of 
the Assay Office in Dublin show that on occasions in 1746-47 and in 1754 parcels 
were submitted for assay on behalf of Miles. Since he was only person with the 

41 Registry of Deeds, Memorial No. 14.1 38.5922. 
43 Registry of Deeds, Memorial No. 56.1 87.37536 
44 Ibid., Memorial No. 101.75.69943; 122.304.84123; 161,326.108818; 

163.135.108009; 163.231.108814; 163.575.112729; 182.288.120839. 
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initials TM submitting plate at this time we are enabled to attribute Dublin hall- 
marked plate of those years to Miles if stamped with a maker's mark TM. Known 
examples include a fine basting spoon, Dublin 1754-56, (presently on temporary 
exhibition in the Waterford Museum of Treasures) and a pair of hook-handle serv- 
ing spoons, Dublin 1757, bearing the contemporary crest of Congreve, a family 
established in Waterford for several centuries. These pieces are struck with the 
maker's mark TM in roman capitals in an oblong frame. However, earlier in his 
long career Miles may have used slightly different maker's punches, but these 
remain to be identified. 

A contemporary of Thomas Miles was Samuel Clayton, a goldsmith admitted to 
the freedom of Waterford on 15 January 1744. In April 1749 he obtained a 99-year 
lease on a house in Peter Street from Lord Ranelagh at a yearly rent of £4. I O S . ~ ~  
He was elected an Assistant to the Board of Waterford Corporation in 1761. His 
most unusual commission would appear to have been the water bailiff's silver oar. 
This was made on foot of a decision by the corporation on 22 April 1773 that the 
'Waterbailiff . . . be provided at the expence of this Board with a Hatchet and Silver 
Oar, which he is always to carry with Him as Ensign of his Office while on duty 
. . Clayton's maker's mark consists of the initials SC surmounted by a crown, all 
within a shield of conforming outline. Items of domestic plate struck with this 
mark have been noted on the Dublin antiques market on a few occasions. Clayton 
died at a very advanced age in 1794, though his years may have been somewhat 
exaggerated in a contemporary newspaper reporting the death 'in Waterford at the 
very advanced age of 110 years, Mr. Samuel Clayton, formerly an eminent silver- 
smith of this city. He exhibited no apparent diminution of his strength and faculties 
until a few months previous to his decease, nor has there been any perceptive 
change in his features or person in the memory of the oldest inhabitant of 
Waterf~rd'."~ Amongst Clayton's remunerated civic duties was caretaker of the 
city's public clocks, a position to which he was appointed by the corporation on 12 
June 1770 at a yearly salary of £16. 10s, and holding the position until his death. 

The Corporation minutes recorded on 30 June 1794 that 
'Joseph Robbins Dillon appointed to attend and keep in 
repair the City Clocks in the room of Samuel Clayton 
deceased at the usual salary'. On 12 October 1802 Dillon 

M&er:srnnrkof was removed from the job, 'said Dillon having gone to 
Joseph Dillon, reside in the country'. Described as a silversmith, he had 

Wntetford n been departure made to a freeman the country of the in city 1802 on 11 probably November signifies 1791. His his 

retirement, for according to family tradition Dillon had been established as a gold- 
smith in Waterford since 1750." Both he and Samuel Clayton were witnesses to 

45 Ibid., Memorial No. 174.1 95.1 15797. 
46 For a fuller account and illustration, see JRSAZ 125 (1995), pp. 135-7. 
47 Fnulkner's Dublin Journal, 6 May 1794. 
48 I. Delamer, 'The Claddagh Ring', in Irish Arts Review Yearbook 12 (1996), p. 185, fn 

20-22. It is interesting that descendants of the Dillons survived as jewellers in  
Waterford until 2005. 
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the will of a William Dobbyn of Waterford in I764.q9 He obtained a marriage 
licence on 3 September 1774.'O Giving his address as 'Baron Strand Street, 
Waterford', in 1784 he registered as a goldsmith in accordance with legislation 
enacted in 1783. This Act required that from 29 September 1784 merchants, manu- 
facturers and dealers in gold and silver wares should register their names and 
addresses with the Goldsmiths Company in Dublin. Dillon is also listed in Lucas's 
Divectory in 1788 at the same address. He was almost certainly the maker of a sil- 
ver freedom box presented by Waterford Corporation to George De La Poer 
Beresford, Earl Tyrone, on 8 January 1772. This was sold at Sotheby's in 1996:' 
The maker's mark on it consists of the initials 1 (or J) and D in script and struck 
incuse. An identical mark is found on a silver watchcase on exhibition in the 
National Museum. Joseph Dillon's son John (aka Jonathan) was described as a 
goldsmith in the deed covering the disposal of his father's dwelling house in Great 
Barronstrand Street on 28 January 1809. It had been assigned to John by his father 
on 1 July 1802.52 Described as a watchmaker, Jonathan was admitted to the free- 
dom of Waterford on 23 December 1841, virtually a half century after his father. 
Thomas Dillon, a son of Jonathan, moved to Galway in 1850 and established a 
jewellery business that was particularly well known for its Claddagh rings. 

The Flemings were another Waterford family who worked at the goldsmiths' 
craft over three generations. The corporation minutes of 29 June 1749 record that 
'Ignatius Fleming, silversmith, was admitted to his freedom of this city as other 
Roman Catholics are on his petition now read'. It would have been unusual for 
Catholics to be admitted to any guild in Ireland at this time and it is unclear why 
such a qualified admission was allowed in Waterford. Ignatius died in 1755 and 
was survived by his wife Rose Murphy and three children, Robert, Patrick and 
Elizabeth, all minors.5i His eldest son Robert followed in his father's footsteps as a 
silversmith. Described as a 'Papist', Robert's admission to the city's freedom was 
registered on 3 April 1769. He took the Test Oath of Allegiance on 15 December 
1775.'"n the Cathedral of the Most Holy Trinity in Waterford there is a large sil- 
ver-gilt monstrance with a Latin presentation inscription dated 1776. It is not hall- 
marked but bears the maker's mark R.F in roman capitals within an oblong, 
stamped twice. All circumstances considered, this would appear to be the mark of 
Robert Fleming. 

Robert Fleming died sometime in the late 1770s. His widow appears to have 
carried on the business under her own name, stamping wares with her own mark. 
On 15 January 1779 Waterford Corporation voted that Henry Alcock (mayor in the 
previous year) be given 200 guineas to be laid out on plate with the City arms 
engraved thereon. This gesture was intended to acknowledge his benevolence in 

49 I. Jcnnings, 'Old Wills', in JWSElAS xvii (1914), p. 85. 
50 National Archives, Beeham's Records. 
5 1 Sotheby's, London, 1996, Lot 329, 'The Irish Sale'. 
52 Rcgistry of Dccds, Memorial No. 607.95.414772. 
53 St. Kieran's College, Kilkenny, Carrigan MSS, Vol. 10, p.153, (National Library of 

Ireland Microfilm, p. 901). 
54 59th Report, Deputy Keeper of the Public Record Office, Ireland. 
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supplying the poor at his own expense with provisions during the time of great 
scarcity. A large salver engraved with an inscription corresponding to this, and also 
bearing the arms of Waterford, was sold at auction in 1978.55 It bore the Dublin 
hallmarks for 1778-9 and the maker's mark of the Dublin silversmith Thomas 
Jones. In addition it was stamped with the mark A.F within a rectangle, presum- 
ably applied by Mrs. Fleming. This suggests that Alcock had given the commis- 
sion to Anastasia Fleming and that since fashioning salvers was specialised work, 
possibly beyond the skills in her own workshop, she had sub-contracted the work 
to a Dublin maker. In 1784 Anastasia (named as Ann Fleming) registered under 
the Act of 1783, giving an address at the 'Corner of Broad Street and The Square, 
Waterford'. She is listed as 'Anastasia Fleming, goldsmith, Broad Street, 
Waterford', in 1788 .56 

Robert and Anastasia had a son Ignatius who was baptised on 2 January 1766.57 
He was admitted to the freedom of Watesford on 1 November 1796 and he regis- 
tered under the 1783 Act on 24 July 1802. It may be presumed that his mother had 
already handed over the business to Ignatius by then. Items occur in colIections 
that are struck with the maker's mark 1.F within an oblong with serrated borders 
and in addition a mark \.FLEMING, framed in a serrated edged oblong. This latter 
 nark has the appearance of having had the initial forward stroke of the letter A 
erased as if to convert the name on the punch from A. Fleming to I. Fleming. A 
christening cup of c.1800, on exhibition in Waterford Museum of Treasures, dis- 
plays both marks. A similarly defaced Fleming name stamp was on a silver-mount- 
ed cowrie shell snuffbox, c.1800, sold at auction in London in 19% .5" 

Jonas (aka Jones) Bull was a Waterford silversmith of Limerick origins. He was 
baptised in St Mary's, Limerick, in 1727, son of John and Catherine 
Described as a silversmith, he was admitted a freeman of Limerick on I October 
1750.60 At some stage in the middle of the eighteenth century he appears to have 
removed to Waterford, possibly along with a member of his family named Edward, 
who may have been his brother, and both built up substantial property portfolios in 
Waterford. His first wife having died in March 1768:' nine months later he mar- 
ried Elinor Bennis, daughter of Mitchel Bennis, a Limerick saddler. The marriage 
articles, to which Edward Bull of Waterford city, esquire, was a trustee, recited 
numerous properties that had been acquired by Jonas in the district, the earliest 
listed acquisitions dating to 1752, as well as having accumulated a 'personal for- 
tune of £900'. In March 1770, in association with Gamaliel Jervis, a watchmaker, 

55 Sotheby's, Slane Castle, 20 November 1978, Lot 316. 
56 R. Lucas, A General Directory of the Kingdom of Ireland, (1788), Vol. ii. 
57 St. Kieran's College, Kilkenny, Carrigan MSS, Vol. 10, p.153, (National Library of 
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58 Phillips, London, 17 November 1995, Lot 57. 
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(1978), p. 102. 
60 R. Herbert, 'The Antiquities of the Corporation of Limerick', in North Munster 

Antiquities Journal 4 (1945), p. 104. 
61 Finn's Leirzster Journal, March 1768. 



he advertised the opening of a 'watch warehouse' at The Eagle and Watch in 
Bassonstrand Street.""n property deeds to which he was a party the appellation 
'gent' and 'merchant' as opposed to silversmith was applied to him in the late 
1770s, suggesting that property interests occupied him principally. He appears to 
have retired to County Wexford in the 1780s and a deed of 12 September 1797 
refers to his estate in the townlands of Creacan and Knockmullen near New Ross. 
By then he was married for the third time, as was his wife, Mary Ann Bull, other- 
wise Dyer, otherwise Malone."' Items of plate that can be attributed to Jonas Bull 
have yet to come to light. 

Other Waterford goldsmiths documented as freemen or registered under the 
1783 Act, but of whom we as yet know little, include the following. 

Bartholomew Bull, silversmith, admitted free on 21 
January 1802. The mark B B within an oblong frame, in 
conjunction with the incuse stamp STERLING, seen on fid- 

Maker 's mark of 
Bartholomew Bull, 

Waterford 

corresponding names 
Hercules Morgan, 

dle pattern flatware is most probably Bull's." It is also 
stamped on a pewter plate occasionally used in the Dublin 
Assay Office from 176.5 to c.1812 for recording makers' 
marks, many of them provincial, though unfortunately their 

were not inscribed on the plate.65 
goldsmith, Clonmel, was admitted free of Waterford on 19 

April 1750. A son of Jeremiah Morgan, an eminent goldsmith who had been mayor 
of Clonmel on three occasions, Hercules Morgan practised his craft in Clonmel 
and presumably sought the freedom of Waterford to secure some political or com- 
mercial advantages. He had died by October 1768 .66 

Jonathan Morgan, goldsmith, residing in Co. Wexford, was admitted free on 29 
June 1763. He died at his lodgings in Waterford on 9 August 1777."7 Further infor- 
mation about him has proved elusive. 

William O'Brien, silversmith, was admitted to the freedom of the city on 29 
June 1802. He registered under the 1783 Act in 1807 with an address at 
Baronstrand Street, Waterford. Fiddle-pattern spoons are occasionally encountered 
in the antiques marketplace stamped 0 BRIEN and STERLING. They are usually 
attributed to Francis O'Brien of Cork. But since Francis was a watchmaker, it is 
more probable that the O'Brien mark belongs to William, the Waterford silver- 
smith. Others registering were Stephen Bohan (1811), the Quay, Waterford, a 
watchmaker who later emigrated to Canada; Edmond Byrne (1792), Dungarvan; 
Richard Cutler (1784), Dungarvan; William Geary (1784), Tallagh; Joshua Jacob 

62 Ibid., 17 March 1770. In this connection it may be mentioned that a longcase clock 
with brass dial inscribed 'Bull and Jervis, Waterford' was recently sold at auction in 
Dublin (Adam's, 15 Mar 2005, Lot 350). 

63 Registry of Deeds, Memorial No. 547.402.36 1200. 
64 For an illustration of this mark see Bennett, Irish Georgian Silver, (London, 1972), p. 

193. 
65 Ibid., pp. 290-1. 
66 Registry of Deeds, Memorial No. 262.421.173079. 
67 Ranzsey 's Waterford Chronicle, 8- 12 August 1777. 
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(1 8O9), Waterford; William McCannon (1785), the Quay, Waterford; William 
Maddock (1784), the Quay, Waterford; Thomas Pearson (1793), 45 the Quay, 
Waterford; George Power (1784), Baronstrand Street; Robert Tegart & John 
O'Neill (1784), Baronstrand Street; Francis Walsh (1784), Broad Street; Anthony 
Welch (1784), Baronstrand Street. There is no evidence that any of these were 
working goldsmiths; it may therefore be presumed they were retailing establish- 
ments. 

There was little if any plate made in Irish provincial centres after the first 
quarter of the nineteenth century, a decline in the trade that was also reflected in 
Dublin. The Famine and consequent economic depression was not the sole cause; 
the availability of cheap machine-made wares from Britain also contributed. 
Exacerbating the problems for home-based plateworkers was that it was permissi- 
ble for wares manufactured in British workshops to be submitted to the Dublin 
Assay Office to be stamped with Irish hallmarks and then placed on the Irish mar- 
ket as if they wcre Irish made. 

A general movement in the 1880s against inferior, mass-produced artefacts 
seems likely to have encouraged the revival of small traditional craft centres. In 
Waterford this trend may have encouraged two films to extend their businesses. 
Thus we find Richard Dillon of 76 Meagher Quay registering his maker's mark as 
a goldsmith, R.D within an oblong, in Goldsmiths' Hall in Dublin in 1894. He was 
a son of Jonathan Dillon and grandson of Joseph Robbins Dillon who have been 
mentioned earlier. The other was James Mosley who entered his mark, MOSLEY 
enclosed in an oblong, in 1892. Founded in 1832, the firm traded as James Mosley 
& Sons, Watchmakers, Jewellers, Silversmiths and Electroplaters, and occupied 
commodious premises at 97 & 98 the Quay and Exchange Street, and by 1892 
these had been 'lighted by electricity throughout, gcnerated by the firm's own 
engine'. Additional workshops had been provided around this time which they 
advertised as being 'fully equipped with the newest and most improved plant for 
gilding and electroplating; the shafting, dynamos, and other machinery deriving 
motive power from a powerful Crossley's gas engine'. The firm's publicity also 
claimed that they were 'extensively engaged in the manufacture to order of plate 
for presentation, etc., a staff of experienced workmen being retained on the 
premises for this branch of the business'. Presumably it was for this purpose that 
they registered their maker's mark at the time. A most unusual boast, which may 
perhaps partially explain the eventual demise of the business, was 'an important 
feature . . . is the total exclusion of apprentice labour in the establishment, none but 
experienced and practical workmen being employed, in order to ensure that the 
valuable watches and clocks entrusted to the firm for repairs, etc., shall not be 
placed in the hands of incompetent youths for the purpose of acquiring a knowl- 
edge of their art. In this respect we believe this house to be an exception to any 
other establishment in the kingdom'?' 

68 Dublin, Cork and Soz~tlz of Ireland, (London, Stratten & Stratten, 1892), p. 264. 
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The close proximity, in several senses, of Carsick-on-Suir to Waterford suggests 
we should include mention of Francis Smith, described as an eminent jeweller, 
whose death in Carsick was reported in December 1785."' There is in the Waterford 
Museum of Treasures a gold-headed cane stamped thrice with the maker's mark 
F.S within an oblong. It is inscribed 'Dan'l Ivie Esq'r Sheriff Watesford, 29 Sept 
1778'. On the occasion already mentioned when Henry Alcock was honoured in 
January 1779, it was also agreed 'that 20 guineas be given to each of the late sher- 
iffs (Daniel Ivie and Thomas Alcock) by this Board to purchase such piece of plate 
as they shall think proper as a testimony of the Sense of this City of their good 
conduct during their Sheriffalty'. The only Irish goldsmith or jeweller of this peri- 
od having the initials FS known to us is Francis Smith of Carsick and it would 
therefore seem that Ivie spent his honorarium locally, as might be expected. It 
seems not inappropriate therefore to include Francis Smith of Carsick within the 
Waterford fold. 

The end of the nineteenth century concludes the period of our survey of 
Waterford's goldsmiths. 
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Privilege and Exclusiveness: The 
Unreformed Corporation of 

Waterford, 18 18- 1840 
Eugene Broderick 

Introduction 
In 1835 a royal commission established to inquire into Ireland's municipal corpora- 
tions described them as being 'in many instances of no service to the community; 
in all, insufficient and inadequate to the proper purposes and ends of such institu- 
tions'.' Furthermore, the commissioners concluded that 'the unpopular character of 
municipal bodies is, in too inany cases, aggravated by their being considered inim- 
ical, on the ground of sectarian feelings, to a great majority of the resident popula- 
t i ~ n ' . ~  These descriptions are certainly apposite in relation to the Corporation of 
Waterford in years 1818-1 840. During this period two factors determined the coun- 
cil's character. The corporation was a bastion of Anglican privilege and exclusive- 
ness. Thus for most of the city's predominantly Catholic population it was a sym- 
bol of the political and social order Daniel O'Connell was seeking to supplant in 
favour of a system of governance more representative of the concerns of the 
majority faith. Moreover, between 18 18 and 1830 the management of its affairs 
was governed by a secret compact entered into by two Anglican factions headed 
by Sir John Newport and Henry Alcock, respectively. 

Political rivalries 
In the aftermath of the Act of Union there was a fierce contest for Waterford City's 
sole seat in the imperial parliament between the Bolton and Alcock families on one 
side, and the Newport family on the other. John Newport, a supporter of Catholic 
rights, won the 1802 election on petition, defeating William Alcock, an opponent 
of Catholic emancipation? a fact which appeared to appease both Catholics and 
liberal Protestants." In 1806 Newport was appointed chancellor of the Irish exche- 
quer in Grenville's 'ministry of all the talents'. The Waterford MP lost office in 
1807 and in the general election of the same year the Catholic question played a 

I First Report qf the Comnzissioaers Appointed to Inquire into the Municipal 
Corporations in Ireland, H.C. (23), xxvii, Appendix 1 ,  p. 39. 

2 /bid., p.23. 
3 For details of this election see T. Power, 'Electoral Politics in Waterford City, 1692- 

1832', in W. Nolan and T. Power (eds.), Wuterf)rd: History and Society, (Dublin, 
Geography Publications, 1992), pp. 250-2. 

4 Peter Jupp, 'Urban Politics in Ireland 1801-3 1 ', in David Harkness and Mary O'Dowd 
(eds.), The Town in Ireland: Historical Studies xiii, (Belfast, Appletree Press, 1981), 
pp. 113-4. 



central role. The Duke of Portland's government opposed relief and was deter- 
mined to unseat Newport. To that end it gave his opponent, Cornelius Bolton, 
£2,000 to assist his campaign. Newport was again victorious and the Catholic vote 
proved to be a pivotal factor. His political position was consolidated further by 
means of a compact between the Newport family and its erstwhile opponents, the 
Alcocks, in 1818. This astounding political volte face heralded the break up of the 
Alcock-Bolton alliance. The most significant element of the agreement involved 
Henry Alcock giving his support to Newport in the matter of the city's parliamen- 
tary representation during Newport's lifetime or for as long as he felt able to act as 
a member of the House of Commons. As a consequence of this arrangement, 
Newport was re-elected, unchallenged, in 1818, 1820, 1826, 1830 and 1831. 
Furthermore, both families secured control of the city's corporation. 

The compact 
The 18 18 compact made John Newport and Henry Alcock the effective leaders of 
Waterford Corporation. They divided up the offices and patronage of the council. 
Vacancies among the aldermen were filled alternately. The parties to the compact 
elected alternately to the office of mayor, and each nominated one of the city's two 
sheriffs annually. Other municipal offices in the gift of the Newport and Alcock 
faction included 

the recorder, the town clerk, the chamberlain, the president of the 
court of conscience, the coroner, the water baliff, the sword bearer, 
four sergeants at mace, the high constable, the second constable, ten 
petty constables, four market constables, a potato weigher, a fish 
house porter, a beadle, an assay master, an inspector of markets, a 
porter of the town hall, a session's crier, a mayor's clerk and a butter 
t a ~ t e r . ~  

In 1833 the government established a commission to inquire into the state of 
municipal corporations in Ireland. Evidence given to the commissioners when they 
visited Waterford in December 1833, together with their final report of 1835, 
reveals the extent to which the compact influenced the affairs of the city's corpora- 
tion. In his evidence to the official commission, the mayor stated that the members 
of the city council knew about the compact6 and were 'mere puppets', just doing the 
will of the corporation's leaders! The report of the commissioners was more diplo- 
matic in its assessment: 

It appears that the affairs of the corporation were regulated in pur- 
suance of that compact for several years, and that the members of the 
council always sanctioned whatever was directed by the two leaders? 

5 E. Broderick, 'An Era of Elegance and Splendour: Sir Simon Newport, Mayor, 1792, 
1824', in E. McEncaney (ed.), A History of Waterford and its Mayors from the 12th 
Century to the 20th Century, (Waterford Corporation, 1995), p. 176. 

6 Wateiford Mirror, 18 December 1833. 
7 [bid., 11 December 1833. 
8 First Report of the Commissioners, p. 593. 
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He supposes that the appointment of constables has been sometimes 
turned to a source of patronage under the family compact.. . Witness 
believes that the circumstances of being a freeman, or being able to 
get votes, would be a help to being appointed a constable.. . Supposes 
that the appointment of constables has frequently been made with a 
view to political p ~ w e r . ' ~  

Freedom of the city 
Admission to the freedom of the city was in the gift of the corporation. This free- 
dom was sought because it confen-ed on the recipient the right to vote in parlia- 
mentary elections. There is evidence that the corporation adopted a very restrictive 
approach to freedoms for the duration of the compact. An examination of an offi- 
cial corporation document, 'Applications for Freedoms 1824 -', reveals this.I9 On 
14 April 1824 thirty-seven applications were considered by the relevant corpora- 
tion committee. Only three persons were admitted to freedom; twenty-three were 
rejected; and the other applications were p o ~ t p o n e d ~ ~ .  On 20 April 1824, of the 
thisty-seven applications, only six were granted; twenty-six were rejected; and the 
remainder postponed. On 14 May of the same year only nine of the sixty-three 
applicants were successful; the others failed to appear in support of their claims, 
were rejected, or consideration of applications was postponed. On 1 September 
1829 applications numbered forty-six, of which twenty were not considered due to 
the non-appearance of applicants. Of the remaining twenty-six, fifteen were admit- 
ted; eight were rejected; and three had their applications postponed. In accordance 
with the intention of the compact, it would appear that only such persons as were 
likely to be well disposed politically to Newport obtained their freedom. 

Moreover, the right of admission was confined, for the most part to Anglicans. 
Indeed, this right had been long used by the corporation to reinforce the privileges 
enjoyed by membership of the Established Church. In spite of Catholics forming 
the majority of the city's population, only 305 had been admitted as freemen 
between 1790 and 1826, as against 1,009 protest ant^.^' In evidence to the munici- 
pal commissioners in 1833 the mayor stated that many respectable Catholics had 
applied in vain to the council for freedomz2, though he later modified his evidence 
to the effect that rather than excluding persons on account of their religion, the 
council threw difficulties in their way". Alderman Michael Evelyn observed that 
prior to 1830 some respectable citizens had been refused freedom that ought to 
have been admitted.24 Thus it was difficult for Waterford Corporation not to appear 
as a citadel of Anglicanism and an anachronism in an age of reform and greater 

18 Ibid., 11 December 1833. 
19 WMA, TNC 113. 
20 One of the most frequent causes of postponement was the claimant's inability to pay 

the relevant fees. 
21 First Report of the Conzmissioners, p. 617. 
22 Watecford Mirror, 14 December 1833. 
23 Ibid., 1 8 December 1833. 
24 Ibid. 



democracy. The words of a witness before the commissioners serves to highlight 
the degree to which the council alienated the majority of the city's population: 'Did 
not the custom of excluding persons differing from them in religion diffuse doubt 
and suspicion over all their acts, even when they might have been right'. 

End of compact 
In 1830 the compact ended. On 9 June the local press reported that the practice of 
leadership of the corporation 'is about to be given up'. One month later it carried a 
report on 'a falling out' among the leaders.?' On 29 June a meeting of the council 
adopted a series of twenty-three resolutions which efrectively negated the com- 

TWO of them were of particular importance. The first one stated 

That the council utterly disavow any right or claim as a body to inter- 
fere with, or influence the citizens in the election of a member to rep- 
resent the city of Waterford in parliament. 

The second resolution referred to the claims of persons for freedom and that 
they were to be inquired into with 'as little delay as possible', and when a person's 
right was established 'the freedom was to be granted without any impediment 
being thrown in the way by the council'. 

Waterford Corporation and repeal 
The end of the compact, however, made no significant difference to Waterford 
Corporation as a body dedicated to the maintenance of the position and privilege 
of Anglicanism. In fact, during the 1830s it became a shrill voice, defying the 
political causes espoused by most Catholics. As the adherents of the majority faith 
became more assertive in their political demands, Waterford's Anglicans, increas- 
ingly fearful of the emerging Catholic democracy, retreated behind the entrenched 
and exclusive bastion that was the city's system of municipal governance. 

The prospect of repeal of the Act of Union appalled Protestant opinion in 
Ireland, and those in Waterford articulated their concerns and attitudes by means of 
the Corporation's deliberations. On 18 February 1831 the council resolved to 
address the lord lieutenant, Lord Anglesey, on the matter. The language used was 
very strong in its denunciation of the agitation, which was 

exciting the worst passions of the lower orders of the people, foment- 
ing commotion, engendering animosity against Great Britain and 
endangering the very foundation of civil society. 

Repeal, the address stated, would lead to the separation of Ireland and Great 
Britain, a consequence which would mean 'desolation and utter ruin' for the coun- 
try.27 In February 1834 the corporation addressed the king to express its gratitude 
for his determination to support the union.28 A year later the same council was 

25 Waterford Mail, 7 July 1830. 
26 WMA, Corporation Minutes, 29 June 1830. 
27 WMA, Corporation Minutes, 18 Fcbruary 183 1. 
28 Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 12 February 1834. 
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petitioning parliament to adopt measures to prevent intimidation at elections 
because of alleged events during the 1835 general election in the city. Voters, 
according to the petition, were forced to support agitators for repeal. Moreover, 

a considerable number of electors were by threats of personal vio- 
lence, as well as by the interference and intimidation of several of the 
Roman Catholic clergy, compelled to withhold their votes altogether. 

The priests had threatened that 'they would visit with severe spiritual penalties 
the opposers of their commandst.'9he occasion of a visit by Lord Mulgrave, the 
lord lieutenant, to the city in 1836 was used to express 'unalterable determination 
to preserve the integrity of the united British empire'.70 An address, three years 
later, to his successor, Lord Elrington, had strong Protestant overtones in its refer- 
ence to the determination to help in the preservation of a constitution which 'has 
proved the best safeguard of our Civil and Religious liberties'." 

Waterford Corporation and municipal reform 
In 1835 the Whig government introduced a municipal reform bill; it was not until 
1840 that the measure was enacted. Six times the House of Commons passed a 
bill, only to have it amended out of all recognition by ultra-Tory House of Lords. 
Finally, a compromise emerged. This compromise restricted the powers of corpo- 
rations and confined the municipal franchise to £10 h o ~ s e h o l d e r s . ~ ~  Daniel 
O'Connell had a deep belief in the importance of reforming the corporations, and 
that was why he was willing to accept a greatly watered down version of the legis- 
lation, with a much higher franchise qualification than his preferred £5 one. To 
him this reform was a crucial step in completing the process begun by Catholic 
emancipation and he welcomed the bill as 

the commencement of the reign of Justice. There remains this corpo- 
rate monopoly and it is the only thing that prevents justice being done 
to the people.j3 

Waterford Corporation itself was not, hardly surprisingly, enthusiastic about 
reform. The impending visit of the municipal commissioners in 1833 prompted it 
into some acts of self-reformation in the form of a reduction in the salaries of a 
number of  official^.'^ It co-operated fully with the  commissioner^.'^ However, in 
1835 it petitioned the House of Lords to postpone the bill, offering various 

29 Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 13 April 1835. 
30 Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 29 June 1836. 
3 1 Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 10 April 1839. 
32 For a brief overview of the bill see D. G. Boyce, Ninetee~ztlz-Ceizturyry Irelarzcl (London 

and New York, Routledge, 1991), pp. 68-9. 
33 Virginia Crossman, Local Government in Nineteenth Century lrelaizd (Belfast, 

Institute of Irish Studies, 1994), p. 78. 
34 WMA, Corporation Minutes, 8 January 1833; 27 February. 1833. For a brief discus- 

sion of this matter see E. Broderick, 'An Era of Elegance and Splendour', p. 178. 
35 Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 1 October 1833. 



technical reasons for doing so.36 A motion proposing a petition to the legislature 
praying for municipal reform failed at a meeting in 1839, for want of a ~econder.~' 
Another petition was sent to the Lords in 1840 seeking the omission of the clause 
extending the municipal f ranchi~e?~ a feature of the bill which alarmed conserva- 
tives because of its democratic tendencies. This action reflected a common view 
that every increase in the rating qualification automatically meant fewer Catholics 
being entitled to vote. 

The Waterford Mail, an organ of Waterford Protestant opinion, in its opposition 
to municipal reform articulated views which were essentially consonant with those 
of members of the city's corporation. The Mail conducted its debate on the issue in 
sectarian terms, with no real concern being shown for the efficiency or otherwise 
of corporate in~titutions.~' It defined the purpose of corporations as 'the mainte- 
nance and promotion of the English or what is more properly termed the Protestant 
interest in Ireland'."" Reform threatened to subvert this purpose, having the effect of 
handing corporations over to Catholics, who would use them to promote repeal. 
Municipal reform was held to have a constitutional aspect in that the weakening of 
the 'Protestant interest' would weaken the union itself. 

The Waterjbrd Mail rejected any reform initiatives which impaired the 'essen- 
tial Protestantism' of m~rnicipal institutions."' It was better to abolish corporations 
altogether than have them fall under Catholic control. Under the reformed regime, 
the town hall would become a school of agitation: 

Better suppress them than suffer them to be so remodelled as to afford 
Papists and an anti-British spirit the protection and encouragement 
which may enable the new possessors to cope with and conquer the 
religion and interest which they were originally created to protect."' 

In the Mail's opinion, since corporations were given to Protestants for the 
express purpose of giving them the 'upper hand', it was vital not to transfer this 
advantage to Catholics: 

Since we cannot, without danger, raise the Roman Catholics to our 
privileges, we will lower ourselves to theirs; we will part with corpo- 
rate privileges altogether, but not transfer them; we will extinguish 
them as the strongholds of Protestant ascendancy - but we will not 
perpetuate them as the bulwarks of a popish supremacy."' 

Ibid., Corporation Minutes, 24 August 1 835. 
Waterford Mail, 5 January 1839. 
WMA, Corporation Minutes, 13 May 1 840. 
D. G. Boyce, Nirzeteenth-Cerztury Irelund, p. 69. Professor Boyce is describing the 
debate at national level; his comments apply equally to the debate at local level in 
Waterford. 
Waterford Mail, 25 Octobcr 1828. 
Ibid., 2 March 1839. 
Ibid., 3 August 1839. 
Ibid., 15 Fcbruary 1840. 



Epilogue 
The restricted franchise adopted in the 1840 act ensured that corporations were not 
handed over completely to the Catholic and liberal interests; but they were nearly 
handed over.44 In the new forty member Corporation of Waterford elected in 
November 1842, there were only four Protestants. A Catholic mayor, Thomas 
Meagherr%as elected, the profound significance of which was recognised by his 
contemporaries: 

The council were summoned to attend at the Town Hall at half past 
eleven; some time previous to which large crowds of the working 
classes assembled round the Town Hall in groups, all engaged in con- 
versation on one topic, namely, the extraordinary change about to take 
place, in having a Roman Catholic mayor placed over them."6 

One of Meagher's first official duties was to attend mass the Sunday following 
his election, an occasion resonant with symbolism."' It was a public expression of 
the transformation of Waterford's corporate life and the transfer of municipal gov- 
ernment from an Anglican ascendancy to the Catholic middle class. When 
O'Connell visited Waterford in November 1842 to promote repeal, the nationalist 
Waterford Chronicle described how 

the cortege moved onwards to the Town Hall, thus consecrating to 
purposes of national independence a spot hitherto sacred to public 
rapine, plundering monopoly, and the withering influence of a foul, 
corrupt, and bigoted a~cendancy.~~ 

Thus were realised the fears of Anglican opponents of municipal reform. 

Conclusion 
The Corporation of Waterford between 18 18 and 1840 was unrepresentative of the 
people of the city. It was a bastion of exclusive Anglican privilege. Moreover, for 
much of this period the council was nothing more than a puppet of two powerful 
Protestant factions by virtue of the compact between the Newport and Alcock fam- 
ilies . When this agreement ended in 1830 it did nor herald a more democratic and 
open corporation. On the contrary, it became an institution determined to resist the 
tide of reform because it was inimical to the Anglican interest. Accordingly, the 
corporation resisted repeal and municipal reform. The two issues were regarded as 
linked: the successful achievement of municipal reform would consign the council 
to the control of the Catholic majority which would use its new found political 

44 D. G. Boyce, Nineteenth-Century Ireland, p. 69. 
45 For an account of his life see E. Broderick, 'A Decade of Agitation and Strife: 

Thomas Meaghcr, Mayor, 1843-1844 ', in E. McEneaney (cd.), A History of 
Waterford and its Mayors from the 12th Century to the 20th Century, (Waterford 
Corporation, 1995), pp. 1 82-200. 

46 Waterjord Clzronicle, 3 Novcmbcr 1842. Quoted in Broderick, ibid., p. 185. 
47 Ibid., 8 November 1842. See Broderick, ibid., pp. 185-7. 
48 Ibid., 12 November 1842. 





APPENDIX 
Text of the compact between the Newport and Alcock families, 1818 

Articles of agreement between the Right Honble. Sir John Newport Esq. and 
William Newport Esq. on the one part and Henry Alcock and James Wallace 
Esquires on the other part, made, concluded and agreed upon this tenth day of 
January, One Thousand Eight Hundred and Eighteen. 
In the first place Mr. Alcock and his Friends pledge themselves to support Sir 
John Newport for the representation of the City of Waterford during the lifetime of 
the said Sir John Newport or for such time as Sir John shall consider himself capa- 
ble of efficiently discharging the duties of that situation; At the expiration of either 
event Mr. Alcock to be supported by every exertion of the Newport Family and 
their Friends in the future Representation of said City during the life of the said 
Mr. Alcock and in the promotion of which Mr. William Newport pledges himself, 
and his sons shall concur. And if it should happen, that Mr. Alcock shall die before 
he shall be enabled to represent the said City or to become a Candidate according 
to the tenor and spirit of this agreement, then the said James Wallace shall nomi- 
nate the Candidate who shall be supported for the Representation of said City for 
life, on the joint interest of both parties. And after the death of said Henry Alcock 
or such other Representative, the Newport Family to nominate the next Candidate 
for a period of five years - then the other contracting parties and their successors to 
nominate for the next five years and so on alternately for years. 
Second It is agreed that the present vacancy, occasioned by the death of the late 
Simon Newport Esq., in the Council shall be filled by recommendation of said 
Henry Alcock; and on all future occasions the Alcock party to fill their own vacan- 
cies of councilmen and the Newport party to fill their own and Bolton's. Also the 
first vacancy in Bolton's aldermen to be filled by lot; the second to be filled by the 
unsuccessful party on that occasion, and the third to be determined by lot. And it 
being the intention of the contracting parties that the number of aldermen on either 
side shall be as equal as possible on all future occasions, the odd number shall be 
filled alternately. 
Third The contracting parties to elect alternately to the office of Mayor, the next 
election being in the Newport party and each party to nominate one of the Sheriffs 
annually. 
Fourth The present salary attached to the office of Master of the Leper House to 
be abolished and the ancient salary of six pounds, thirteen shillings and four pence 
only to be annexed to it. A11 the offices held by the Bolton party during the plea- 
sure of the Corporation, or of which they can be legally deprived, to be withdrawn 
from them and the salary reduced where the places cannot be withdrawn and to be 
placed in their respective classes and filled up according thereto. 
Fifth The Newport party to fill up the present vacancy of Master of the Holy 
Ghost Hospital on its present salary of six pounds, thirteen shillings and four 
pence. The Alcock party to nominate to the mastership of the Leper Hospital (on 
the removal of the present Master) on the salary of six pounds, thirteen shillings 
and four pence. 
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performance of this agreement have mutually pledged their Faith and Honour in 
the most solemn manner as gentlemen the day and year first herein written. 

Signed in the 
Presence of: 
Samuel King 
Michael Evelyn 

Signed: 
John Newport 
William Newport 
Harry Alcock 
James Wallace 

First class: Water bailiff, two officers; Weighmaster, two officers; one in each 
family, to fill their own vacancies as they may occur. Hospitals already provided 
for, but on future occasions vacancies to be filled alternately. 
Second class: Church livings and master of the school to be filled alternately. 
Third class: All other officers not provided for in this general agreement, and 
exceeding £30 annually, to be filled alternately. 
Fourth class: All other officers of £30 annually and under, to be filled in like 
manner. The first vacancy in each class by lot, the second by the party who was 
unsuccessf~~l. 

7 February 18 18 (Signed) John Newport 
Harry Alcock 
William Newport 
James Wallace 
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quarter." It was at Knockanore, at any rate, in September 1881, that a new tenor of 
the labourers' movement became apparent. It had its origins moreover, in an 
entente established between the Labour League and Parnell's Land League earlier 
that month, an entente born in the shock administered by the summer's unrest. 

Parnell, at the Land League convention in September; had expressed disap- 
pointment that the 1881 Land Act had failed to properly address the labourers' 
needs but counselled that labourers should be housed on the land indcpendently of 
either landlord or farmer control, taking the workers out of the unsanitary hovels 
of the towns and putting them closer to their work on the farms. Farmers should 
use their borrowing power under the 1881 Act, he further advised, to engage in 
employment-giving improvements on their farms. It was wise, he added, for farm- 
ers to pay, feed and house their workers well, or else the labourers would be won 
over to the landlords, noting that employment-giving tillage was a more preferable 
use of land than pasture. 

Earlier, of course, motions for the Land League convention had held out, not 
just the prospect of one half-acre per thirty acres of farm land, at a rent not exceed- 
ing that paid by the farmer to the landlord for it, but also the messianic prospect 
that land would be compulsorily bought for the purpose and that the labourers 
would, in time become owners of the land, like the tenant farmers themselves? 

Parnell, at any rate acknowledged that he had met with a deputation from the 
Labour League, and that they had hammered out an understanding; appealed to 
the farmers of Ireland to avail of the facilities of the Land Act, in the short term, to 
build labourers' cottages for their workers. It was an appeal supported on the day 
by P.F. Johnson of Kanturk, the organiser of the Labour League, and again, early in 
October, by the Labour League Executive: on the premise that if, admittedly, 
farmers couldn't afford higher wages at that point in time, they could give plots of 
ground. The Executive supported the basic tenets of Parnell's land policy and that 
leader's counsel on better dwellings, plots for vegetables and fair wages for their 
labourers. It was that basic policy, indeed that lay at the heart of the resoliition 
passed at the Knockanore Labour League meeting, in September, already referred 
to above, and which demanded that Parnell's recommendations to the Land League 
be implemented .' 

The contrast between rhetoric and reality, however, was somewhat underlined 
by the observation in December of that same year, by Thomas C. Mansfield, the 
Hon. Secretary of the Knockanore Labour Club, from an address at Strancally 
Castle, Tallow, that recent gales had knocked down labourers' houses in the 

4 M.B. Kiely and W. Nolan, 'Politics, Land and Rural Conflict in County Waterford, 
c.1830-1845', in W. Nolan and T.P. Power (eds.), Waterford History and Society, 
(Dublin, Gcography Publications, l992), pp. 459-94. 

5 United Ireland, 24 September 1 88 1. 
6 Ibid., 9 September 188 1 .  
7 Ibid., 24 September 1881; National Archives (henceforth abbreviated as NA) B 90 

Files, B. 268. 
8 Ibid., 15 October 1881. 
9 Ibid., 1 October 188 1. 



district. As the worst-treated class in Ireland, he noted of the labourers, it was to be 
wondered, he queried, what the farmers were going to do for those  labourer^.'^ 

With a lull in activity in the early months of the following year, U~zited Irelund 
scarcely reporting on labour meetings in any quarter, due either to a wait-and-see 
approach to the Land Act, or to a general cessation of agitation, there was little to 
record in the county regarding the farm workers. In March, at Dungarvan Pctty 
Sessions, a number of labourers were charged with intimidation of others to pre- 
vent them working for a farmer, Patrick Lynch of Cloneen, although a character 
witness, Sir Nugent Humble, spoke for the respectability of the men.I1Another 
intimidation case, moreover, spoke of two men, Patrick Hunt Senior and Junior, 
before Patrick Hall Sessions, having attempted to prevent a labourer, John Bryan, 
from working on a supposed boycotted farm." The only other item of interest, 
indeed, arose from the reported bankruptcy of Dungarvan Board of Guardians, in 
the spring of 1882, to the tune of £6,500, leaving to destitution numbers on out- 
door relief among the farm labourers." 

It was not to say that in more general terms the labour issue was left to one 
side. Davitt spoke in Waterford on the issue of land nationalisation, opening up the 
prospect of labourers gaining access to the land, alongside the tenant farmers, 
while Archbishop Croke spoke of the labourers working from six in the morning to 
six in the evening for very low wages.14 At the same time, the further consolidation 
of the Labour League, including in Waterford, but without detail, was reportcd.15 

Whatever of consolidation, a meeting of the Knockanore, Tallow, branch in 
July 1882 attracted attention." Among the speakers, Fr. Queally urged unity and 
co-operation between farmers and the farm labourers in addressing the vexed ques- 
tion of the wretched conditions, both social and economic, of the farm workers. As 
a short-term measure, Fr. Queally suggested that the provision by the tenant farm- 
ers of half-acre allotments for the farm labourers of the district would go far to set- 
tling the acrimony that existed between them, as such plots would provide that 
food nceded for the workers' sustenance. 

It was a proposition wholly in keeping with the mood of a meeting otherwise 
addressed by Mr. Pyne of Lisfanny Castle, and by a representative of the farmers, 
Thomas Hurley, that, in other respects, agreed that it was entirely impossible for 
the tenant farmers to also build cottages for their workers at that juncture, as the 
government afforded them no facilities for carrying out such schemes. It was also 
urged upon the labourers that strikes were ruinous to them as they had no resources 
to fall back on other than the wages that they earned in agricultural employment. 

10 Ibid., 1 Dcccmbcr 1 88 1. 
1 1 Ibid., 6 May 1881. 
12 I l id . ,  3 June 188 1 .  
13 Ibid., 22 April 1881. 
14 Ibid., 10 June 1882; 5 August 1882. 
15 Ihid., 27 May 1882. 
16 Ibid., 22 July 1882. 



A further meeting, at Inch, near Youghal, in early September 1882," also 
addressed by T.C. Mansfield, reiterated the indifference of the farmers to the 
Labour League and the need to have the undertaking of the 1881 Land League 
Convention honoured in terms of housing, employment and wages. At that Inch 
Meeting, attended by labourers from Killeagh, Inch, Knockanore and surrounding 
areas, a motion that Archbishop Croke's plea for peace between the two classes be 
headed was passed on the premise that farmers would pass on the benefits of land 
legislation and on the grounds of the inhuman conditions under which the labour- 
ers lived. It was also the substance of W.G. Fisher's address, also that month, at 
Carrigbeg, although Fisher stood in grave danger of arrest'%rising from that same 
meeting for urging a labour boycott of unjust employers, a charge that the authori- 
ties opted to leave go with an internal advice that he be watched in the future. 

A further remonstration came from the labourers in Inch against the indiffer- 
ence of the farmers and at Tramore, in October, there was little from the MPs 
Power and Leamy, to comfort them other than a review of the of the purported 
benefits that were to be gained from unity and patience.'"~ that stage, of course, 
Parnell had established the new organisation, the National League, and had incor- 
porated into it the Labour League, effectively bringing the latter under contr01.~~ 

If Parnell impressed on the Central Executive Committee of the National 
League, in December 1882, with the need for an enlightened outdoor relief policy 
among Boards of Guardians, provision for the labourers in an amendment to the 
1881 Land Act, and the obtainment by farmers of loans for improvement purposes 
from the Board of Works, on the same terms as landlords got similar loans, it was 
to cement the belief that the new organisation was attending to the labourers' 
needs .2' 

Indeed there had been some unease expressed at the new relationship between 
Parnell and the labourers, not least from T.C. Mansfield of Knockanore. A tren- 
chant reproach was issued by him in October of that year, in a letter to United 
Ireland, in which he argued that the Labour League had been fooled when, in the 
in the previous year it had rowed in behind the labour clauses of the 1881 Land 
League Convention. The labourers, he argued had been forced into accepting the 
good faith of the farmers on the issues of plot, fair wages and proper employment." 

At a labour meeting in Tramore, moreover, Fr. Quinn CC, also drew upon the 
issue of the farmers' failure to extend the benefits of the 1881 Land Act, in not pro- 
viding land and cottages, at a rent commensurate to the reductions gained in the 
Land Court, or in not providing labour-giving improvements at increased wages. 
Whether conscious of this remissness, or of the threat of a division between the 
labourers and farmers, Power and Leamy, the MPs, held out the chimera that 

17 Ibid., 2 September 1882. 
18 NA CSO Registered Papers, Ctn.28 1911 882, No. 3241 2. 
19 United Ireland, 21 October 1882; 9 Scptcmber 1882.. 
20 F. Lane, 'P.F. Johnson: Nationalism and Irish Rural Labourers, 1860-1882', in Irislz 
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21 United Ireland, 23 December 1882. 
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obtaining the franchise would strengthen the labourers' voice and urged the need 
for unity between the classes." 

That said, by December 1882, at a labourers' meeting at Fenor the new ties 
between the National League and the labourers had become a reality,2" although it 
was at Fenor again, in February of 1883, that the labourers there were complaining 
of the difficulty in getting plots of ground at all from the farmers of the National 
League," while at Knockanore too there was a demand that the 'usual dairy ground' 
be made available to the farm  worker^.'^ 

It was an issue, however, that was subsumed in great measure that same year by 
the Provision of a Labourers Act that obliged Boards of Guardians to impose 
schemes for houses and plots of land for the labourers of every district.'" 

It was this that engaged the Waterford meeting, in September 1883, at which 
Power, the MP. argued that the Labourers Act was a step finally in the right direc- 
tion, although Davitt reserved the right to believe that land ownership, by both 
labourers and farmers, was the ultimate resolution of rural problems.'That said, 
even as Daniel Hishon, the Labour League spokesman co-opted by Parnell onto 
the National League Executive, toured the rural areas explaining the benefits of the 
Labourers Act, for all its defects, and spoke at Youghal in O~tober ,?~ the conun- 
drum of pressure by farmers on Boards of Guardians not to impose schemes on 
their lands arose at Kilrossanty." 

By December of that year, the lack of correspondence, indeed, between 
schemes proposed and the number of labourers in the several districts requiring 
cottages and half-acre allotments, began to become apparent, not least in 
Waterford, Lismol-e, Dungarvan and Youghal." Such was the frustration that the 
MP, Leamy, in February 1884, at Kilmacthomas, spoke of making the implementa- 
tion of such schemes compulsory in any new legislation, Tor otherwise, he argued 
the sense of unity between labourers and farmers would be wasted. At 
Kilmacthomas, therefore, a resolution on the defects of the Labourers Act was 
passed.?' 

Even as at Youghal, in March of 1884, support for the labourers' cause was 
forthcoming," and, at Waterford, in the same month the labourers' conditions, and 
the need for a bearable rent for cottages and plots of ground was passed as an 
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Ibid., 3 February 1883. 
Ibid., 13 January 1883. 
E. McKay, 'Thc Housing of thc Rural Labourcr, 1893-1916', in Saothar 17 (1992), 
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Ibid., 6 October 1883. 
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Ibid., 2 February 1883. 
Ibid., 8, 15 March 1884. 



issue? the aggravating matter of landlords' opposition to schemes and farmers' 
reservation about the sting of cottages and plots on their best land was being 
threshed out up and down the country. 

At Fenor, in May, indeed, the need for an element of compulsion in the 
Labourers Act, to oblige Boards of Guardians to see schemes through was again 
raised, or else, it was said, farmers would find that the best labourers would have 
vanished to America." That the labourers of Knockanore and Glendyne should at 
the same time have the matter raised of their families being supplied with milk, 
and the Youghal Guardians pressed on the issue, also spoke of course, of the gen- 
eral sense of need under which they laboured and the impulse on them to 
emigrate .'" 

Nevertheless, in this survey of rural labour in County Waterford in the early 
1880s, it becomes apparent, through the remainder of 1884, that labour organisa- 
tion, for all the social and economic realities of their existence, had little more than 
an appendage to the farmers' movement. The National League, indeed, was 
reduced in many instances to downplaying the role of Villiers Stuarl in purporting 
to be their landlord white knight against the farmers' neglect of them, the farmers, 
reportedly being afraid of labourers' p ~ w e r . ' ~  

That was not to say, of course, that some of the staples of the farm labourers' 
experience didn't continue to manifest themselves. In November 1884, therefore, 
while there was an appearance at Cappoquin of a symbolic harvest bond between 
farmers and labourers in defiance of Villiers St~ar t , '~  the prosecution of farmers at 
Waterford Court for not building cottages for their workers did much to qualify 
that semblance of unity," a issue of discord that also arose at Abbyside, Dungarvan 
in November of that same year."(' 

To move somewhat forward, indeed, to 1886, on the other hand, it was the issue 
of employment that surfaced at Knockanore, in June of that year:' as the labourers 
there entreated the farmers to give them work, 'during this trying time', with prefer- 
ence to be given to labourers who were members of the local League. It was an 
appeal repeated later in the month when the farmers were asked to tide the labour- 
ers over until the harvest set in and created a demand for 1ab0ur.'~ 
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The SS Portlairge 

Sonny Condon 

T HE SS Portlairge, affectionately known as the 'Mudboat' worked up and 
down the quays of Waterford for seventy-five years, keeping the berths free 
of mud and silt for the various types of ships using the port. 

The Portlairge was the last working steamship of her type in thcse islands, and 
possibly in the world, powered by coal and steam from her first working day until 
her last. The 'Mudboat' replaced another steam drcdger, the Urbs Intacta. The final 
days of this dredgcr was chronicled in the Waterford News as follows, 

We understand that thc powerful dredger Urbs Intacta has been dis- 
posed of by the Waterford Harbour Cornmissioncrs at a big and remu- 
nerative figure, the exact amount of which has not yet been disclosed. 
The dredger, it will be remembered, was until recently in commission 
by the Mersey Port and Docks Board, and did dome excellent work 
for that body. Mr. John Allingham, the worthy Secretary to the Board, 
has gone to London to organise the arrangements for the sale, and as a 
result there will be no meeting of the Harbour Board on Monday. 

The replacement for the Urbs Intacta, was a specially-designed hopper grab 
dredger to meet the particular requirements of the Waterford Harbour 
Commissioners. Aptly named the Portlairge, she was built at the Dublin Dockyard 
Co. On the 10 September 1907, the Portlairge left Dublin for Waterford. 

This new dredger was 140 feet long between perpendiculars, with a beam of 29 
leet, and a depth of 12 feet 6 inches, and was capable of carrying 500 tons of spoil 
whcn floating at her load draught of 11 feet. 

The following description of the Portlairge appeared in the Syren and Shipping 
of the 18 September 1907, in an article entitled, 'Off and on thc Ways', 

She is built of steel to the highest class.. . Of the flush deck type, she 
is well sub-divided, having no less than ten watertight compartments, 
and is practically unsinkable. The propelling machinery is placed aft, 
and, in order that the vessel may steam well when light in bad weath- 
er, a large trimming tank with a capacity of 50 tons is fitted forward. 
The tank is capable of being emptied by the engine room pumps in 
about 30 minutes. The hopper, which has a capacity of 11,320 cubic 
feet, is surrounded by deep coamings, and is so situated that when 
fully loaded, the vessel floats at a level draught. The hopper doors are 
of specially strong build ... and are so designed as to be readily 
repaired when afloat. Accommodation is fitted forward for the crew, 
and in the watertight compartment immediately abaft of this is a neat 
saloon tastefully done up in polished hardwoods, with comfortable 
accommodation for the captain and officers in adjoining cabins. 
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Following the completion of the Portlairge, sea trials were conducted, and a 
mean speed of 8.6 knots was achieved. The dredging trials were also very success- 
ful. 

In her day she was the most modern vessel afloat, not only was she a hopper 
dredger, she was also equipped to operate as a tugboat, She had a crew of eight, 
master, mate, engineer, fireman, two crane drivers, and two deckhands. She burned 
one ton of coal per day. 

The Portlairge would begin her day at 6 a.m. when a member of the crew 
would arrive to light up one of her two furnaces in order to have a sufficient build- 
up of steam for an 8 a.m. start, when the remainder of her crew would board her. 

The dredger would cast off, and proceed to whatever berth was to be dredged, 
and by 12.30 p.m. the hoppers would be full of spoil, the water having drained off 
through the circular holes in the coamings, leaving only the mud. The anchor 
would then be raised, the wire ropes let go, as she steamed either to the Clyde 
Wharf or to her berth at the London Hulk, which was opposite Reginald's Tower, 
as her crew went to lunch at 1 p.m. 

After lunch, the Portlairge would cast off and proceed downriver to where her 
cargo would be discharged. As soon as the anchor was dropped, the hopper doors 
were opened by steam winch, and as the mud left the ship she would rise rather 
suddenly in the water. Having closed her doors which were underneath her hull, 
the anchor was raised and she would steam up river to her berth. As soon as she 
tied up, an electric cable was plugged in. This was her only electric illumination at 
night. The boiler and furnace were shut down, and the other furnace was prepared 
for firing the next day, as the furnaces alternated on a daily basis. 

In keeping with her steam-powered origins, she did not carry any wireless, 
radar, or any sophisticated equipment. She broke down in December 1982, after 
seventy-five years continuous working. On the 21 December 1982 she was sold to 
the Scottish Steam preservation Co. for her scrap value of £3,000 sterling. Because 
of local objections, the sale was cancelled and she ended up dormant on the Scotch 
Quay. In 1987 she was sold again, and on the 26 August that year, the SS 
Portlairge steamed down the Suir, and out of Waterford Harbour for the very last 
time. 

She now lies at Saltmills in Co. Wexford, a complete ruin. 
It would have made a lot of sense if the Portlairge had been kept as a maritime 

museum. By sealing up the hoppers and adding a suitable roof or canopy, many 
items relating to Waterford's maritime history could have been put on display. The 
engines could have been placed on the quayside, covered in clear perspex. By 
inserting coins, the engine could have been made to turn slowly, with the money 
being used for maintenance. The removal of the engines and boiler would have left 
room for a caf6 on board, and Waterford would have a unique tourist attraction. 

Alas it was not to be, and the remains of Ireland's last working steamship lies 
rotting on the Wexford coast. 
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ook Review 
F i g ~ ~ r e s  in a Clonmel Landscape, by Michael Ahern: Ardo Books, Melview, 
Clonmel, 2006, Hardback, pp. 345. ISBN 0-9554477-0-4, E 35. 

Whereas Waterford's history has been well recorded over the centuries by Smith, 
Hansard, Ryland, Egan etc, I know of only one history of Clonmel-that of Canon 
Burke's, published in 1907, while James White's My Cloninel Scrapbook of 1923 
is of an anecdotal nature. Michael Ahern's Figures in n Clonmel Larzdscape, con- 
sisting of thisty essays on prominent families and individuals with Clonmel con- 
nections, to a greater or lesser extent, is in effect a history of that place. 

There is no doubt but that there was habitation in that beautiful location on the 
banks of the Suir from earliest times, but the author's first essay is on the recorded 
advent of the Anglo-Normans to the area and in particular William De Burgo, who 
was granted lands around Clonmel late in the twelfth century by Prince John, son 
of Henry 11. A largely chronological order is followed in the chosen characters, 
with names familiar to many in this region-the famous White family-mainly of 
ecclesiastical fame, the siege of Clonrnel by Oliver Cromwell, the Baron Brothers, 
Moore of Barne, Malcomson, Bagwell, Tinsley, Hackett, Bianconi, and finishing 
with the twentieth century well-known figures of Mick Delahunty, Tommy 
O'Brien and Frank Patterson. 

No book on Clonmel would be complete without dealing with two trials that 
took place there, the first, the infamous trial and hanging of Fr. Nicholas Sheehy 
outside the town gaol in 1766, and the famous 1848 trial of the Young Irelanders, 
William Smith O'Brien, Thomas Francis Meagher, Terence Bellew McManus and 
Patrick O'Donoghue. These events are fully treated as indeed as are all his sub- 
jects. Dr. Ahern's research has been exhaustive-I counted a bibliography of about 
120 sources, while over sixty-five articles were consulted. 

Some forgotten names were recalled, such as Una Troy, novelist and dramatist, 
who in the exalted company of G.B. Shaw, Frank O'Connor and Sean O'Faolain, 
achieved literary notoriety by having her novel, Dead Stars Night banned by the 
Censorship Board. She had four of her plays produced at the Abbey Theatre. A 
personal favourite among the subjects chosen would be 'William Tinsley, 
Architect and Builder', well researched, and the subject of an interesting lecture to 
members of the Society in 2006 by the author. 

This hardback volume is handsomely produced, with forty-nine good-quality 
reproductions of illustrations, portraits and photographs-some by the author. Dr. 
Ahern perhaps wisely chose his subjects from among the dead, but Clonmel con- 
tinues to produce nationally prominent people in many spheres of Irish life. 

Patrick Grogan 





Obituaries 

Br&d McNeill 

In late September, 2006, the Waterford Archaeological and Historical Society lost 
one of its most loyal and dedicated members in BrCid McNeill. 

I first noticed BrCid while attending lectures and outings organised by the soci- 
ety. She rarely, if ever, attended these events on her own, but was always accompa- 
nied by her large circle of friends. Brkid facilitated their attendance, not only by 
providing transport, but also by providing a comfort zone in the form of ensuring 
that they had the best seats in the house and could clearly hear the lecturerlspeaker 
or the outing guide. 

Brkid served on the Society's committee and also served as treasurer, suceeding 
Renee Lumley From the outset, BrCid faced a tough challenge in replacing Renee, 
one of the society's great icons, who was the standard bearer for many years, noted 
for her attention to detail and commitment. However, true to form, BrCid hit the 
ground running, ensuring that attention to detail and commitment to the Society 
continued and grew. Her term as treasurer overlapped with my period as chairman 
of the society and I found BrCid to be an absolute lady and a pleasure to deal with. 
I worked with BrCid at committee meetings/lectures/outings etc, and also met her 
outside of official society gatherings to discuss society business. On all occasions 
she was keen to do her very best for the society to ensure that it progressed to its 
maximum potential. I remember well her desire to maximise the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Society's administration in relation to mailing the members as 
quickly as possible. She outlined to me her desire to set up a mailing list, thus 
allowing for a quick, efficient, mail-shot to be available to all members when the 
need arose. She told me that she was encountering some problems with this and 
asked me for assistance. However, before I had the opportunity to help, BrCid had 
worked out the solution for herself. 

The Society owes a debt of gratitude to BrCid. Her tenure as treasurer co-incid- 
ed with a progressive financial ('Celtic Tiger') period for the Society. However, it 
is my belief that her greatest contribution was in encouraging and enabling others 
to participate and enjoy society events. In my opinion, she carried out one of the 
aims of the society 'to encourage and promote interest' to the highest level, sur- 
passing the vast majority of us and possibly leading the field. 

I last saw BrCid in Mooncoin Residential Care Centre, visiting her friend Maura 
Matthews. She was continuing what she was doing when I saw her first - looking 
after her friends. 

May she rest in peace. 
Eddie Synnott 



Peter Powell 

Peter Powell, who died earlier this year, was a person who was a proud and com- 
mitted member of the Waterford Archaeological and Historical Society. Prolonged 
illness, however, meant that his association with the society was, unfortunately, all 
too short. Nevertheless, Peter made a very significant contribution during his years 
of membership. In 1995 he was appointed to the editorial committee of Decies by 
the then editor, Julian C. Walton. Peter was, effectively, the business manager of 
the joun~al. He ensured that it was produced on time and within budget. The 1995 
edition of Decies was a special one commemorating the famine. It was also note- 
worthy because it was the first one to appear in a new format. It was professionally 
published and produced to the highest standards. Peter Powell was the person who 
oversaw the transition of Decies from a relatively simple 'home produced' journal 
to a modern and attractive publication. He brought the project to fruition through 
hard work and dedication. Peter was selfless in his efforts and the modern format 
of Decies, of which the society is so proud, is his achievement. His contribution 
was recognised in his election to the committee in 1996. A year later he was elect- 
ed editor of Decies, a fitting tribute to his vision. Illness soon came on him and he 
was unable to participate in the society's activities. 

Besides his deep interest in History, Peter loved the Irish language and Irish 
music. He had an Irish music show on WLR FM, in which he was able to indulge 
his dual passion. It was his devotion to the language which motivated him to 
ensure that Decies published articles in Irish, whenever possible. It is pleasing to 
note that his editorial successors have continued this practice. 

Fear uasal, morchroioch agus cumasach ab ea Peter. Thuig s6 tBbhacht 6s n- 
oireachta, idir stair agus theanga. Bhi s6 fior-bhroduil as an nGaeilge agus ba mh6r 
an shsamh d6 i a labhairt chomh minic agus ab'fhCidir leis. D'fhBg sC a lorg mar 
dhuine dflis, duthrachtach ar Chumann SeandBlaiochta agus Staire Phort LAirge. 
TBimid go m6r faoi chomaoin aige. 

Peter, a native of County Tipperary, is survived by his wife Brid, and his three 
children, Tom, Maeve and Rosy. To them the Waterford Archaeological and 
Historical Society extends its deepest sympathy. 

Go raibh s6 i measc na nGael i riocht DC. 
Eugene Broderick 



Name: 
The Society shall be called - "The Waterford Archaeological and Historical 
Society" (formerly The Old Waterford Society). 

Objects: 
The objects of the Society shall be: 
(a) to encourage interest in history and archaeology in general but with partic- 
ular reference to Waterford and adjoining Counties; 
(b) to promote research into same; 
(c) to arrange for the further informing of members of the Society by way of 
lectures on appropriate subjects and visits to places of historical and archaeo- 
logical association; 
(d) to issue a periodical publication; and 
(e) to engage in such other activities as the Committee may consider desir- 
able. 

Membership: 
The Society shall be composed of all persons who are members at the date of 
the adoption of these Rules together with those who may subsequently be 
admitted to membership by the Committee. Honorary Members may be elect- 
ed at any Annual General Meeting. 

Government: 
The Society shall be governed by a Committee, consisting of a Chairman, 
Vice-chairman, Hon. Secretary, Hon. Treasurer, Hon. Editor and Hon. Press 
Officer together with not less than six nor more than eight other members, 
one of whom may be elected as Hon. Outings Organiser. In addition to those 
members elected as provided above each officer, on relinquishing office, shall 
become an ex-officio member of the Committee and shall remain such for 
one year. 

Election of Officers and Committee: 
The election of the Officers and Committee of the Society shall take place 
each year at the Annual General Meeting. The Chairman, Vice-chairman, 
Hon. Secretary, Hon. Treasurer, Hon. Editor and Hon. Press Officer shall first 
be elected individually and in that order, following which the additional 
members shall be elected beginning with the Hon. Outings Organiser. 
In the event of there being more than one nomination for any office or more 
nominations for the Committee than there are vacancies, as provided by these 
Rules, then the election shall be carried out by secret ballot. 



No member of the Society who is absent from the General Meeting shall be 
eligible for nomination as a prospective member of the Committee unless he 
or she shall have previously intimated in writing to the Honorary Secretary 
his or her willingness to accept nomination. 
The Committee shall have the power to co-opt additional members. Such co- 
options shall be effective only up to the date of the next ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. 
A Chairman who has held office for three consecutive years shall not be eligi- 
ble to seek re-election as chairman or vice-chairman until a period of two 
years have elapsed after his relinquishing office. For the purpose of this Rule 
the word "yeas" shall mean the period elapsing between successive Annual 
General Meetings. 

Provision for Trustees: 
If it should become desirable at any time to register the Society with the 
Registrar of Friendly Societies, or to appoint Trustees, such registration and 
such appointment may be authorised at the Annual General Meeting or at a 
Special General Meeting called for that purpose. Such Trustees as may be 
appointed shall be ex-officio members of the Committee. 

Duties of the Chairman: 
The primary duty of the Chairman shall be to preside at all Committee and 
other meetings of the Society. It shall also be his duty to represent the Society 
at any gatherings where representation shall appear to be desirable. 

Duties of the Honorary Secretary: 
The Honorary Secretary shall: 
(a) record the minutes of Committee meetings and of the Annual General 
Meeting of the Society; 
(b) maintain files of the cossespondence relating to the Society; 
(c) arrange for such meetings, lectures and outings as the Committee shall 
direct, and notify members accordingly; 
(d) mange for notice of Annual General Meeting of the Society to be sent to 
all members; and 
(e) submit a report to the Annual General Meeting on the activities of the 
Society since the date of the last such Meeting. 

Duties of Honorary Treasurer: 
The Honorary Treasurer shall: 
(a) receive and disburse monies on behalf of the Society, as directed by the 
Committee, and shall keep accounts of all receipts and expenditure, together 
with supporting vouchers; 



(b) prepare an annual statement of accounts recording the financial transac- 
tions of the Society up to and including the 31st December of each year, 
which statement shall, as soon as may be after said date be submitted to the 
Society's Auditors for certification; 
(c) present the audited statement of accounts to the next Annual General 
Meeting; and 
(d) maintain an up-to-date list of subscribing members. 

10. Annual General Meeting: 
The Annual General Meeting shall be held, not later than the 30th April, at 
such venue, on such date and at such time as the Committee shall decide. 
Each member shall be given at least seven days notice of the date, time and 
place of the Annual General Meeting. 
The quorum for an Annual General Meeting shall be fifteen members. 

Special General Meeting: 
A Special General Meeting of the Society shall be convened if: 
(a) any fifteen members of the Society request the Honorary Secretary in 
writing to do so, stating at the time of such request the reason why they wish 
to have the meeting convened; or 
(b) it shall appear to the Committee to be expedient that such a meeting 
should be convened. 
In convening a Special General Meeting, the Honorary Secretary shall give at 
least seven days notice to each member of the Society, stating in such notice 
the intended date, time and place at which such meeting is to be held and the 
purpose of same. 
The quorum for a Special General Meeting shall be fifteen members. 

12. Quorum for Committee Meetings: 
The quorum for a Committee Meeting shall be five members. 

13. Annual Subscription: 
The annual subscription shall be such amount as shall be decided from year to 
year at the Annual General Meeting or at a Special General Meeting held for 
the purpose of fixing the amount to become due as from the first day of 
January next following the date of such meeting. The subscription year shall 
coincide with the calendar year. Any member, other than a new member who 
has not paid his or her subscription before the 31st December in any year 
shall be deemed to have resigned. 
Subscriptions of new members accepted between 1st September and 31 st 
December shall be deemed to be in respect of the ensuing year and shall be at 
the amount applicable to that year. 



Rules not to be altered: 
These Rules shall not be altered except by resolution passed by a single 
majority of those present at an Annual General Meeting or a Special General 
Meeting. 

Rules to be printed: 
The Rules of the Society shall be printed and re-printed as often as may be 
necessary. A supply of copies shall be held by the Honorary Secretary who 
shall make them available to all applicants subject to a charge based on the 
cost of producing them. Each new member shall be provided with a free copy 
of the Rules. 

Earlier Rules repealed: 
These Rules supercede all previous Rules or Constitution of the Society. 

The adoption of these Rules was resolved at the AGM of the Society, held on 
March 23rd 1979, such resolution having been proposed, seconded and passed by 
a majority of the members present. 



WATERFORD ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL SOCIETY 
MEMBERSHIP 2007 

(Up to September 30th 2007) 

Abbeyside Reference Archives, Parish Office, Abbeyside, Dungarvan, Co. 
Waterford. 

Allen Public County Library, P.O. Box 2270,900 Webster Street, IN 46801-2270, 
USA. 

Arthur, Rev. R., Cappoquin, Co. Waterford. 
Aylward, Mr J.,  Wander Inn, Johnstown, Waterford. 

Balding, Mr O., Kilmacomb, Dunmore East, Co. Waterford. 
Bergin, Mr D., 20 Harbour View, Scotch Quay, Waterford. 
Brazil, Mr D., 'Killard' , John's Hill, Waterford. 
Brennan, Mr D., 11 The Brambles, Ballinakill Downs, Dunmore Road, Waterford. 
Brennan, Mrs E., 1 1 The Brambles, Ballinakill Downs, Dunmore Road, Waterford 
Brennan, Mr J., 25 Daisy Terrace, Waterford. 
Broderick, Dr. E., 1 Pheasant Walk, Collins Avenue, Waterford. 
Brophy, Mr A., Bushe Lodge, Catherine Street, Waterford. 
Burns, Mrs A. M. B., 97 Park Road, Loughborough, Leicester, LEI 1 2HD, 

England. 
Burtchaell, Mr Jack, Giles Quay, Slieverue, via Waterford. 
Butler, Ms B., 22 Decies Avenue, Lismore Lawn, Waterford. 
Byrne, Prof. K., Director, Waterford Institute of Technology, Cork Road, 

Waterford. 
Byrne, Dr. N., 'Auburn', John's Hill, Waterford. 

Cahill, Mr D., 17 Oakley Drive, Earlscourt, Waterford. 
Cahill, Ms. L., 17 Oakley Drive, Earlscourt, Waterford. 
Cahill, Ms P., Riese, Grange Lawn, Waterford. 
Carpendale, Mr S., Dublin Road, Dunkitt, via Waterford. 
Carroll, Mr P., Greenmount House, Crooke, Passage East, Co. Waterford. 
Caulfield, Mr S ., Robinstown, Glenmore, Co. Kilkenny. 
Coady, Mr M., 29 Clairin, Carrick-on-Suir, Co. Tipperary. 
Collopy, Mr M., 75 Doyle Street, Watesford. 
Condon, Mr S., 52 The Moorings, Ballinakill, Waterford. 
Cooke, Mr D. W., 5486 Wellington Drive, Trappe, Maryland, 21673-89 11, USA. 
Cornish, Dr R. T., 11 66 Evergreen Circle, Rock Hill, South Carolina, 29732, USA. 
Cowman, Mr D. Knockane, Annestown, Co. Waterford. 
Croke, Prof. David, 89 Monkstown Avenue, Monkstown, Co. Dublin. 
Crowley, Mrs M., Fernhill, Ballyvooney, Stradbally, Co. Waterford. 
Crowley, Ms N., 45 Orchard Drive, Ursuline Court, Waterford. 
Curham, Mr L., 19 The Folly, Waterford. 



Dalton, Mr N., Kill Dara, 36 The Folly, Waterford. 
De Courcey, Mr N., 58 Morrisson's Road, Waterford. 
Deegan, Mr P., 2 Fairfield Park, Belvedere Manor, Waterford. 
Deevy, Mr J., 'Landscape', Passage Road, Waterford. 
Delahunty, Mrs M., Rocksprings, Newtown, Waterford. 
Dillon, Mr F., 'Trespan' , The Folly, Waterford. 
Doorley, Mr S ., 1 Glenthomas, Dunmore Road, Waterford. 
Doyle, Mr N., 21 Glendown Grove, Templeogue, Dublin 6. 
Duggan, Ms M., 13 Tyrconnell Close, Comeragh Heights, Waterford. 
Dunne, Mrs B ., Faithlegge, Co. Waterford. 
Dunphy, Mr J., Lissahane, Kill, Co. Waterford. 

Fanning, Miss P., 1 Railway Square, Waterford. 
Farrell, Mr I., 'Summerville House', Newtown, Waterford. 
Faulkner, Mr R., 6 The Folly, Waterford. 
Fay, Miss E., 3 St Margaret's Avenue, Waterford. 
Fay, Mr G., 43 Pinewood Drive, Hillview, Waterford. 
Fewer, Mr T., 'Chestnut Lodge', Callaghane, Woodstown, Co. Waterford. 
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